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PART I

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the sections entitled “Business,” “Risk Factors,” and “Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” contains forward-looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions that, if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause
our results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Statements that
are not purely historical are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).
Forward-looking statements are often identified by the use of words such as, but not limited to, “anticipate,” “believe,”
“can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “project,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would” and similar
expressions or variations intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include,
but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:
•market opportunity;
•our future financial and operating results;
•investment strategy and growth strategy;
•sales and marketing strategy, including our international sales strategy;
•management's plans, beliefs and objectives for future operations;
•economic and industry trends or trend analysis;
•expectations about seasonality;
•revenue mix;
•use of non-GAAP financial measures;

•operating expenses, including changes in research and development, sales and marketing, and general and
administrative expenses;
•sufficiency of cash to meet cash needs for at least the next 12 months;
•exposure to interest rate changes;
•inflation;
•anticipated income tax rates; and
•capital expenditures, cash flows and liquidity.

These statements represent the beliefs and assumptions of our management based on information currently available
to us. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause
actual results and the timing of certain events to differ materially from future results expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to,
those identified below, and those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” included under Part I, Item 1A.
Furthermore, such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. Except as required by law, we
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances that occur after
the date of this report.

Item 1. Business
Overview
Splunk provides innovative software products that enable organizations to gain real-time operational intelligence by
harnessing the value of their data. Our products enable users to collect, index, search, explore, monitor and analyze
data regardless of format or source. Our products address large and diverse data sets commonly referred to as big data
and are specifically tailored for machine-generated data. Machine data is produced by nearly every software
application and electronic device in an organization and contains a definitive, time-stamped record of various
activities, such as transactions, customer and user activities and security threats. Beyond an organization's traditional
IT and security infrastructure, every processor-based system, including HVAC controllers, smart electrical
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meters, GPS devices and radio-frequency identification tags, and many consumer-oriented systems, such as electronic
wearables, many manufacturing systems, mobile devices, automobiles and medical devices that contain embedded
electronic devices, are also continuously generating machine data. Our products help organizations gain value from all
of these different sources and forms of machine data.
Our products are intended to help users in various roles, including IT, security and business professionals, quickly
analyze their machine data and achieve real-time visibility into and intelligence about their organization's operations.
We believe this operational intelligence enables organizations to improve service levels, reduce costs, mitigate
security risks, demonstrate and maintain compliance and gain new customer and business insights that enable them to
make better decisions.
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Our flagship product is Splunk Enterprise, which at its core is a proprietary machine data engine, comprised of
collection, indexing, search, reporting, analysis, alerting, monitoring and data management capabilities. Splunk
Enterprise can collect and index hundreds of terabytes of machine data daily, irrespective of format or source. Our
machine data engine uses our patented data processing architecture that enables dynamic schema creation on the fly,
enabling users to run queries on data without having to understand the structure of the data prior to collection and
indexing. This is in contrast to traditional IT systems that require users to establish the format of their data prior to
collection in order to answer a pre-set list of questions. Our technology delivers speed and scalability when processing
massive amounts of machine data. Our software leverages improvements in the cost and performance of commodity
computing and can be deployed in a wide variety of computing environments, from a single laptop to large globally
distributed data centers as well as public, private and hybrid cloud environments.
Our Splunk Cloud service delivers the core functionalities of Splunk Enterprise as a scalable, reliable cloud service.
These capabilities include monitoring and alerting, role-based access controls, data modeling, pivot, knowledge
mapping, report acceleration and visibility across on-premises and cloud deployments. Splunk Cloud runs in Amazon
Web Services ("AWS"). Our Splunk Cloud service can be delivered solely as a cloud service or via a hybrid cloud
approach, in which a single Splunk interface can search both on-premise Splunk Enterprise instances as well as
Splunk Cloud instances.
We complement the capabilities of Splunk Enterprise and Splunk Cloud with additional content ("apps" and
"add-ons") that can be deployed directly on top of the core platform. These apps and add-ons, which are generally
available for download via our Splunk Apps website, provide functionality in the form of pre-built data inputs,
searches, reports, alerts and dashboards that make it easier and faster for our customers to address specific use cases.
Splunk, along with a number of third-party developers and customers, have developed hundreds of apps and add-ons
for the most common data sources and valuable use cases in our core and adjacent markets. While many of these apps
and add-ons are available as free downloads, we also develop and sell premium apps such as the Splunk App for
Enterprise Security, Splunk App for Microsoft Exchange, Splunk App for PCI Compliance and Splunk App for
VMware. Examples of apps that we have developed and currently offer at no additional cost include Splunk App for
AWS, the Splunk App for Microsoft Active Directory, Splunk DB Connect, Splunk Hadoop Connect, the Splunk App
for Hadoop Operations and Splunk Open Database Connectivity (ODBC) Driver. In addition, the Splunk App for
Stream enables our customers to capture real-time network data, increasing the breadth of machine data consumed by
the core platform. We are also developing cloud-specific Splunk apps, such as our Splunk App for Salesforce, which
enables users of our Splunk Cloud service to leverage their Salesforce data along with other machine data within
Splunk Cloud. Splunk apps have also enabled Splunk to target new markets and disrupt markets traditionally served
by point solutions. Often, as customers use additional apps, this generates expanded usage, licensing and revenues for
Splunk Enterprise and Splunk Cloud. 
As part of our strategy to offer an open platform, we provide application programming interfaces ("APIs") and
software development kits ("SDKs") in major programming languages. These enable developers to build
enterprise-grade apps that run on top of Splunk Enterprise or Splunk Cloud and to integrate their Splunk apps and data
with other parts of an organizations' IT infrastructure.
Our Splunk MINT product is a cloud service that provides mobile data collection, enabling mobile device and
application analytics as well as mobile app performance and crash reporting. Splunk MINT enables Splunk Enterprise
customers to analyze, establish alerts and searches and correlate mobile data with other machine data.
Our Splunk Light product provides log search and analysis for small IT environments, where a single-server log
analytics solution is sufficient, and accordingly the daily indexing volume is limited as compared to Splunk
Enterprise. Splunk Light collects, indexes, monitors, reports and alerts on a customer’s log data in real time, and can be
purchased through an online store, either directly from our website or via our channel partners.
Our product, Hunk: Splunk Analytics for Hadoop and NoSQL Data Stores ("Hunk"), is full-featured software for
interactively exploring, analyzing and visualizing data stored in Hadoop and other NoSQL data stores such as
MongoDB and Cassandra. Hunk includes a full-featured analytics stack and leverages our schema-on-the-fly and
machine data fabric technologies to reduce the typical integration and deployment effort required for Hadoop and
other NoSQL projects. Hunk works on Apache Hadoop and most major Hadoop distributions, including Amazon's
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Elastic MapReduce, Cloudera CDH, Hortonworks Data Platform, IBM InfoSphere BigInsights, MapR and Pivotal.
Hunk is also available directly from the Amazon Elastic MapReduce console, enabling AWS customers to purchase
Hunk on an hourly basis and be automatically provisioned from the Amazon Elastic MapReduce console for data in
Amazon Elastic MapReduce and S3.
Our online user communities, Splunk Apps and Splunk Answers websites, provide our customers with an environment
to share apps, collaborate on the use of our software and provide community-based support. Additionally, our Splunk
Dev portal allows developers the ability to download SDKs, access API documentation and see sample code for
building
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applications using our developer environment and tools. We believe this user-driven ecosystem results in greater use
of our products and provides cost-effective marketing, increased brand awareness and viral adoption of our products.
Our products are designed to accelerate return-on-investment for our customers. They generally do not require
customization, long deployment cycles or extensive professional services commonly associated with traditional
enterprise software applications. Users can simply download and install the software, typically in a matter of hours, to
connect to their relevant machine data sources. Alternatively, they can sign up for the Splunk Cloud service and avoid
the need to provision, deploy and manage internal infrastructure. Customers can also provision a compute instance on
AWS via a pre-built Amazon Machine Image, which delivers a pre-configured virtual machine instance with our
Splunk Enterprise software. We also offer support, training and professional services to our customers to assist in the
deployment of our software.
Our mission is to make machine data accessible, usable and valuable to everyone in an organization. Our customers
leverage our products for various use cases, including infrastructure and operations management, applications
management, security and compliance, business and web analytics, and to provide insights into data generated by the
"Internet of Things" and industrial data, among many others. Our products help users derive new insights from
machine data that can be used to, among other things, improve service levels, reduce operational costs, mitigate
security risks, demonstrate and maintain compliance, and drive better business decisions. The result is a higher level
of operational visibility enabling more informed business decisions that can provide a competitive advantage for our
customers.
As of January 31, 2015, we had over 9,000 customers, including 79 of the Fortune 100 companies. Our Splunk
Enterprise customers pay license fees generally based on their estimated peak daily indexing capacity needs. From
time to time, our Splunk Enterprise customers enter into transactions that are designed to enable broad adoption of our
software across their entire company, referred to as enterprise adoption agreements ("EAAs"), to provide these
customers with a licensing option that is independent of data volumes and use cases and does not impose license limits
on the amount of data indexed. Our Splunk Cloud customers pay an annual subscription fee based on the combination
of the volume of data indexed per day and the length of the data retention period. For fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, our
revenues were $450.9 million, $302.6 million and $198.9 million, respectively, representing year-over-year growth of
49% for fiscal 2015 and 52% for fiscal 2014. Our net losses for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013 were $217.1 million,
$79.0 million and $36.7 million, respectively.
Our Growth Strategy
Our goal is to make Splunk the standard platform for delivering operational intelligence and real-time business
insights from machine data. The key elements of our strategy are to:
Extend our technological capabilities.    We intend to continue to invest heavily in our product development efforts to
deliver additional features, address customer needs and enable solutions that can address new end markets. We will
continue to expand into adjacent product and technology areas that enable organizations to further realize the value of
their machine data. Our investments may involve organic hiring and associated development, acquisitions and
licensing of third party technology.
Continue to expand our direct and indirect sales organization, including our channel relationships, to increase our
sales capacity and enable greater market presence.    We will continue to increase investments in our sales and
marketing organizations to enable the acquisition of new customers as well as expansion within our current customer
base. Our investments will be spread across geographies, customer tiers and specific industries. We will continue to
invest in and foster the growth of our channel relationships, both inside and outside the United States, to enable
greater leverage in our go-to-market investments.
Further penetrate our existing customer base and drive enterprise-wide adoption.    We will continue to drive customer
satisfaction and renewals by offering community, standard, enterprise and global support to ensure our customers'
success with our products. We will continue to cultivate incremental sales from our existing customers through
increased use of our products within organizations as well as consultative services that broaden the customer’s
awareness of our product capabilities. In particular, we continue to seek to upsell increased license capacity to our
existing customers for additional deployments and new use cases. We believe our existing customer base serves as a
strong source of incremental revenues given the horizontal applicability of our products and the growing machine data
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volumes our customers experience. We recently expanded our structure of enterprise adoption arrangements to
provide prospects with a licensing option that is independent of data volumes and does not impose license limits on
the amount of data indexed. Our sales teams are responsible for securing new customers, obtaining renewals of
existing contracts as well as increased adoption of our software by existing customers.
Enhance our value proposition through a focus on solutions which address core and expanded use cases.    We will
increasingly organize our go-to-market and product strategy around our customer use cases. This approach includes
offering capabilities, either in the form of platform features or premium apps, which target both our core use cases as
well as new use cases, as driven by our corporate strategy and customer demand. We believe premium apps in
particular will enable us to increase our market penetration, expand our addressable market opportunity and make our
products a more targeted solution for
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specific challenges that our customers face across their organization. For example, our Splunk App for Enterprise
Security helps our customers effectively address enterprise IT security use cases. We will also build teams of domain
experts who provide thought leadership in product development, product management, marketing, business
development, sales and field technical services. For example, we have invested in domain experts in the IT security,
IT operations and Cloud areas, and intend to grow our domain experts in business analytics and "Internet of Things",
among others.
Grow our user communities and partner ecosystem to increase awareness of our brand, target new use cases, drive
operational leverage and deliver more targeted, higher value solutions.    We believe our user community has the
potential to provide significant operating leverage by delivering apps that extend the Splunk platform into new use
cases. We will continue to invest in business development initiatives in order to add additional OEM and strategic
relationships to enable new sales channels for our products as well as extend our product integrations with third-party
products. In addition, once these relationships have been established, we expect that OEM vendors and managed
service providers will continue to invest in and create customized application functionality based on our core machine
data engine.
Continue to deliver a rich developer environment to enable rapid development of enterprise applications that leverage
machine data and the Splunk platform.    We intend to continue our investments in SDKs and APIs that help software
developers leverage the Splunk platform and Hunk software. Our SDKs enable developers to build solutions that
deeply integrate the analytics functionality of these products as well as access the data stored in the data indexes.
Through our investments in SDKs and APIs, we intend to promote and extend the capabilities of our products to
customers who wish to build sophisticated applications and interfaces that leverage our software and services.
Splunk Technology
Key Technologies
We believe our investments in our products and key technologies provide significant competitive differentiation. Our
key technologies are architected to support large volumes of machine data at a massive scale with minimal overhead.
Our platform is highly flexible and is able to collect and index large amounts of heterogeneous data formats, from
physical, virtual and/or cloud environments.
Schema-on-the-fly.    Our products collect and index data irrespective of source and format. Rather than requiring that
data be input in a pre-defined structure, our schema-on-the-fly technology creates structure as data is being searched,
allowing users to ask new and different questions at any time without having to re-architect a schema as would be
required in a relational database. Our technology builds a schema at read time, rather than write time, and does not
require any pre-defined knowledge about the data it is processing. Using our technology, different users can run a
variety of queries, regardless of changes in format to the data being input into the system.
Machine data fabric.    Our products enable users to process machine data no matter the infrastructure topology, from
a single machine to a globally distributed, virtualized IT infrastructure. This machine data fabric allows customers to
address the complexities of handling massive amounts of real-time, dynamic, heterogeneous machine data. Our APIs
enable users to forward data from our software to other parts of their IT network, creating a machine data fabric across
the organization irrespective of whether the data is used by our products for analysis and reporting or as a conduit to
other systems.
Search processing language.    Our proprietary search processing language is specifically designed for working with
machine data. Our search language supports arithmetic operations to refine searches and conduct calculations with the
results of a query in real time. Statistical and reporting commands native to our search language let users perform
more robust calculations and analytics. Our software can also learn about the structure of the machine data through the
searches users conduct, allowing users to utilize the machine data structure and knowledge garnered by previous
Splunk searches. Our software includes acceleration technology that delivers high performance for analytical
operations across terabytes or petabytes of data, such as identifying rare terms and performing aggregation operations.
Splunk Enterprise and Splunk Cloud
Features and Functionality
Our Splunk Enterprise platform contains the following features and functionality, while Splunk Cloud provides the
same core functionalities of Splunk Enterprise as a cloud service.
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•
Universally collect, index, store and archive any machine data, from any source. Splunk Enterprise processes machine
data in real time from any source, format or location. This includes streaming data generated by websites,
applications, servers, networks, sensors and mobile devices.
•Search and investigate. Splunk Enterprise allows users to search real-time and historical machine data simultaneously.
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•
User-friendly interface. Splunk Enterprise uses a customizable interface that enables users to understand and adopt the
product. The user interface also provides productivity features, such as type-ahead and contextual help to accelerate
adoption and usage.

• Knowledge store. Users can store knowledge about events, fields, transactions, patterns, statistics and
key-value pairs so others who utilize the Splunk instance can leverage this information.

•Monitor and alert. Users can save searches so they can be run automatically to raise real-time alerts that trigger
actions such as sending emails, running scripts, or posting to an RSS feed.

•Report and analyze. Users can create ad hoc reports on real-time and historical data to analyze business and IT data
trends.

•Custom dashboards and views. Splunk Enterprise enables users to create custom dashboards that integrate multiple
charts and views of real-time and historical data for different users and roles.

•
Data models and pivot. Splunk Enterprise enables users to build data models that describe relationships in the
underlying machine data, making it more meaningful and usable. Non-technical users can generate charts, visuals and
dashboards using the pivot interface, without the need to master the Splunk Search Processing Language ("SPL"). 

•

Developer platform. Splunk Enterprise includes a rich developer environment. The Splunk Web Framework enables
developers to use the tools and languages they know, such as JavaScript, to build Splunk apps with custom
dashboards, a flexible UI and custom data visualizations. SDKs for Java, JavaScript, C#, Python, PHP and Ruby
enable rapid integration between Splunk Enterprise to other applications and systems to maximize the value of our
customers' data.

•
Role-based access controls. Splunk Enterprise incorporates role-based access controls and authentication, integrated
with existing enterprise-wide security policies, to help secure the data stored within our indexes as well as control
users' activities in our software.
Splunk Light provides a subset of the features contained in Splunk Enterprise, including gathering log data from
different and distributed systems in real time and providing dynamic alerts, reports and dashboards. We believe this
focused feature set enables customers to specifically target log search and analysis for small IT environments.
Technology Architecture
For our Splunk platform, the technology architecture contains a number of important components:
Collection.    Our Splunk platform collects machine data from many disparate sources across a distributed
environment deployed on-premises, or in public and private clouds. This includes servers, network devices, desktop
and laptop computers, mobile devices and various other systems that organizations have deployed to support their
operations. Our products act as a recording mechanism, collecting, storing and making available all of the machine
data that they index and store. Splunk offers a Universal Forwarder that can be deployed on various data sources to
facilitate the reliable collection of machine data.
Indexing.    Our proprietary universal indexing technology enables real-time indexing of any data collected regardless
of its source or format and without the use of any specific parsers or data connectors. Our Splunk platform indexes the
data and stores the data in a scalable storage format, which can reside on commodity servers and storage devices. In
the case of Splunk Cloud, data is stored securely in our cloud service, which we host on Amazon Web Services.
Search.    Our Splunk platform enables users to search massive amounts of machine data that have been indexed and
stored. At its most basic level, the search engine at the core of our Splunk platform allows users to type and search for
keywords or data fields that are of interest. This foundational capability forms the basis for deriving business insights
from our dashboards and customized views. Users can leverage our search language and functionality to filter through
indexed data and refine search results to obtain more precise information. Splunk also provides event pattern detection
to allow users to detect meaningful patterns in their machine data, regardless of data source or type.
Core functions.    Our Splunk platform's core functionality includes alerts, access control, statistics, correlation and
predictive capabilities. With our software's granular, role-based access control, an administrator can manage various
aspects of a given user's search including the data to which the user has access, as well as what portions of the data
may be visible in results. Search results and reports can be defined according to a particular user's business function
and level of access. Different users can see completely different views on the same data, depending on what is
important to them.
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SDKs and APIs.    Our SDKs allow third-party software developers to build enterprise applications on top of our
software using popular programming languages such as Java, JavaScript, C#, Python, PHP and Ruby. Our APIs allow
users to access the machine data stored within the Splunk platform instance as well as access our machine data engine
functionality from third-party software.
App Development Environment.    We provide the ability for users and third party developers to create apps with
custom dashboards, flexible UI components and custom data visualizations using freely available components and
templates, as well as common development languages and frameworks, such as JavaScript and Python.
Hunk: Splunk Analytics for Hadoop and NoSQL Data Stores    
Features and Functionality
Hunk contains the following features and functionality:

•
Integrated Analytics. Hunk integrates the ability to interactively explore, analyze and visualize data, create dashboards
and share reports. Hunk works with Apache Hadoop, other major Hadoop distributions and other NoSQL data stores
such as MongoDB and Cassandra.

•
Interactive Search. Hunk allows users to run ad hoc, exploratory analytics of raw unstructured data stored in Hadoop.
Our schema-on-the-fly technology allows Hunk to automatically add structure and identify fields of interest at search
(query) time, such as keywords, patterns over time and top values.

•
Results Preview. Hunk allows users to start a query, and see interim results immediately, while batch jobs continue to
run in the background. This allows users to pause and refine queries without having to wait for time-consuming jobs
to complete.

•
Data models and pivot. Hunk enables users to build data models that describe relationships in the underlying machine
data, making it more meaningful and usable. Non-technical users can generate charts, visuals and dashboards using
the pivot interface, without the need to master Splunk SPL. 

•

Rich Developer Environment. Hunk provides a standards-based web framework that allows developers to build on top
of the Hadoop Distributed File System (HDFS). Developers can integrate data and functionality from Hunk into
enterprise big data applications using our documented REST API and SDKs for C#, Java, JavaScript, PHP, Python
and Ruby. Developers can build Hunk apps with custom dashboards, flexible UI components and custom data
visualizations using common development languages and frameworks such as JavaScript and Python.

•
Custom Dashboards and Views. Hunk allows users to combine multiple views into interactive dashboards using our
dashboard editor. Customer dashboards integrate multiple charts and views of data in Hadoop and certain NoSQL
data stores in order to satisfy the needs of multiple business stakeholders.
Technology Architecture
For our product Hunk, the technology architecture contains a number of important components:
Search.    Hunk enables users to search through the massive amounts of data stored in Hadoop and NoSQL data stores.
Search is a core capability of Hunk and allows users to explore, understand and analyze data in Hadoop and NoSQL
data stores. Users can interactively filter through data in Hadoop and NoSQL data stores and refine search results to
obtain more precise information.
Virtual Indexing.    Hunk provides patented technology that decouples the storage tier from the data access and
analytics tiers, allowing Hunk to transparently route requests to different data stores. By decoupling tiers, Hunk is able
to allow users to analyze and visualize data with Data Models, the Pivot interface and by creating custom dashboards,
and also provides role-based access controls to secure the data.
Core Capabilities.    The Hunk software also includes core functions that let users explore, analyze and visualize data
in Hadoop and provide granular role-based access to protect data. Hunk also provides SDKs and APIs that allow
third-party software developers to build applications using common development languages and frameworks such as
JavaScript and Python. We also provide the ability for developers to build their own apps with custom dashboards,
custom data visualizations and flexible UI components.
Archive from Splunk Enterprise.    Hunk provides support for archiving historical data in Splunk Enterprise and
Splunk Cloud to commodity storage in Hadoop and Amazon S3. Customers can gain new insights with distributed
search queries that correlate real-time data from Splunk Enterprise with historical data in Hunk.
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Splunk Product Deployments
Splunk Enterprise, Splunk Light and Hunk can be deployed on-premises and in public or private clouds. Splunk Cloud
offers the core functionalities of Splunk Enterprise as a cloud service. Taking Splunk Enterprise and Splunk Cloud
together, customers utilizing a hybrid deployment model can have a centralized view and location-independent use
across cloud and on-premise environments.
For Splunk Enterprise deployments, our software can be deployed in a variety of environments ranging from a single
server to globally distributed enterprise IT environments handling hundreds of terabytes of data per day. Our
customers can deploy Splunk Enterprise on-premises, in the cloud, in virtualized server and storage environments or
in hybrid IT environments. Our customers can use Splunk forwarders, indexers, and search heads to create a machine
data fabric that allows for the efficient, secure and real-time collection and indexing of machine data regardless of
network, data center or IT infrastructure topology.
This distributed machine data processing architecture provides near-linear scalability, resulting in the ability to index
and search across massive data volumes. Our Splunk platform can operate in a single data center or across multiple
data centers both inside and outside an organization, and all from a single user interface. This architecture also allows
for flexible deployment of hardware, as commodity hardware can be added as needed.
Splunk Light provides log search and analysis for small IT environments and as such, is limited to deployment on a
single server. It does not contain the enterprise deployment features, such as high availability or clustering found in
our Splunk Enterprise product. This simplifies deployment for the customer while providing fast time to value for the
targeted log search and analysis use case within small IT environments.
Customers can deploy Hunk wherever their Hadoop environment is located. Hunk works with Apache Hadoop and
most major distributions, including those from Amazon, Cloudera, Hortonworks, IBM, MapR and Pivotal, supports
both first-generation MapReduce and YARN, and can scale to support multi-thousand node Hadoop clusters. Hunk is
also available directly from the Amazon Elastic MapReduce console, enabling AWS customers to purchase Hunk on
an hourly basis and can be automatically provisioned from the Amazon Elastic MapReduce console for processing
data in Amazon Elastic MapReduce and S3.
Services
While users can easily download, install and deploy Splunk software on their own, certain enterprise customers that
have large, highly complex IT environments or deployment requirements may choose to leverage our customer
support and professional services organization. Many users leverage the community-based support of Splunk Apps
and Splunk Answers before engaging with our customer support or services organizations. Some of our certified
partners also provide limited, first level support and professional services before a customer reaches out to our internal
Splunk customer support and professional services teams.
Maintenance and Customer Support
Our customers typically purchase one year of software maintenance and support as part of their initial purchase of our
products, with an option to renew their maintenance agreements. These maintenance agreements provide customers
the right to receive unspecified software updates, maintenance releases and patches and access to our technical support
services during the term of the agreement.
We maintain a customer support organization that offers multiple service levels for our customers based on their
needs. These customers receive guaranteed response times, direct telephonic support and access to online support
portals. Our highest levels of support provide 24x7x365 support for critical issues, a designated resource to manage
the account and quarterly reviews of the customer's deployments. Our customer support organization has global
capabilities, delivering support in multiple languages with deep expertise in both our software as well as complex IT
environments and associated third party infrastructure.
Training Services
We offer training services to our customers and channel partners through our education and training organization. We
have also implemented a comprehensive training certification program to ensure an understanding of our products.
Professional Services
We provide consulting and implementation services to customers through our professional services team. They are
typically utilized by large enterprises looking to deploy our software across their large, disparate and complex IT
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We generally provide these services at the time of initial installation to help the customer with configuration and
implementation. Given our software's ease-of-use, our professional services engagements are typically short in
duration and last from a few days to up to several weeks.
Partner and Developer Ecosystem
We have OEM relationships with a select group of third parties who integrate our software into their product offerings
to provide additional reporting, monitoring and analytic capabilities within their own products. With respect to our
OEM relationships, we provide a limited use license to expose certain data and analytics functionalities in their
products, for which they generally pay us a royalty based on units shipped.
We engage with managed service providers, who offer services based on our software, such as for security, PCI
compliance and log management. These services are typically offered on a subscription basis, for which we are paid
license fees typically based on daily indexing volume.
We have also established relationships with several leading technology companies to build Splunk apps that allow
users to capture data and gain insights into those parties' respective products. Several technology providers offer apps
for free via the Splunk Apps website. These apps typically consist of collections of reports, dashboards and data
extractions which put our software in context for users of those specific technologies and allow them to easily and
quickly understand the performance of their IT systems or correlate this data with other data sources.
We offer a developer license that allows third-party developers to build software using our existing developer
framework and we have published information about our APIs to enable developers to build new user interfaces on
top of our core engine. We are creating additional SDKs based on various programming languages to make our
software more extensible and allow developers to build applications and services that extend its functionality.
Splunk Community
Our online communities provide us with a rapidly growing network of active users who promote the usage of our
software and provide technical support to each other.
Our online communities include Splunk Apps, our apps repository, Splunk Answers, our community collaboration
site, and Splunk Dev, where developers can download SDKs, access API documentation and see sample code for
building applications using our developer environment and tools. We also maintain active communities on leading
social internet platforms, including Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn.
Splunk Apps.    Users and partners contribute and share custom apps and add-ons that run on our software. Generally,
these apps provide pre-built functionality that addresses specific use cases. Currently, we have hundreds of apps
available for download on the Splunk Apps website. We do not receive any revenues from the sale of apps by
third-party application providers, and most apps posted to Splunk Apps are free. Partner apps listed on Splunk Apps
that are not free are licensed directly by the third party to the end user.
Splunk Answers.    Users ask questions in an online community forum and share best practices about how to build
searches, create data visualizations and configure and deploy our software. While our product, support, engineering
and professional services teams participate in the Splunk Answers forum, during fiscal 2015, approximately
three-quarters of questions appearing on Splunk Answers were answered by non-Splunk personnel, largely the result
of a growing, active user community.
Splunk Dev.    In addition to documentation about the Splunk APIs and SDKs, our developer portal contains
documentation about best practices for building machine data output into third-party software.
We also promote and support offline meetings for our community, including regional user group meetings and an
annual user conference.
Sales and Marketing
Our sales and marketing organizations work together closely to drive market awareness, build a strong sales pipeline,
and cultivate customer relationships to drive revenue growth.
Sales
We sell our products through direct field sales, direct inside sales and indirect channel sales. We gather prospects
through a broad range of marketing programs and events and through users who either download our trial software
from our website or sign up for our online sandboxes or cloud services. Our inside sales team handles lead
qualifications as well as
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smaller transactions, while larger or more complex transactions are handled by our globally distributed direct field
sales teams. Our sales engineers help define customer use cases and pre-sales qualification and evaluation.
We maintain a distributor and reseller network, or channel, which often co-sells with our field sales organization. Our
channel assists us by sourcing new prospects, providing technical support to existing customers, upselling for
additional use cases and daily indexing capacities and maintenance renewals. This channel expands our geographic
sales reach worldwide, particularly in key international markets such as the United Kingdom, Germany, Japan and
China. As of January 31, 2015, we had over 500 channel relationships worldwide. Historically, the majority of EMEA
and APAC sales have been fulfilled through channel partners and we expect this trend to continue.
In addition to acquiring new customers, our sales teams are responsible for securing renewals of existing contracts as
well as increased adoption of our software and cloud services by existing customers. To accomplish this, our field and
inside sales teams work closely with our customers to drive expanded licenses through higher capacity or upgrades
and additional use cases within existing customers. Our field sales teams are organized geographically across the
Americas, EMEA and APAC. We intend to invest in our sales organization to drive greater market penetration in the
Americas, EMEA and APAC. We also have a dedicated sales team focused on government customers, which includes
United States federal, state and local government entities. Our Splunk Light product is designed to broaden our market
reach by providing log search and analysis for small IT environments. We are initially relying on select channel
partners, as well as an online store, to reach the Splunk Light target markets. For fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, our
revenues from our international operations represented 24%, 23% and 22% of total revenues, respectively. For
additional information regarding our sales and long-lived assets by geographic location, see Note 9 to our consolidated
financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Marketing
We focus our marketing efforts on increasing Splunk's brand and awareness, driving viral adoption, communicating
product advantages and business benefits, and generating leads for our sales force and channel. We market our
software and cloud services as a targeted solution for specific use cases and as an enterprise solution for machine data.
We engage with existing customers to provide community-based education and awareness and to promote expanded
use of our software within these customers. We host SplunkLive! events across our sales regions to engage with both
existing customers and new prospects as well as deliver product training. We host an annual worldwide user
conference (.conf) and multiple partner conferences as another way to support the Splunk community to foster
collaboration and help our customers drive further business results from our software.
Research and Development
We invest substantial resources in research and development to enhance our products, develop new end market
specific solutions and apps, conduct software and quality assurance testing and improve our core technology. Our
technical staff monitors and tests our software on a regular basis, and we maintain a regular release process to refine,
update, and enhance our existing products.
Research and development expense totaled $150.8 million, $75.9 million and $41.9 million for fiscal 2015, 2014 and
2013, respectively.
Intellectual Property
We rely on patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to
protect our technology and intellectual property rights. The nature and extent of legal protection of our intellectual
property rights depends on, among other things, its type and the jurisdiction in which it arises. We believe that our
intellectual property rights are valuable and important to our business.
We retain ownership of software we develop. All software is licensed to users and primarily provided in object code
or as a cloud-based service pursuant to either shrink-wrap, embedded or on-line licenses, or signed license
agreements. These agreements generally contain restrictions on duplication, disclosure and transfer. We are currently
unable to measure the full extent of unauthorized use of our software. We believe, however, that such unauthorized
use is and can be expected to be a persistent problem that negatively impacts our revenue and financial results.
Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights, they may not be successfully asserted in the future or
may be invalidated, circumvented or challenged. In addition, the laws of various foreign countries where our products
are distributed may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as laws in the United States. See Item
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Our customer base has grown from approximately 450 customers at the end of fiscal 2008 to over 9,000 customers in
more than 100 countries, including 79 of the Fortune 100 companies, as of January 31, 2015. Our customer count
consists of organizations that have purchased our Splunk platform; we exclude users of our trial software from our
customer count. We provide products and services to customers of varying sizes, including enterprises, educational
institutions and government agencies. No individual customer represented greater than 10% of our total revenues in
fiscal 2015, 2014 or 2013. One channel partner represented 12% of our total revenues in fiscal 2015. Our current
customer base spans numerous industry verticals, including cloud and online services; education; financial services;
government; healthcare/pharmaceuticals; industrials/manufacturing; media/entertainment; retail/ecommerce;
technology and telecommunications.
Backlog and Seasonality
See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Seasonality,
Cyclicality and Quarterly Trends” for information regarding our backlog and the seasonality in the sale of our products
and services.
Competition
We compete against a variety of large software vendors and smaller specialized companies, open source projects and
custom development efforts, which provide solutions in the specific markets we address. Our principal competitors
include:

•IT departments of potential customers which have undertaken custom software development efforts to analyze and
manage their machine data;

•companies targeting the big data market by commercializing open source software, such as the various Hadoop
distributions and NoSQL data stores, including Elastic;

•security, systems management and other IT vendors, including BMC Software, CA Technologies, HP, IBM, Intel,
Microsoft, Dell Software and VMware;
•business intelligence vendors, analytics and visualization vendors, including IBM and Oracle; and

•
small, specialized vendors that provide complementary or competitive solutions in enterprise data analytics, log
aggregation and management, data warehousing and big data technologies that may compete with our software or
cloud services.
The principal competitive factors in our markets are product features, performance and support, product scalability
and flexibility, ease of deployment and use, total cost of ownership and time to value. We believe that we generally
compete favorably on the basis of these factors. For example, Splunk Enterprise, Splunk Cloud, Splunk Light, Hunk,
Splunk MINT and our premium apps all contain rich feature sets that reduce costly deployment cycles typically
associated with enterprise software. Additionally, we offer a broad range of support options, and our customers
consistently provide us with high ratings for our support.
Some of our actual and potential competitors have advantages over us, such as longer operating histories, significantly
greater financial, technical, marketing or other resources, stronger brand and business user recognition, larger
intellectual property portfolios, broader global distribution and presence, and competitive pricing. In addition, our
industry is evolving rapidly and is becoming increasingly competitive. Larger and more established companies may
focus on operational intelligence and could directly compete with us. Companies may develop open source based
alternatives that, customers may conclude, offer equivalent functionality to our Splunk products. Smaller companies
could also launch new products and services that we do not offer and that could gain market acceptance quickly.
Employees
As of January 31, 2015, we had over 1,400 employees. None of our United States employees is represented by a labor
union with respect to his or her employment with us. Employees in certain European countries have the benefits of
collective bargaining arrangements at the national level. We have not experienced any work stoppages.
Corporate Information
Our principal executive offices are located at 250 Brannan Street, San Francisco, California 94107, and our telephone
number is (415) 848-8400. We were incorporated in California in October 2003 and were reincorporated in Delaware
in May 2006.
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Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to
reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
are available free of charge on our investor relations web site as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically
file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. You may also access all of our public filings through the SEC's
website at www.sec.gov. Further, a copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is located at the SEC's Public Reference
Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can
be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.
We webcast our earnings calls and certain events we participate in or host with members of the investment community
on our investor relations web site. Additionally, we provide notifications of news or announcements regarding our
financial performance, including SEC filings, investor events, press and earnings releases, as part of our investor
relations web site. The contents of these web sites are not intended to be incorporated by reference into this report or
in any other report or document we file.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties including those described below. The
risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are
unaware of, or that we currently believe are not material, also may become important factors that affect us. If any of
the following risks or others not specified below materialize, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially adversely affected. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline.

The market for our products is new and unproven and may not grow.

We believe our future success will depend in large part on the growth, if any, in the market for products that provide
operational intelligence, particularly from machine data. We market our products as targeted solutions for specific use
cases and as an enterprise solution for machine data. In order to grow our business, we intend to expand the
functionality of our products to increase their acceptance and use by the broader market as well as develop new
products. It is difficult to predict customer adoption and renewal rates, customer demand for our products, the size and
growth rate of this market, the entry of competitive products or the success of existing competitive products. Any
expansion in our market depends on a number of factors, including the cost, performance and perceived value
associated with our products. If our products do not achieve widespread adoption or there is a reduction in demand for
products in our market caused by a lack of customer acceptance or expansion, technological challenges, decreases in
accessible machine data, competing technologies and products, pricing pressure, decreases in corporate or information
technology spending, weakening economic conditions, or otherwise, it could result in reduced customer orders, early
terminations, reduced renewal rates or decreased revenues, any of which would adversely affect our business
operations and financial results. We believe that these are inherent risks and difficulties in this new and unproven
market.

Our future operating results may fluctuate significantly, and our recent operating results may not be a good indication
of our future performance.

Our revenues and operating results could vary significantly from period to period as a result of various factors, many
of which are outside of our control. For example, we have historically generated a majority of our license revenues
from perpetual license agreements, whereby we generally recognize the license fee portion of the arrangement
upfront, assuming all revenue recognition criteria are satisfied. Our customers also have the choice of entering into
term licenses for our software, whereby the license fee is recognized ratably over the license term, and, in combination
with our introduction of enterprise adoption agreements, or transactions that are designed to enable broad adoption of
our software within an enterprise, we have seen the proportion of our customer orders where revenue will be
recognized ratably increase steadily as a percentage of total orders. At the beginning of each quarter, we do not know
the ratio between perpetual licenses and term licenses that we will enter into during the quarter. In the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2015 and fiscal year 2015, the percentage of license orders that will be recognized ratably was 45% and 38%,
respectively. As a result, our operating results could be significantly impacted by unexpected shifts in the ratio
between perpetual licenses and term licenses. In addition, the size of our licenses varies greatly, and a single, large
perpetual license in a given period could distort our operating results. The timing and size of large transactions are
often hard to predict in any particular period. Further, since we recognize a portion of our revenue ratably over the life
of the term license agreements and maintenance agreements, a portion of the revenue we report in each quarter is the
result of agreements entered into during previous quarters.  Consequently, a decline in business from term license
agreements or maintenance agreements in any quarter may not be reflected in our revenue results for that quarter. Any
such decline, however, will negatively affect our revenue in future quarters.  Accordingly, the effect of downturns in
sales and market acceptance of our products and services may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until
future periods. Comparing our revenues and operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and
you should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance.
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We may not be able to accurately predict our future revenues or results of operations. In particular, approximately half
of the revenues we currently recognize each quarter has been attributable to sales made in that same quarter with the
balance of the revenues being attributable to sales made in prior quarters in which the related revenues were not
recognized upfront. As a result, our ability to forecast revenues on a quarterly or longer-term basis is extremely
limited. We base our current and future expense levels on our operating plans and sales forecasts, and our operating
costs are expected to be relatively fixed in the short-term. As a result, we may not be able to reduce our costs
sufficiently to compensate for an unexpected shortfall in revenues, and even a small shortfall in revenues could
disproportionately and adversely affect our financial results for that quarter.

In addition to other risk factors described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section, factors that may cause our financial
results to fluctuate from quarter to quarter include:
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•the timing of our sales during the quarter, particularly because a large portion of our sales occur toward the end of the
quarter, or the loss or delay of a few large contracts;

•the mix of revenues attributable to larger transactions as opposed to smaller transactions and the impact that a change
in mix may have on the overall average selling price of our products;

•
the mix of revenues attributable to perpetual and term licenses, subscriptions, enterprise adoption agreements,
maintenance and professional services and training, which may impact our revenue, deferred revenue, gross margins
and operating income;

•the renewal and usage rates of our customers;

•changes in the competitive dynamics of our market;

•changes in customers’ budgets and in the timing of their purchasing decisions;

•customers delaying purchasing decisions in anticipation of new products or software enhancements by us or our
competitors;

•customer acceptance of and willingness to pay for new versions of our products or new solutions for specific product
and end markets;

•
our ability to successfully introduce and monetize new products and licensing and service models for our new
products, such as Hunk: Splunk Analytics for Hadoop and NoSQL Data Stores (“Hunk”), Splunk Cloud, Splunk MINT
and Splunk Light;

•our ability to control costs, including our operating expenses;

•the amount and timing of our stock-based compensation expenses;

• the timing of satisfying revenue recognition
criteria;

•our ability to qualify and successfully compete for government contracts;

• the collectability of receivables from customers and resellers, which may be hindered or delayed;
and

•general economic conditions, both domestically and internationally, as well as economic conditions specifically
affecting industries in which our customers participate.

Many of these factors are outside our control, and the variability and unpredictability of such factors could result in
our failing to meet or exceed our financial expectations for a given period. We believe that quarter-to-quarter
comparisons of our revenues, operating results and cash flows may not necessarily be indicative of our future
performance.

We have a short operating history, which makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and may increase the risk
that we will not be successful.
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We have a short operating history, which limits our ability to forecast our future operating results and subjects us to a
number of uncertainties, including our ability to plan for and model future growth. We have encountered and will
continue to encounter risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies in developing industries.
If our assumptions regarding these uncertainties, which we use to plan our business, are incorrect or change in reaction
to changes in our markets, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our operating and financial results could
differ materially from our expectations and our business could suffer. Moreover, although we have experienced rapid
growth historically, we may not continue to grow as rapidly in the future. Any success that we may experience in the
future will depend in large part on our ability to, among other things:

•improve the performance and capabilities of our products and technology through research and development;
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•continue to develop, enhance, expand adoption of and globally deliver our cloud-based services, including Splunk
Cloud, and comply with applicable laws in each jurisdiction in which we offer such services;

•successfully develop, introduce and expand adoption of new products, such as Hunk, Splunk MINT and Splunk Light;

•increase revenues from existing customers through increased or broader use of our products within their
organizations;

•successfully expand our business domestically and internationally;

•maintain and expand our customer base and the ways in which our customers use our products;

• successfully compete with other companies, open source projects and custom development efforts that are
currently in, or may in the future enter, the markets for our products;

•successfully provide our customers a compelling business case to purchase our products in a time frame that matches
our and our customers’ sales and purchase cycles and at a compelling price point;

•respond timely and effectively to competitor offerings and pricing models;

•appropriately price our products and services;

•generate leads and convert users of the trial versions of our products to paying customers;

•prevent users from circumventing the terms of their licenses and subscriptions;

•continue to invest in our application development platform to deliver additional content for our platform products and
to foster an ecosystem of developers and users to expand the use cases of our products;

•maintain and enhance our website and cloud services infrastructure to minimize interruptions when accessing our
software or cloud services;

•process, store and use our customers’ data in compliance with applicable governmental regulations and other legal
obligations related to data privacy, data transfer, data residency, encryption and security; and

•hire, integrate and retain world-class professional and technical talent.

If we fail to address the risks and difficulties we face, including those described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section,
our business will be adversely affected and our business operations and financial results will suffer.

If we fail to effectively manage our growth, our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

Although our business has experienced significant growth, we cannot provide any assurance that our business will
continue to grow at the same rate or at all. We have experienced and may continue to experience rapid growth in our
headcount and operations, which has placed and will continue to place significant demands on our management and
our operational and financial infrastructure. As of January 31, 2015, approximately 35% of our employees had been
with us for less than one year. As we continue to grow, we must effectively integrate, develop and motivate a large
number of new employees, while maintaining the effectiveness of our business execution and the beneficial aspects of
our corporate culture. In particular, we intend to continue to make directed and substantial investments to expand our
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research and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative organizations, as well as our
international operations.

To effectively manage growth, we must continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls, and
our reporting systems and procedures by, among other things:

•improving our key business applications, processes and IT infrastructure to support our business needs;

•
enhancing information and communication systems to ensure that our employees and offices around the world are
well-coordinated and can effectively communicate with each other and our growing base of customers and channel
partners;
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•enhancing our internal controls to ensure timely and accurate reporting of all of our operations and financial results;
and

• appropriately documenting our IT systems and our business
processes.

These systems enhancements and improvements will require significant capital expenditures and allocation of
valuable management and employee resources. If we fail to implement these improvements effectively, our ability to
manage our expected growth, ensure uninterrupted operation of key business systems and comply with the rules and
regulations that are applicable to public reporting companies will be impaired. Additionally, if we do not effectively
manage the growth of our business and operations, the quality of our products could suffer, which could negatively
affect our brand, financial results and overall business.

We face intense competition in our markets, and we may be unable to compete effectively for sales opportunities.

Although our products target the new and emerging market for software and cloud services that provide operational
intelligence, we compete against a variety of large software vendors and smaller specialized companies, open source
projects and custom development efforts, which provide solutions in the specific markets we address. Our principal
competitors include:

•IT departments of potential customers which have undertaken custom software development efforts to analyze and
manage their machine data;

•companies targeting the big data market by commercializing open source software, such as the various Hadoop
distributions and NoSQL data stores, including Elastic;

•security, systems management and other IT vendors, including BMC Software, CA Technologies, HP, IBM, Intel,
Microsoft, Dell Software and VMware;

•business intelligence vendors, analytics and visualization vendors, including IBM and Oracle; and

•
small, specialized vendors that provide complementary and competitive solutions in enterprise data analytics, log
aggregation and management, data warehousing and big data technologies that may compete with our products or
cloud services.

The principal competitive factors in our markets include features, performance and support, scalability and flexibility,
ease of deployment and use, total cost of ownership and time to value. Some of our actual and potential competitors
have advantages over us, such as longer operating histories, significantly greater financial, technical, marketing or
other resources, stronger brand and business user recognition, larger intellectual property portfolios and broader global
distribution and presence. Further, competitors may be able to offer products or functionality similar to ours at a more
attractive price than we can, such as by integrating or bundling their software products with their other product
offerings. In addition, our industry is evolving rapidly and is becoming increasingly competitive. Larger and more
established companies may focus on operational intelligence and could directly compete with us. For example,
companies may commercialize open source software, such as Hadoop, in a manner that competes with our products or
causes potential customers to believe that such product and our products perform the same function. If companies
move a greater proportion of their data and computational needs to the cloud, new competitors may emerge that offer
services comparable to ours or that are better suited for cloud-based data, and the demand for our products may
decrease. Smaller companies could also launch new products and services that we do not offer and that could gain
market acceptance quickly.
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In recent years, there have been significant acquisitions and consolidation by and among our actual and potential
competitors. We anticipate this trend of consolidation will continue, which will present heightened competitive
challenges to our business. In particular, consolidation in our industry increases the likelihood of our competitors
offering bundled or integrated products, and we believe that it may increase the competitive pressures we face with
respect to our products. If we are unable to differentiate our products from the integrated or bundled products of our
competitors, such as by offering enhanced functionality, performance or value, we may see decreased demand for
those products, which would adversely affect our business operations, financial results and growth prospects. Further,
it is possible that continued industry consolidation may impact customers’ perceptions of the viability of smaller or
even medium-sized software firms and consequently their willingness to use software solutions from such firms.
Similarly, if customers seek to concentrate their software license purchases in the product portfolios of a few large
providers, we may be at a competitive disadvantage regardless of the performance and features of our products. We
believe that in order to remain competitive at the large enterprise level, we will need to develop and expand
relationships with resellers and large system integrators that provide a broad range of products and
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services. If we are unable to compete effectively, our business operations and financial results could be materially and
adversely affected.

Because we derive substantially all of our revenues and cash flows from sales of licenses of one software product,
failure of this product to satisfy customer demands or to achieve increased market acceptance would adversely affect
our business, results of operations, financial condition and growth prospects.

Although we have recently introduced several new product offerings, we derive and expect to continue to derive
substantially all of our license revenues and cash flows from sales of licenses and maintenance of Splunk Enterprise.
As such, the market acceptance of Splunk Enterprise is critical to our continued success. Demand for licenses to
Splunk Enterprise is affected by a number of factors beyond our control, including continued market acceptance of
Splunk Enterprise by referenceable accounts for existing and new use cases, the timing of development and release of
new products by our competitors, technological change, and growth or contraction in our market. In addition, users of
software that provides operational intelligence may seek a cloud-based service, and only recently we began to offer a
cloud service with the features and functionality of Splunk Enterprise. Our cloud-based services currently represent a
de minimis percentage of our overall revenues. We expect the proliferation of machine data to lead to an increase in
the data analysis demands of our customers, and our products may not be able to scale and perform to meet those
demands or may not be chosen by users for those needs. If we are unable to continue to meet customer demands or to
achieve more widespread market acceptance of Splunk Enterprise, our business operations, financial results and
growth prospects will be materially and adversely affected.

We have a history of losses, and we may not be profitable in the future.

We have incurred net losses in each year since our inception. As a result, we had an accumulated deficit of $386.8
million at January 31, 2015. Because the market for our products is rapidly evolving and has not yet reached
widespread adoption, it is difficult for us to predict our future operating results. We expect our operating expenses to
increase over the next several years as we hire additional personnel, expand and improve the effectiveness of our
distribution channels, and continue to develop features and functionality for our products. In addition, as we grow as a
public company, we have incurred and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other operating
expenses, including compliance with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. If
our revenues do not increase to offset these increases in our operating expenses, we may not be profitable in future
periods. Our historical revenue growth has been inconsistent and should not be considered indicative of our future
performance. Further, in future periods, our revenue growth could slow or our revenues could decline for a number of
reasons, including slowing demand for our products, increasing competition, a decrease in the growth of our overall
market, or our failure, for any reason, to continue to capitalize on growth opportunities. Any failure by us to achieve,
sustain or increase profitability on a consistent basis could cause the value of our common stock to decline.

If customers do not expand their use of our products beyond the current predominant use cases, our ability to grow our
business and operating results may be adversely affected.

Most of our customers currently use our products to support application management, IT operations, security and
compliance functions. Our ability to grow our business depends in part on our ability to persuade current and future
customers to expand their use of our products to additional use cases, such as facilities management, supply chain
management, business analytics and customer analytics. If we fail to achieve market acceptance of our products for
these applications, or if a competitor establishes a more widely adopted solution for these applications, our ability to
grow our business and financial results will be adversely affected.

We employ multiple, unique and evolving pricing models, which subject us to various pricing and licensing
challenges that could make it difficult for us to derive value from our customers and may adversely affect our
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We employ multiple, unique and evolving pricing models for our products and services. For example, we generally
charge our customers for their use of Splunk Enterprise and Splunk Light based on their estimated peak daily indexing
capacity. In addition, Splunk Cloud is generally priced based on peak daily indexing capacity and data storage and
Hunk licenses are priced based on the number of Hadoop data nodes. We offer both perpetual and term licensing
options, which have different payment schedules, and depending on the mix of such licenses, our revenue or deferred
revenue could be adversely affected. Our pricing models may ultimately result in a higher total cost to our customers
generally as data volumes increase over time, or may cause our customers to limit data volumes in order to stay within
the limits of their existing licenses, making it more difficult for us to compete in our markets. As the amount of
machine data within our customers’ organizations grows, we face downward pressure from our customers regarding
our pricing, which could adversely affect our revenues and operating margins. In addition, our unique pricing models
may allow competitors with different pricing models to attract customers unfamiliar or uncomfortable with our pricing
models, which would cause us to lose business or modify our pricing models,
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both of which could adversely affect our revenues and operating margins. While we recently introduced unlimited
enterprise-wide licenses of Splunk Enterprise to provide pricing predictability to our customers, we have limited
experience selling this type of license, and our customers may not find this type of license attractive.

Furthermore, while our products can measure and limit customer usage, such limitations may be improperly
circumvented or otherwise bypassed by certain users. Similarly, we provide our customers with an encrypted key for
enabling their use of our products. There is no guarantee that users of our products will abide by the terms of these
encrypted keys, and if they do not, we may not be able to capture the full value for the use of our products. For
example, our enterprise license is generally meant for our customers’ internal use only. If our internal use customers
improperly make our products available to their customers, for example, through a cloud or managed service offering,
it may displace our end user sales. Additionally, if an internal use customer that has received a volume discount from
us improperly makes available our products to its end customers, we may experience price erosion and be unable to
capture the appropriate value from those end customers.

During fiscal 2015, we increased the license capacity of our entry-level licenses for Splunk Enterprise and decreased
the price of our Splunk Cloud service. Although we believe that this price reduction will enable our customers to more
rapidly increase their ability to adopt our product and services, there is no guarantee this will occur. It is possible that
such price reduction will not be offset by an increase in order volume, which would have the effect of lowering our
revenues and negatively impacting our financial results.

Our license agreements generally provide that we can audit our customers’ use of our products or require them to
certify their actual usage to ensure compliance with the terms of our license agreement. However, a customer may
resist or refuse to allow us to audit their usage, in which case we may have to pursue legal recourse to enforce our
rights under the license agreement, which would require us to spend money, distract management and potentially
adversely affect our relationship with our customers and users.

If we do not effectively expand and train our sales force, we may be unable to add new customers or increase sales to
our existing customers and our business will be adversely affected.

We continue to be substantially dependent on our sales force to obtain new customers and to drive additional use cases
and adoption among our existing customers. We believe that there is significant competition for sales personnel with
the skills and technical knowledge that we require. Our ability to achieve significant revenue growth will depend, in
large part, on our success in recruiting, training and retaining sufficient numbers of sales personnel to support our
growth. New hires require significant training and may take significant time before they achieve full productivity. Our
recent hires and planned hires may not become productive as quickly as we expect, and we may be unable to hire or
retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals in the markets where we do business or plan to do business. In
addition, as we continue to grow rapidly, a large percentage of our sales force is new to the company and our products.
Our growth creates additional challenges and risks with respect to attracting, integrating and retaining qualified
employees, particularly sales personnel. If we are unable to hire and train sufficient numbers of effective sales
personnel, or the sales personnel are not successful in obtaining new customers or increasing sales to our existing
customer base, our business will be adversely affected.

Our sales cycle is long and unpredictable, particularly with respect to large customers, and our sales efforts require
considerable time and expense.

Our operating results may fluctuate, in part, because of the resource intensive nature of our sales efforts, the length
and variability of the sales cycle of our software licensing offerings and the short-term difficulty in adjusting our
operating expenses. Our operating results depend in part on sales to large customers and conversions of users of the
trial versions of our products into paying customers. The length of our sales cycle, from initial evaluation to delivery
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of and payment for the software license, varies substantially from customer to customer. In addition, the introduction
of our cloud-based service Splunk Cloud has generated interest from our customers who are also considering
purchasing and deploying Splunk Enterprise, our on-premises solution. In some cases, our customers may wish to
consider a combination of these products, potentially further slowing our sales cycle. Our sales cycle can extend to
more than a year for certain customers, particularly large customers. It is difficult to predict exactly when, or even if,
we will make a sale with a potential customer or if a user of a trial version of one of our products will upgrade to the
paid version of that product. As a result, large individual sales have, in some cases, occurred in quarters subsequent to
those we anticipated, or have not occurred at all. The loss or delay of one or more large transactions in a quarter could
impact our operating results for that quarter and any future quarters for which revenue from that transaction is
delayed. As a result of these factors, it is difficult for us to forecast our revenues accurately in any quarter. Because a
substantial portion of our expenses are relatively fixed in the short-term, our operating results will suffer if revenues
fall below our expectations in a particular quarter, which could cause the price of our common stock to decline.
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Our business and growth depend substantially on customers renewing their term licenses and maintenance agreements
with us. Any decline in our customer renewals could adversely affect our future operating results.

While much of our software is sold under perpetual license agreements, all of our maintenance and support
agreements are sold on a term basis. In addition, we also enter into term license agreements for our software and cloud
services. In order for us to improve our operating results, it is important that our existing customers renew their term
licenses, if applicable, and maintenance and support agreements when the initial contract term expires. Our customers
have no obligation to renew their term licenses or maintenance and support contracts with us after the initial terms
have expired. Our customers’ renewal rates may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including their
satisfaction or dissatisfaction with our software, our cloud services, our pricing, the effects of economic conditions,
competitive offerings or alterations or reductions in our customers’ spending levels. If our customers do not renew
their agreements with us or renew on terms less favorable to us, our revenues may decline.

Our international sales and operations subject us to additional risks that can adversely affect our business operations
and financial results.

During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015, we derived approximately 24% of our total revenues from customers
outside the United States, and we are continuing to expand our international operations as part of our growth strategy.
We currently have sales personnel and sales and support operations in the United States and certain countries around
the world. However, our sales organization outside the United States is substantially smaller than our sales
organization in the United States, and we rely heavily on our sales channel for non-U.S. sales. Our ability to convince
customers to expand their use of our products or renew their maintenance agreements with us is directly correlated to
our direct engagement with the customer. To the extent we are unable to engage with non-U.S. customers effectively
with our limited sales force capacity or our indirect sales model, we may be unable to grow sales to existing customers
to the same degree we have experienced in the United States.

Our international operations subject us to a variety of risks and challenges, including:

•increased management, travel, infrastructure and legal compliance costs associated with having multiple international
operations;

•reliance on channel partners;

•longer payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable or satisfying revenue recognition criteria,
especially in emerging markets;

•increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;

•general economic conditions in each country or region;

•economic and political uncertainty around the world;

•compliance with multiple and changing foreign laws and regulations, including those governing employment, tax,
privacy and data protection, data transfer and the risks and costs of non-compliance with such laws and regulations;

•

compliance with laws and regulations for foreign operations, including the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act, the United Kingdom Bribery Act, import and export control laws, tariffs, trade barriers, economic sanctions and
other regulatory or contractual limitations on our ability to sell our products in certain foreign markets, and the risks
and costs of non-compliance;
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heightened risks of unfair or corrupt business practices in certain geographies and of improper or fraudulent sales
arrangements that may impact financial results and result in restatements of financial statements and irregularities in
financial statements;

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates and the related effect on our financial
results;

•difficulties in repatriating or transferring funds from or converting currencies in certain countries;

•the need for localized software and licensing programs;
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•reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries and practical difficulties of enforcing intellectual
property and contract rights abroad; and

•compliance with the laws of numerous foreign taxing jurisdictions and overlapping of different tax regimes.

Any of these risks could adversely affect our international operations, reduce our international revenues or increase
our operating costs, adversely affecting our business operations, financial results and growth prospects.

In addition, compliance with laws and regulations applicable to our international operations increases our cost of
doing business in foreign jurisdictions. We may be unable to keep current with changes in foreign government
requirements and laws as they change from time to time. Failure to comply with these regulations could have adverse
effects on our business. In many foreign countries it is common for others to engage in business practices that are
prohibited by our internal policies and procedures or United States regulations applicable to us. In addition, although
we have implemented policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with these laws and policies, there can
be no assurance that all of our employees, contractors, channel partners and agents will comply with these laws and
policies. Violations of laws or key control policies by our employees, contractors, channel partners or agents could
result in delays in revenue recognition, financial reporting misstatements, fines, penalties, or the prohibition of the
importation or exportation of our products and cloud services and could have a material adverse effect on our business
operations and financial results.

If we are unable to maintain successful relationships with our channel partners, our business operations, financial
results and growth prospects could be adversely affected.

In addition to our direct sales force, we use indirect channel partners, such as distributors and resellers, to license and
support our products. We derive a portion of our revenues from sales of our products through our channel partners,
particularly in the Europe, Middle East and Africa, or EMEA, and Asia Pacific, or APAC, regions and for sales to
government agencies. We expect that sales through channel partners in all regions will continue to grow as a portion
of our revenues for the foreseeable future.

Our agreements with our channel partners are generally non-exclusive, meaning our channel partners may offer
customers the products of several different companies, including products that compete with ours. If our channel
partners do not effectively market and sell our products, choose to use greater efforts to market and sell their own
products or those of our competitors, or fail to meet the needs of our customers, our ability to grow our business and
sell our products may be adversely affected. Our channel partners may cease marketing our products with limited or
no notice and with little or no penalty. The loss of a substantial number of our channel partners, our possible inability
to replace them, or the failure to recruit additional channel partners could materially and adversely affect our results of
operations. In addition, sales by channel partners are more likely than direct sales to involve collectability concerns, in
particular sales by our channel partners in developing markets, and accordingly, variations in the mix between
revenues attributable to sales by channel partners and revenues attributable to direct sales may result in fluctuations in
our operating results.

Our ability to achieve revenue growth in the future will depend in part on our success in maintaining successful
relationships with our channel partners, and to help our channel partners enhance their ability to independently sell
and deploy our products. If we are unable to maintain our relationships with these channel partners, or otherwise
develop and expand our indirect distribution channel, our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash
flows could be adversely affected.
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Incorrect or improper implementation or use of our software could result in customer dissatisfaction or customer data
loss and negatively affect our business, operations, financial results and growth prospects.

Our software is deployed in a wide variety of technology environments. Increasingly, our software has been deployed
in large scale, complex technology environments, and we believe our future success will depend on our ability to
increase sales of our software licenses for use in such deployments. We often must assist our customers in achieving
successful implementations for large, complex deployments. If we or our customers are unable to implement our
software successfully, are unable to do so in a timely manner or if an improper implementation or change in system
configuration results in errors or loss of data, customer perceptions of our company may be impaired, our reputation
and brand may suffer, and customers may choose not to increase their use of our products. In addition, our software
imposes server load and index storage requirements for implementation. If our customers do not have the server load
capacity or the storage capacity required, they may not be able to effectively implement and use our software and,
therefore, may not choose to increase their use of our products.
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Our customers and third-party partners may need training in the proper use of and the variety of benefits that can be
derived from our software to maximize its potential. If our software is not implemented or used correctly or as
intended, inadequate performance, errors or data loss may result. Because our customers rely on our software and
maintenance and support services to manage a wide range of operations, the incorrect or improper implementation or
use of our software, our failure to train customers on how to efficiently and effectively use our software, or our failure
to provide maintenance services to our customers, may result in negative publicity or legal claims against us. Also, as
we continue to expand our customer base, any failure by us to properly provide these services will likely result in lost
opportunities for follow-on sales of our software and services.

Interruptions or performance problems associated with our technology and infrastructure, and our reliance on
Software-as-a-Service, or SaaS, technologies from third parties, may adversely affect our business operations and
financial results.

Our continued growth depends in part on the ability of our existing and potential customers to use and access our
cloud services or our website in order to download our on-premises software or encrypted access keys for our software
within an acceptable amount of time. We have experienced, and may in the future experience, website and service
disruptions, outages and other performance problems due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes,
human or software errors, capacity constraints due to an overwhelming number of users accessing our website and
services simultaneously and denial of service or fraud or security attacks. In some instances, we may not be able to
identify the cause or causes of these website and service performance problems within an acceptable period of time. It
may become increasingly difficult to maintain and improve our website and service performance, especially during
peak usage times and as our products become more complex and our user traffic increases. If our website or cloud
services are unavailable or if our users are unable to download our software or encrypted access keys within a
reasonable amount of time or at all, our business would be negatively affected. We expect to continue to make
significant investments to maintain and improve website and service performance and to enable rapid releases of new
features and apps for our software and cloud services. To the extent that we do not effectively address capacity
constraints, upgrade our systems as needed and continually develop our technology and network architecture to
accommodate actual and anticipated changes in technology, our business and operating results may be adversely
affected.

In addition, we rely heavily on hosted SaaS technologies from third parties in order to operate critical functions of our
business, including enterprise resource planning services and customer relationship management services.  Further,
our cloud-based services, such as Splunk Cloud, are hosted exclusively by third parties. We recently introduced a
100% uptime service level agreement ("SLA") for Splunk Cloud. If any of these services fail or become unavailable
due to extended outages, interruptions or because they are no longer available on commercially reasonable terms or
prices, or if we are unable to deliver 100% uptime under our SLAs, our revenue could be reduced, our reputation
could be damaged, we could be exposed to legal liability, expenses could increase, our ability to manage our finances
could be interrupted and our processes for managing sales of our products and supporting our customers could be
impaired until equivalent services, if available, are identified, obtained and implemented, all of which could adversely
affect our business.

Our systems and third-party systems upon which we rely are also vulnerable to damage or interruption from
catastrophic occurrences such as earthquakes, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunication failures, terrorist attacks,
geopolitical events and similar events. Our United States corporate offices and certain of the facilities we lease to
house our computer and telecommunications equipment are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, a region known
for seismic activity. Despite any precautions we may take, the occurrence of a natural disaster or other unanticipated
problems at our and third parties’ hosting facilities could result in interruptions, performance problems or failure of our
infrastructure.
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We are subject to governmental export and import controls that could impair our ability to compete in international
markets or subject us to liability if we violate the controls.

Our products are subject to United States export controls, and we incorporate encryption technology into certain of
our products. These encryption products and the underlying technology may be exported outside of the United States
only with the required export authorizations, including by license.

Furthermore, our activities are subject to the U.S. economic sanctions laws and regulations that prohibit the shipment
of certain products and services without the required export authorizations or export to countries, governments, and
persons targeted by U.S. sanctions. While we take precautions to prevent our products and services from being
exported in violation of these laws, including obtaining authorizations for our encryption products, implementing IP
address blocking and screenings against U.S. Government and international lists of restricted and prohibited persons,
we cannot guarantee that the precautions we take will prevent violations of export control and sanctions laws.
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We also note that if our channel partners fail to obtain appropriate import, export or re-export licenses or permits, we
may also be adversely affected, through reputational harm as well as other negative consequences including
government investigations and penalties. We presently incorporate export control compliance requirements in our
channel partner agreements. Complying with export control and sanctions regulations for a particular sale may be
time-consuming and may result in the delay or loss of sales opportunities.

While we have extensive procedures in place, we recently determined that a small number of persons in or associated
with Iran may have downloaded free software from us in potential violation of the export control and economic
sanctions laws. We filed Initial Voluntary Self Disclosures in October 2014 with the U.S. Commerce Department's
Bureau of Industry and Security ("BIS") and the U.S. Treasury Department's Office of Foreign Assets Control
("OFAC") and we are currently in the process of preparing the Final Voluntary Disclosures for submission to BIS and
OFAC.

Violations of U.S. sanctions or export control laws can result in fines or penalties, including civil penalties of up to
$250,000 or twice the value of the transaction, whichever is greater, per violation. In the event of criminal knowing
and willful violations of these laws, fines of up to $1 million and possible incarceration for responsible employees and
managers could be imposed.

Also, various countries, in addition to the United States, regulate the import and export of certain encryption and other
technology, including import and export permitting and licensing requirements, and have enacted laws that could limit
our ability to distribute our products or could limit our customers’ ability to implement our products in those countries.
Changes in our products or future changes in export and import regulations may create delays in the introduction of
our products in international markets, prevent our customers with international operations from deploying our
products globally or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of our products to certain countries, governments, or
persons altogether. Any change in export or import regulations, economic sanctions or related legislation, or change in
the countries, governments, persons or technologies targeted by such regulations, could result in decreased use of our
products by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our products to, existing or potential customers with
international operations. Any decreased use of our products or limitation on our ability to export or sell our products
would likely adversely affect our business operations and financial results.

If our new products, including cloud services, and product enhancements do not achieve sufficient market acceptance,
our financial results and competitive position will suffer.

We spend substantial amounts of time and money to research and develop new product offerings, including cloud
services, and enhanced versions of our existing products to incorporate additional features, improve functionality or
other enhancements in order to meet our customers’ rapidly evolving demands. In addition, we continue to invest in
solutions that can be deployed on top of our core platform to target specific use cases and to cultivate our community
of application developers and users. When we develop a new or enhanced version of an existing product, we typically
incur expenses and expend resources upfront to market, promote and sell the new offering. Therefore, when we
develop and introduce new or enhanced products, they must achieve high levels of market acceptance in order to
justify the amount of our investment in developing and bringing them to market. For example, if our cloud-based
services such as Splunk Cloud do not garner widespread market adoption and implementation, our financial results
and competitive position could suffer.

Further, we may make changes to our products that our customers do not like, find useful or agree with. We may also
discontinue certain features, begin to charge for certain features that are currently free or increase fees for any of our
features or usage of our products.
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Our new products or product enhancements and changes to our existing products could fail to attain sufficient market
acceptance for many reasons, including:

•our failure to predict market demand accurately in terms of product functionality and to supply products that meet this
demand in a timely fashion;

•defects, errors or failures;

•negative publicity about their performance or effectiveness;

•delays in releasing to the market our new products or enhancements to our existing products to the market;

•introduction or anticipated introduction of competing products by our competitors;
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•poor business conditions for our end-customers, causing them to delay IT purchases; and

•reluctance of customers to purchase products incorporating open source software.

If our new products, including cloud services, or enhancements and changes do not achieve adequate acceptance in the
market, our competitive position will be impaired, and our revenues will be diminished. The adverse effect on our
financial results may be particularly acute because of the significant research, development, marketing, sales and other
expenses we will have incurred in connection with the new products or enhancements.

Our business depends, in part, on sales to the public sector, and significant changes in the contracting or fiscal policies
of the public sector could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We derive a portion of our revenues from contracts with federal, state, local and foreign governments, and we believe
that the success and growth of our business will continue to depend on our successful procurement of government
contracts. Factors that could impede our ability to maintain or increase the amount of revenues derived from
government contracts, include:

•changes in fiscal or contracting policies;

•decreases in available government funding;

•changes in government programs or applicable requirements;

•the adoption of new laws or regulations or changes to existing laws or regulations;

•potential delays or changes in the government appropriations or other funding authorization processes; and

•delays in the payment of our invoices by government payment offices.

The occurrence of any of the foregoing could cause governments and governmental agencies to delay or refrain from
purchasing licenses of our products in the future or otherwise have an adverse effect on our business operations and
financial results.

Failure to comply with laws or regulations applicable to our business could cause us to lose customers in the public
sector, subject us to fines and penalties or negatively impact our ability to contract with the public sector.

We must comply with laws and regulations relating to the formation, administration and performance of contracts
with the public sector, including United States federal, state and local governmental bodies, which affect how our
channel partners and we do business with governmental agencies. These laws and regulations may impose added costs
on our business, and failure to comply with these or other applicable regulations and requirements, including
non-compliance in the past, could lead to claims for damages from our channel partners, penalties, termination of
contracts, loss of exclusive rights in our intellectual property, and temporary suspension or permanent debarment from
government contracting. Any such damages, penalties, disruptions or limitations in our ability to do business with the
public sector could have a material adverse effect on our business operations and financial results.

The cloud services version of our Splunk Enterprise product, Splunk Cloud, is a relatively new product offering, and
market adoption of this cloud service offering could adversely affect our business.

Edgar Filing: SPLUNK INC - Form 10-K

45



SaaS is a model of software deployment in which a software provider typically licenses an application to customers
for use as a service on demand through web browser technologies. Delivering under these SaaS models typically
results in higher costs and expenses when compared to sales of perpetual licenses for similar functionality. In October
2013, we released Splunk Cloud, our cloud-based service that provides a fully functional version of Splunk Enterprise.
In recent years, companies have begun to expect that key software, such as customer relationship management and
enterprise resource planning systems, be provided through a SaaS model. In order to provide Splunk Cloud via a SaaS
deployment, we have made and will continue to make capital investments and incur substantial costs to implement
and maintain this alternative business model, which could negatively affect our financial results.  Even with these
investments and costs, the SaaS business model for Splunk Cloud may not be successful. Moreover, sales of Splunk
Cloud could displace sales of our Splunk Enterprise software licenses. Alternatively, subscriptions to Splunk Cloud
that exceed our expectations may unexpectedly increase our costs, lower our
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margins, lower our profits or increase our losses and otherwise negatively affect our projected financial results. In
addition, the change to a SaaS model results in changes in the manner in which we recognize revenues. Changes in
revenue recognition would affect our operating results and could have an adverse effect on our business operations
and financial results.

Real or perceived errors, failures or bugs in our products could adversely affect our financial results and growth
prospects.

Because our products are complex, undetected errors, failures or bugs may occur, especially when new products,
versions or updates are released. Our on-premises software is often installed and used in large-scale computing
environments with different operating systems, system management software, and equipment and networking
configurations, which may cause errors or failures of our software or other aspects of the computing environment into
which it is deployed. In addition, deployment of our software into complicated, large-scale computing environments
may expose undetected errors, failures or bugs in our software. Despite testing by us, errors, failures or bugs may not
be found in our products until they are released to our customers. In the past, we have discovered errors, failures and
bugs in some of our offerings after their introduction. Real or perceived errors, failures or bugs in our products could
result in negative publicity, loss of or delay in market acceptance of our products, loss of competitive position or
claims by customers for losses sustained by them. In such an event, we may be required, or may choose, for customer
relations or other reasons, to expend additional resources in order to help correct the problem.

In addition, if an actual or perceived failure of our on-premises software occurs in a customer’s deployment, regardless
of whether the failure is attributable to our software, the market perception of the effectiveness of our products could
be adversely affected. Alleviating any of these problems could require significant expenditures of our capital and other
resources and could cause interruptions, delays or cessation of our licensing, which could cause us to lose existing or
potential customers and could adversely affect our financial results and growth prospects.

Failure to protect our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our business.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to protect proprietary methods and technologies that we develop under
patent and other intellectual property laws of the United States and other jurisdictions outside of the United States so
that we can prevent others from using our inventions and proprietary information. If we fail to protect our intellectual
property rights adequately, our competitors might gain access to our technology, and our business might be adversely
affected. However, defending our intellectual property rights might entail significant expenses. Any of our patent
rights, copyrights, trademarks or other intellectual property rights may be challenged by others or invalidated through
administrative process or litigation. Our issued patents and any patents issued in the future may not provide us with
any competitive advantages, and our patent applications may never be granted. Additionally, the process of obtaining
patent protection is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or
desirable patent applications, or we may not be able to do so at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. Even if issued,
there can be no assurance that these patents will adequately protect our intellectual property, as the legal standards
relating to the infringement, validity, enforceability and scope of protection of patent and other intellectual property
rights are complex and often uncertain.

Any patents that are issued may subsequently be invalidated or otherwise limited, allowing other companies to
develop offerings that compete with ours, which could adversely affect our competitive business position, business
prospects and financial condition. In addition, issuance of a patent does not guarantee that we have a right to practice
the patented invention. Patent applications in the United States are typically not published until 18 months after filing
or, in some cases, not at all, and publications of discoveries in industry-related literature lag behind actual discoveries.
We cannot be certain that we were the first to use the inventions claimed in our issued patents or pending patent
applications or otherwise used in our products, that we were the first to file patent applications, or that third parties do
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not have blocking patents that could be used to prevent us from marketing or practicing our products or technology.
Effective patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret protection may not be available to us in every country in which
our products are available. The laws of some foreign countries may not be as protective of intellectual property rights
as those in the United States (in particular, some foreign jurisdictions do not permit patent protection for software),
and mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property rights may be inadequate. Additional uncertainty may result
from recent and future changes to intellectual property legislation in the United States (including the “America Invents
Act”) and other countries and from interpretations of the intellectual property laws of the United States and other
countries by applicable courts and agencies. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may be unable to prevent third
parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual property.

We rely in part on trade secrets, proprietary know-how and other confidential information to maintain our competitive
position. We generally enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, vendors and customers,
and generally limit access to and distribution of our proprietary information. Although we endeavor to enter into
non-disclosure agreements with our employees, licensees and others who may have access to this information, we
cannot assure you that these
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agreements or other steps we have taken will prevent unauthorized use, disclosure or reverse engineering of our
technology. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to as great an extent
as the laws of the United States, and many foreign countries do not enforce these laws as diligently as government
agencies and private parties in the United States. Moreover, third parties may independently develop technologies or
products that compete with ours, and we may be unable to prevent this competition.

We might be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property rights. We may
initiate claims or litigation against third parties for infringement of our proprietary rights or to establish the validity of
our proprietary rights. Litigation also puts our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly.
Additionally, we may provoke third parties to assert counterclaims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that
we initiate, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be adequate to compensate us for the harm
suffered. Any litigation, whether or not it is resolved in our favor, could result in significant expense to us and divert
the efforts of our technical and management personnel, which may adversely affect our business operations or
financial results.

We have been, and may in the future be, subject to intellectual property rights claims by third parties, which are
extremely costly to defend, could require us to pay significant damages and could limit our ability to use certain
technologies.

Companies in the software and technology industries, including some of our current and potential competitors, own
large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets and frequently enter into litigation based on
allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. In addition, many of these companies
have the capability to dedicate substantially greater resources to enforce their intellectual property rights and to defend
claims that may be brought against them. The litigation may involve patent holding companies or other adverse patent
owners that have no relevant product revenues and against which our patents may therefore provide little or no
deterrence. From time-to-time, third parties, including certain of these leading companies, have asserted and may
assert patent, copyright, trademark or other intellectual property rights against us, our channel partners, our technology
partners or our customers. We have received, and may in the future receive, notices that claim we have
misappropriated, misused, or infringed other parties’ intellectual property rights, and, to the extent we gain greater
market visibility, we face a higher risk of being the subject of intellectual property infringement claims, which is not
uncommon with respect to the enterprise software market.

There may be third-party intellectual property rights, including issued or pending patents, that cover significant
aspects of our technologies or business methods.   We may be exposed to increased risk of being the subject of
intellectual property infringement claims as a result of acquisitions, as, among other things, we have a lower level of
visibility into the development process with respect to such technology or the care taken to safeguard against
infringement risks. Any intellectual property claims, with or without merit, could be very time-consuming, could be
expensive to settle or litigate and could divert our management’s attention and other resources. These claims could also
subject us to significant liability for damages, potentially including treble damages if we are found to have willfully
infringed patents or copyrights. These claims could also result in our having to stop using technology found to be in
violation of a third party’s rights. We might be required to seek a license for the intellectual property, which may not
be available on reasonable terms or at all. Even if a license were available, we could be required to pay significant
royalties, which would increase our operating expenses. As a result, we may be required to develop alternative
non-infringing technology, which could require significant effort and expense. If we cannot license or develop
technology for any infringing aspect of our business, we would be forced to limit or stop sales of our products and
may be unable to compete effectively. Any of these results would adversely affect our business operations and
financial results.
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One of our marketing strategies is to offer trial versions of our products, and we may not be able to realize the benefits
of this strategy.

We offer trial version licenses of certain of our products to users free of charge as part of our overall strategy of
developing the market for products that provides operational intelligence and promoting additional penetration of our
products in the markets in which we compete. Some users never convert from the trial version license to the paid
version license. To the extent that these users do not become paying customers, we will not realize the intended
benefits of this marketing strategy and our ability to grow our revenues will be adversely affected.

If we are not able to maintain and enhance our brand, our business and operating results may be adversely affected.

We believe that maintaining and enhancing the “Splunk” brand identity is critical to our relationships with our
customers and channel partners and to our ability to attract new customers and channel partners. The successful
promotion of our brand will depend largely upon our marketing efforts, our ability to continue to offer high-quality
products and our ability to successfully differentiate our products from those of our competitors. Our brand promotion
activities may not be successful or yield increased revenues. In addition, independent industry analysts often provide
reviews of our products, as well as those
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of our competitors, and perception of our products in the marketplace may be significantly influenced by these
reviews. If these reviews are negative, or less positive as compared to those of our competitors’ products and services,
our brand may be adversely affected.

Moreover, it may be difficult to maintain and enhance our brand in connection with sales through channel or strategic
partners. The promotion of our brand requires us to make substantial expenditures, and we anticipate that the
expenditures will increase as our market becomes more competitive, as we expand into new markets and as more sales
are generated through our channel partners. To the extent that these activities yield increased revenues, these revenues
may not offset the increased expenses we incur. If we do not successfully maintain and enhance our brand, our
business may not grow, we may have reduced pricing power relative to competitors with stronger brands, and we
could lose customers and channel partners, all of which would adversely affect our business operations and financial
results.

Our future performance depends in part on proper use of our community website, Splunk Apps, and support from
third-party software developers.

Our products enable third-party software developers to build apps on top of our platform. We operate a community
website, Splunk Apps, for sharing these third-party apps, including add-ons and extensions. While we expect Splunk
Apps to support our sales and marketing efforts, it also presents certain risks to our business, including:

•third-party developers may not continue developing or supporting the software apps that they share on Splunk Apps;

•
we cannot provide any assurance that these apps meet the same quality standards that we apply to our own
development efforts, and, to the extent they contain bugs or defects, they may create disruptions in our customers’ use
of our products or negatively affect our brand;

•
we do not currently provide support for software apps developed by third-party software developers, and users may be
left without support and potentially cease using our products if the third-party software developers do not provide
support for these apps;

•these third-party software developers may not possess the appropriate intellectual property rights to develop and share
their apps; and

•some of these developers may use the insight they gain using our products and from documentation publicly available
on our website to develop competing products.

Many of these risks are not within our control to prevent, and our brand may be damaged if these apps, add-ons and
extensions do not perform to our customers’ satisfaction and that dissatisfaction is attributed to us.

If poor advice or misinformation is spread through our community site, Splunk Answers, users of our products may
experience unsatisfactory results from using our products, which could adversely affect our reputation and our ability
to grow our business.

We host Splunk Answers for sharing knowledge about how to perform certain functions with our products. Our users
are increasingly turning to Splunk Answers for support in connection with their use of our products. We do not review
or test the information that non-Splunk employees post on Splunk Answers to ensure its accuracy or efficacy in
resolving technical issues. Therefore, we cannot ensure that all the information listed on Splunk Answers is accurate
or that it will not adversely affect the performance of our products. Furthermore, users who post such information on
Splunk Answers may not have adequate rights to the information to share it publicly, and we could be the subject of
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intellectual property claims based on our hosting of such information. If poor advice or misinformation is spread
among users of Splunk Answers, our customers or other users of our products may experience unsatisfactory results
from using our products, which could adversely affect our reputation and our ability to grow our business.

Our use of “open source” software could negatively affect our ability to sell our products and subject us to possible
litigation.

We use open source software in our products and expect to continue to use open source software in the future. We
may face claims from others claiming ownership of, or seeking to enforce the terms of, an open source license,
including by demanding release of the open source software, derivative works or our proprietary source code that was
developed using such software. These claims could also result in litigation, require us to purchase a costly license or
require us to devote additional

27

Edgar Filing: SPLUNK INC - Form 10-K

52



Table of Contents

research and development resources to change our products, any of which would have a negative effect on our
business and operating results. In addition, if the license terms for the open source code change, we may be forced to
re-engineer our products or incur additional costs. Finally, we cannot assure that we have not incorporated additional
open source software in our products in a manner that is inconsistent with our current policies and procedures.

If our security measures are breached or unauthorized access to customer data is otherwise obtained, our products may
be perceived as not being secure, customers may reduce the use of or stop using our products, and we may incur
significant liabilities.

Our software and cloud services involve the storage and transmission of data, and security breaches could result in the
loss of this information, litigation, indemnity obligations and other liability. While we have taken steps to protect the
confidential information that we have access to, including confidential information we may obtain through our
customer support services or customer usage of our cloud-based services, our security measures could be breached.  In
addition, we do not have the ability to monitor or review the content that customers of Splunk Enterprise store, and
therefore, we have no direct control over the substance of that content. Therefore, if customers use our products for the
transmission or storage of personally identifiable information and our security measures are breached as a result of
third-party action, employee error, malfeasance or otherwise, our reputation could be damaged, our business may
suffer, and we could incur significant liability. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage
systems change frequently and generally are not identified until they are launched against a target, we may be unable
to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. Any or all of these issues could
negatively impact our ability to attract new customers and increase engagement by existing customers, cause existing
customers to elect to not renew their subscriptions, or subject us to third-party lawsuits, regulatory fines or other
action or liability, thereby adversely affecting our financial results.

We use third-party technology and systems for a variety of reasons, including, without limitation, encryption and
authentication technology, employee email, content delivery to customers, back-office support, credit card processing
and other functions. Although we have developed systems and processes that are designed to protect customer
information and prevent data loss and other security breaches, including systems and processes designed to reduce the
impact of a security breach at a third-party vendor, such measures cannot provide absolute security.

Because our products could be used to collect and store personal information, domestic and international privacy, data
transfer and data security concerns could result in additional costs and liabilities to us or inhibit sales of our products.

Privacy and data information security have become a significant issue in the United States and in many other countries
where we offer licenses of our software and subscriptions of our cloud services. The regulatory framework for privacy
and personal information security issues worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely to remain uncertain for the
foreseeable future. Many federal, state and foreign government bodies and agencies have adopted or are considering
adopting laws and regulations regarding the collection, use and disclosure of personal information. In the United
States, these include rules and regulations promulgated under the authority of the Federal Trade Commission, the
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996 and state breach notification laws.
Internationally, virtually every jurisdiction in which we operate has established its own data security and privacy legal
framework with which we or our customers must comply, including the Data Protection Directive established in the
European Union and the Federal Data Protection Act implemented in Germany.

In addition to government regulation, privacy advocates and industry groups may propose new and different
self-regulatory standards that either legally or contractually apply to us. Because the interpretation and application of
privacy and data protection laws are still uncertain, it is possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in a
manner that is inconsistent with our existing data management practices or the features of our software and cloud
services. If so, in addition to the possibility of fines, lawsuits and other claims, we could be required to fundamentally
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change our business activities and practices or modify our products, which could have an adverse effect on our
business. Any inability to adequately address privacy concerns, even if unfounded, or comply with applicable privacy
or data protection laws, regulations and policies, could result in additional cost and liability to us, damage our
reputation, inhibit sales and adversely affect our business.

Furthermore, the costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by, the laws, regulations, and policies that are
applicable to the businesses of our customers may limit the use and adoption of, and reduce the overall demand for,
our products. Privacy and personal information security concerns, whether valid or not valid, may inhibit market
adoption of our products particularly in certain industries and foreign countries.

Federal, state and industry regulations as well as self-regulation related to privacy and data security concerns pose the
threat of lawsuits and other liability.
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We may collect and utilize demographic and other information, including personally identifiable information, from
and about users (such as customers, potential customers, and others) as they interact with Splunk over the internet and
otherwise provide us with information whether via our website, through email, or through other means. Users may
provide personal information to us in many contexts such as when signing up for certain services, purchasing our
products, registering for seminars, participating in a survey, when answering questions on our Splunk Answers
community site, when posting reviews or otherwise commenting on Splunk apps, when using other community or
social networking features, when participating in polls or when signing up to receive e-mail newsletters.

Within the United States, various federal and state laws and regulations govern the collection, use, retention, sharing
and security of the data we receive from and about users. Outside of the United States, various jurisdictions actively
regulate and enforce laws regarding the collection, retention, transfer, and use (including loss and unauthorized
access) of personal information. Privacy advocates and government bodies have increasingly scrutinized the ways in
which companies link personal identities and data associated with particular users or devices with data collected
through the internet, and we expect such scrutiny to continue to increase. Loss, retention or misuse of certain
information and alleged violations of laws and regulations relating to privacy and data security, and any relevant
claims, may expose us to potential liability and may require us to expend significant resources on data security and in
responding to and defending such allegations and claims.

If we are unable to attract and retain key personnel, our business could be adversely affected.

We depend on the continued contributions of our senior management and other key personnel, the loss of whom could
adversely affect our business. All of our executive officers and key employees are at-will employees, which means
they may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time. We do not maintain a key-person life insurance
policy on any of our officers or other employees.

Our future success also depends on our ability to identify, attract and retain highly skilled technical, managerial,
finance and other personnel, particularly in our sales and marketing, research and development, general and
administrative, and professional service departments. We face intense competition for qualified individuals from
numerous software and other technology companies.

In addition, competition for qualified personnel, particularly software engineers, is particularly intense in the San
Francisco Bay Area, where our headquarters are located. We may incur significant costs to attract and retain them, and
we may lose new employees to our competitors or other technology companies before we realize the benefit of our
investment in recruiting and training them. As we move into new geographies, we will need to attract and recruit
skilled personnel in those areas. If we are unable to attract and retain suitably qualified individuals who are capable of
meeting our growing technical, operational and managerial requirements, on a timely basis or at all, our business will
be adversely affected.

Volatility or lack of performance in our stock price may also affect our ability to attract and retain our key employees.
Many of our senior management personnel and other key employees have become, or will soon become, vested in a
substantial amount of stock, restricted stock units or stock options. Employees may be more likely to leave us if the
shares they own or the shares underlying their vested restricted stock units or options have significantly appreciated in
value relative to the original purchase prices of the shares or the exercise prices of the options, or, conversely, if the
exercise prices of the options that they hold are significantly above the market price of our common stock. If we are
unable to retain our employees, or if we need to increase our compensation expenses to retain our employees, our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows would be adversely affected.

Prolonged economic uncertainties or downturns could materially adversely affect our business.
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Current or future economic downturns or uncertainty could adversely affect our business operations or financial
results. Negative conditions in the general economy both in the United States and abroad, including conditions
resulting from financial and credit market fluctuations and terrorist attacks on the United States, Europe, Asia Pacific
or elsewhere, could cause a decrease in corporate spending on enterprise software in general and negatively affect the
rate of growth of our business.

General worldwide economic conditions have experienced a significant downturn and continue to remain unstable.
These conditions make it extremely difficult for our customers and us to forecast and plan future business activities
accurately, and they could cause our customers to reevaluate their decision to purchase our products, which could
delay and lengthen our sales cycles or result in cancellations of planned purchases. Furthermore, during challenging
economic times our customers may face issues in gaining timely access to sufficient credit, which could result in an
impairment of their ability to make timely
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payments to us. If that were to occur, we may be required to increase our allowance for doubtful accounts, which
would adversely affect our financial results.

We have a significant number of customers in the business services, energy, financial services, healthcare and
pharmaceuticals, technology, manufacturing, media and entertainment, online services, retail, telecommunications and
travel and transportation industries. A substantial downturn in any of these industries may cause firms to react to
worsening conditions by reducing their capital expenditures in general or by specifically reducing their spending on
information technology. Customers in these industries may delay or cancel information technology projects or seek to
lower their costs by renegotiating vendor contracts. To the extent purchases of our products are perceived by
customers and potential customers to be discretionary, our revenues may be disproportionately affected by delays or
reductions in general information technology spending. Also, customers may choose to develop in-house software as
an alternative to using our products. Moreover, competitors may respond to market conditions by lowering prices and
attempting to lure away our customers. In addition, the increased pace of consolidation in certain industries may result
in reduced overall spending on our products.

We cannot predict the timing, strength or duration of any economic slowdown, instability or recovery, generally or
within any particular industry or geography. If the economic conditions of the general economy or industries in which
we operate worsen from present levels, our business operations and financial results could be adversely affected.

We may require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital might not be available on acceptable
terms, if at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to
respond to business challenges, including the need to develop new features or enhance our products, improve our
operating infrastructure or acquire complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, we may need to engage
in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional funds through future issuances of equity
or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities
we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. Any debt
financing that we may secure in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities
and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to
pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. We may not be able to obtain additional financing on
terms favorable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us
when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business challenges could
be significantly impaired, and our business may be adversely affected.

We have in the past made and may in the future make acquisitions that could prove difficult to integrate and/or
adversely affect our business operations and financial results.

From time to time, we may choose to expand by making acquisitions that could be material to our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows. Our ability as an organization to successfully acquire and integrate
technologies or businesses is unproven. Acquisitions involve many risks, including the following:

•

an acquisition may negatively affect our financial results because it may require us to incur charges or assume
substantial debt or other liabilities, may cause adverse tax consequences or unfavorable accounting treatment, may
expose us to claims and disputes by third parties, including intellectual property claims and disputes, or may not
generate sufficient financial return to offset additional costs and expenses related to the acquisition;

•potential goodwill impairment charges related to acquisitions;
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•costs and potential difficulties associated with the requirement to test and assimilate the internal control processes of
the acquired business;

•
we may encounter difficulties or unforeseen expenditures in integrating the business, technologies, products,
personnel or operations of any company that we acquire, particularly if key personnel of the acquired company decide
not to work for us or if we are unable to retain key personnel;

•we may not realize the expected benefits of the acquisition;

•an acquisition may disrupt our ongoing business, divert resources, increase our expenses and distract our
management;
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•an acquisition may result in a delay or reduction of customer purchases for both us and the company acquired due to
customer uncertainty about continuity and effectiveness of service from either company;

•
the potential impact on relationships with existing customers, vendors and distributors as business partners as a result
of acquiring another company or business that competes with or otherwise is incompatible with those existing
relationships;

•the potential that our due diligence of the acquired company or business does not identify significant problems or
liabilities;

•we may encounter difficulties in, or may be unable to, successfully sell any acquired products;

•an acquisition may involve the entry into geographic or business markets in which we have little or no prior
experience or where competitors have stronger market positions;

•an acquisition may require us to comply with additional laws and regulations or result in liabilities resulting from the
acquired company’s pre-acquisition failure to comply with applicable laws;

•our use of cash to pay for an acquisition would limit other potential uses for our cash;

•if we incur debt to fund such acquisition, such debt may subject us to material restrictions on our ability to conduct
our business as well as financial maintenance covenants; and

•to the extent that we issue a significant amount of equity securities in connection with future acquisitions, existing
stockholders may be diluted and earnings per share may decrease.

The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business operations and financial
results.

If currency exchange rates fluctuate substantially in the future, our financial results, which are reported in U.S. dollars,
could be adversely affected.

As we continue to expand our international operations, we become more exposed to the effects of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates. Although most of our sales contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore
substantially all of our revenues are not subject to foreign currency risk, a strengthening of the U.S. dollar could
increase the real cost of our products to our customers outside of the United States, adversely affecting our business
operations and financial results. We incur expenses for employee compensation and other operating expenses at our
non-U.S. locations in the local currency. Fluctuations in the exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and other
currencies could result in the dollar equivalent of such expenses being higher. This could have a negative impact on
our reported operating results. To date, we have not engaged in any hedging strategies, and any such strategies, such
as forward contracts, options and foreign exchange swaps related to transaction exposures that we may implement to
mitigate this risk may not eliminate our exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations.

The enactment of legislation implementing changes in the United States of taxation of international business activities
or the adoption of other tax reform policies could materially impact our financial position and results of operations.

Recent changes to United States tax laws, including limitations on the ability of taxpayers to claim and utilize foreign
tax credits and the deferral of certain tax deductions until earnings outside of the United States are repatriated to the
United States, as well as changes to United States tax laws that may be enacted in the future, could impact the tax

Edgar Filing: SPLUNK INC - Form 10-K

59



treatment of our foreign earnings. Due to expansion of our international business activities, any changes in the United
States taxation of such activities may increase our worldwide effective tax rate and adversely affect our financial
position and results of operations.

Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.

In general, under Section 382 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a
corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change net
operating losses, or NOLs, to offset future taxable income. If our existing NOLs are subject to limitations arising from
previous ownership changes, our ability to utilize NOLs could be limited by Section 382 of the Code. Future changes
in our stock ownership, some of which are outside of our control, could result in an ownership change under
Section 382 of the Code.
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Furthermore, our ability to utilize NOLs of companies that we may acquire in the future may be subject to limitations.
There is also a risk that due to regulatory changes, such as suspensions on the use of NOLs, or other unforeseen
reasons, our existing NOLs could expire or otherwise be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. For these
reasons, we may not be able to utilize a portion of the NOLs reflected on our balance sheet, even if we attain
profitability.

Taxing authorities may successfully assert that we should have collected or in the future should collect sales and use,
value added or similar taxes, and we could be subject to liability with respect to past or future sales, which could
adversely affect our financial results.

We do not collect sales and use, value added and similar taxes in all jurisdictions in which we have sales, based on our
belief that such taxes are not applicable. Sales and use, value added and similar tax laws and rates vary greatly by
jurisdiction. Certain jurisdictions in which we do not collect such taxes may assert that such taxes are applicable,
which could result in tax assessments, penalties and interest, and we may be required to collect such taxes in the
future. Such tax assessments, penalties and interest or future requirements may adversely affect our financial results.

Our international operations subject us to potentially adverse tax consequences.

We generally conduct our international operations through wholly owned subsidiaries, branches and representative
offices and report our taxable income in various jurisdictions worldwide based upon our business operations in those
jurisdictions. We are in the process of organizing our corporate structure to more closely align with the international
nature of our business activities. Our intercompany relationships are subject to complex transfer pricing regulations
administered by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions. The relevant taxing authorities may disagree with our
determinations as to the income and expenses attributable to specific jurisdictions. If such a disagreement were to
occur, and our position were not sustained, we could be required to pay additional taxes, interest and penalties, which
could result in one-time tax charges, higher effective tax rates, reduced cash flows and lower overall profitability of
our operations. We believe that our financial statements reflect adequate reserves to cover such a contingency, but
there can be no assurances in that regard.

We could be subject to additional tax liabilities.

We are subject to federal, state and local taxes in the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant
judgment is required in evaluating our tax positions and our worldwide provision for taxes. During the ordinary course
of business, there are many activities and transactions for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. We
previously discovered that we have not complied with various tax rules and regulations in certain foreign jurisdictions.
We are working to resolve these matters. In addition, our tax obligations and effective tax rates could be adversely
affected by changes in the relevant tax, accounting and other laws, regulations, principles and interpretations,
including those relating to income tax nexus, by our earnings being lower than anticipated in jurisdictions where we
have lower statutory rates and higher than anticipated in jurisdictions where we have higher statutory rates, by
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, or by changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities.
We may be audited in various jurisdictions, and such jurisdictions may assess additional taxes against us. Although we
believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the final determination of any tax audits or litigation could be materially
different from our historical tax provisions and accruals, which could have a material adverse effect on our operating
results or cash flows in the period or periods for which a determination is made.

Our stock price has been volatile, may continue to be volatile and may decline regardless of our financial
performance.
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The trading prices of the securities of technology companies have been highly volatile. The market price of our
common stock has fluctuated significantly and may continue to fluctuate significantly in response to numerous
factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:

•actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial results;

•the financial projections we provide to the public, any changes in these projections or our failure to meet or exceed
these projections;

•failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of our company, changes in financial estimates by any
securities analysts who follow our company, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

•ratings changes by any securities analysts who follow our company;

32

Edgar Filing: SPLUNK INC - Form 10-K

62



Table of Contents

•announcements by us or our competitors of significant technical innovations, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint
ventures or capital commitments;

•changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology companies generally, or those in
our industry in particular;

•price and volume fluctuations in certain categories of companies or the overall stock market, including as a result of
trends in the global economy;

•any major change in our board of directors or management;

•lawsuits threatened or filed against us; and

•other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism or responses to these events.

In addition, the stock markets, and in particular the market on which our common stock is listed, have experienced
extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity securities
of many technology companies. Stock prices of many technology companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or
disproportionate to the financial performance of those companies. In the past, stockholders have instituted securities
class action litigation following periods of market volatility. If we were to become involved in securities litigation, it
could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our business and
adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or publish negative reports
about our business, our share price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry
analysts publish about us or our business, our market and our competitors. We do not have any control over these
analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our shares or change their opinion of our shares, our
share price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly
publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause our share price or trading
volume to decline.

Substantial future sales of shares of our common stock could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

The market price of shares of our common stock could decline as a result of substantial sales of our common stock,
particularly sales by our directors, executive officers, employees and significant stockholders, a large number of
shares of our common stock becoming available for sale, or the perception in the market that holders of a large
number of shares intend to sell their shares. As of January 31, 2015, we had outstanding approximately 123.5 million
shares of our common stock. We have also registered shares of common stock that we may issue under our employee
equity incentive plans. These shares will be able to be sold freely in the public market upon issuance.

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and affect our
ability to attract and retain executive management and qualified board members.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the
Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, the listing requirements of The NASDAQ Stock Market
and other applicable securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations has increased our
legal and financial compliance costs, made some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and increased and
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will continue to increase demand on our systems and resources. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that
we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. The Sarbanes-Oxley
Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control
over financial reporting. In order to maintain and, if required, improve our disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting to meet this standard, significant resources and management oversight may be
required. As a result, management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could adversely
affect our business and operating results. Although we have already hired additional employees to comply with these
requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the future or engage outside consultants, which will increase
our costs and expenses.

In addition, changing laws, regulations, standards and practices relating to corporate governance and public disclosure
are creating uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs and making some
activities more
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time consuming. These laws, regulations, standards and practices are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases
due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as regulatory and
governing bodies provide new guidance or as market practices develop. This could result in continuing uncertainty
regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance
practices. We will continue to invest resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations and standards and keeping
abreast of current practices, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a
diversion of management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance and corporate
governance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and standards differ from the activities
intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application and practice, regulatory
authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us and our business may be adversely affected.

As a result of disclosure of information as a public company, our business and financial condition have become more
visible, which we believe may result in threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other third parties.
If such claims are successful, our business operations and financial results could be adversely affected, and even if the
claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary to
resolve them, could divert the resources of our management and adversely affect our business operations and financial
results. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified employees, executive
officers and members of our board of directors.

We are obligated to develop and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting. These internal
controls may not be determined to be effective, which may adversely affect investor confidence in our company and,
as a result, the value of our common stock.

We are required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to furnish a report by management on, among
other things, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. This assessment includes disclosure of
any material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over financial reporting. We are also
required to have our independent registered public accounting firm issue an opinion on the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting on an annual basis. During the evaluation and testing process, if we identify
one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our
internal controls are effective.

If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered
public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which would
cause the price of our common stock to decline, and we may be subject to investigation or sanctions by the SEC.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay any cash dividends
in the foreseeable future. We anticipate that we will retain all of our future earnings for use in the development of our
business and for general corporate purposes. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion
of our board of directors. Accordingly, price appreciation of our common stock, which may never occur, may be the
only way our stockholders realize any future gains on their investments.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company
more difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit the market
price of our common stock.
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Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of
control or changes in our management. Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws include provisions that:

•authorize our board of directors to issue, without further action by the stockholders, shares of undesignated preferred
stock with terms, rights and preferences determined by our board of directors;

•require that any action to be taken by our stockholders be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and not
by written consent;

•specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by our board of directors, the Chairman of our
board of directors, or our Chief Executive Officer;

•establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting, including
proposed nominations of persons for election to our board of directors;
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•establish that our board of directors is divided into three classes, Class I, Class II and Class III, with each class serving
three-year staggered terms;

•prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors;

•provide that our directors may be removed only for cause;

•provide that vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by a majority of directors then in office, even
though less than a quorum; and

•require the approval of our board of directors or the holders of a supermajority of our outstanding shares of capital
stock to amend our bylaws and certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation.

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current
management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is
responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we
are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a
Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder
for a period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

      None.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters occupy approximately 95,000 square feet in San Francisco, California under operating
leases that expire in February 2019. As of January 31, 2015, we also lease approximately 22,000 square feet of office
space in Cupertino, California to support our expanding business operations and hiring needs. We also lease smaller
regional offices for sales, support and some product development in various locations throughout the United States.
Our foreign subsidiaries also lease office space for their operations including local sales, support and some product
development. While we believe our facilities are sufficient and suitable for the operations of our business today, we
are in the process of adding new facilities and expanding our existing facilities as we add employees and expand into
additional markets. During the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015, we entered into an office lease for approximately
182,000 square feet located at 270 Brannan Street, San Francisco, California. We expect to occupy a portion of the
premises at 270 Brannan Street starting in January 2016.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth under Legal Proceedings in Note 3 contained in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements” is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

      Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Stock Price and Dividends

Our common stock, $0.001 par value, began trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on April 19, 2012, where
its prices are quoted under the symbol “SPLK.” As of January 31, 2015 there were 23 holders of record of our common
stock. Because many of our shares of common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of
stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of beneficial holders represented by these record holders.
The following table sets forth the reported high and low sales prices of our common stock for the periods indicated, as
regularly quoted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market:

High Low
Year Ended January 31, 2014:
First Quarter $42.53 $32.75
Second Quarter $52.12 $40.59
Third Quarter $64.50 $47.69
Fourth Quarter $83.97 $59.50

High Low
Year Ended January 31, 2015:
First Quarter $106.15 $50.84
Second Quarter $57.60 $39.35
Third Quarter $68.20 $40.71
Fourth Quarter $72.25 $51.60

We have never declared or paid, and do not anticipate declaring or paying in the foreseeable future, any cash
dividends on our capital stock. Any future determination as to the declaration and payment of dividends, if any, will
be at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to applicable laws and will depend on then existing conditions,
including our financial condition, operating results, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects,
and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” for
information regarding securities authorized for issuance.

Stock Performance Graph
This chart compares the cumulative total return on our common stock with that of the NASDAQ Composite index and
the NASDAQ Computer index. The chart assumes $100 was invested on April 19, 2012, the date our stock began
trading, in our common stock, the NASDAQ Composite index and the NASDAQ Computer index. The peer group
indices utilize the same methods of presentation and assumptions for the total return calculation as does Splunk and
the NASDAQ Composite index. All companies in the peer group index are weighted in accordance with their market
capitalizations.
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Company/Index
Base
Period
4/19/12 7/31/1210/31/121/31/134/30/13 7/31/13 10/31/131/31/14 4/30/14 7/31/14 10/31/141/31/15

Splunk Inc. $100.00 $82.86 $79.00 $92.90 $114.99 $140.95 $176.75 $217.11 $153.80 $132.53 $186.25 $145.57
NASDAQ
Composite 100.00 97.74 98.99 104.47 110.68 120.58 130.33 136.45 136.81 145.29 153.97 154.12

NASDAQ
Computer 100.00 96.58 94.56 95.02 98.17 103.38 114.95 121.69 125.19 137.25 146.04 143.97
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

        The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto and with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations, which are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The consolidated statement of operations
data for fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013 and the selected consolidated balance sheet data as of January 31, 2015 and 2014
are derived from, and are qualified by reference to, the audited consolidated financial statements and are included in
this Form 10-K. The consolidated statement of operations data for fiscal 2012 and 2011 and the consolidated balance
sheet data as of January 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 are derived from audited consolidated financial statements, which
are not included in this Form 10-K.

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues
License $283,191 $199,024 $135,922 $88,308 $49,926
Maintenance and services 167,684 103,599 63,022 32,652 16,319
Total revenues 450,875 302,623 198,944 120,960 66,245
Cost of revenues (1)
License 1,859 330 727 890 228
Maintenance and services 66,519 35,495 20,697 10,715 6,428
Total cost of revenues 68,378 35,825 21,424 11,605 6,656
Gross profit 382,497 266,798 177,520 109,355 59,589
Operating expenses (1)
Research and development 150,790 75,895 41,853 23,561 14,025
Sales and marketing 344,471 215,335 125,098 74,782 39,909
General and administrative 103,046 53,875 32,602 19,698 8,949
Total operating expenses 598,307 345,105 199,553 118,041 62,883
Operating loss (215,810 ) (78,307 ) (22,033 ) (8,686 ) (3,294 )
Interest and other income (expense), net
Interest income, net 754 225 152 (94 ) (21 )
Other income (expense), net 216 (920 ) — — —
Change in fair value of preferred stock
warrants — — (14,087 ) (2,034 ) (366 )

Total interest and other income (expense), net 970 (695 ) (13,935 ) (2,128 ) (387 )
Loss before income taxes (214,840 ) (79,002 ) (35,968 ) (10,814 ) (3,681 )
Provision for income taxes 2,276 6 713 178 125
Net loss $(217,116 ) $(79,008 ) $(36,681 ) $(10,992 ) $(3,806 )
Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted $(1.81 ) $(0.75 ) $(0.46 ) $(0.53 ) $(0.21 )
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted 119,775 105,067 80,246 20,646 17,738

39

Edgar Filing: SPLUNK INC - Form 10-K

71



Table of Contents

(1)Amounts include stock-based compensation expense as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Cost of revenues $17,189 $5,283 $1,217 $134 $59
Research and development 60,777 20,829 6,170 841 347
Sales and marketing 90,064 30,012 8,093 1,488 495
General and administrative 46,149 13,244 4,000 1,297 684

As of January 31,
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments $850,164 $897,453 $305,939 $31,599 $19,737

Working capital 653,185 784,966 259,789 1,142 4,069
Total assets 1,247,791 1,040,331 390,445 82,223 38,791
Deferred revenue, current and long-term 304,085 192,321 114,712 52,665 22,307
Debt and capital lease obligations, current and
long-term — — — 2,289 173

Preferred stock warrants — — — 2,133 1,013
Convertible preferred stock — — — 40,913 39,949
Total stockholders' equity (deficit) 813,321 784,908 237,544 (41,646 ) (36,503 )

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
               The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.  This discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks
and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements
as a result of various factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors” included in Part I, Item 1A or in other parts
of this report.
Overview
Splunk provides innovative software products that enable organizations to gain real-time operational intelligence by
harnessing the value of their data. Our products enable users to collect, index, search, explore, monitor and analyze
data regardless of format or source. Our products address large and diverse data sets, commonly referred to as big
data, and are specifically tailored for machine-generated data. Machine data is produced by nearly every software
application and electronic device and contains a definitive, time-stamped record of various activities, such as
transactions, customer and user activities and security threats. Beyond an organization's traditional IT and security
infrastructure, every processor-based system, including HVAC controllers, smart electrical meters, GPS devices and
radio-frequency identification tags, and many consumer-oriented systems, such as electronic wearables, many
manufacturing systems, mobile devices, automobiles and medical devices that contain embedded electronic devices,
are also continuously generating machine data. Our products help organizations gain value from all of these different
sources and forms of machine data.

We believe the market for products that provide operational intelligence presents a substantial opportunity as data
grows in volume and diversity, creating new risks, opportunities and challenges for organizations. Since our inception,
we have invested a substantial amount of resources developing our products and technology to address this market,
specifically with respect to machine data.
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Our products are designed to accelerate return-on-investment for our customers. They generally do not require
customization, long deployment cycles or extensive professional services commonly associated with traditional
enterprise software applications. Users can simply download and install the software, typically in a matter of hours, to
connect to their relevant machine data sources. Alternatively, they can sign up for our Splunk Cloud service and avoid
the need to provision, deploy and manage internal infrastructure. They can also provision a compute instance on
Amazon Web Services via a pre-built
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Amazon Machine Image, which delivers a pre-configured virtual machine instance with our Splunk Enterprise
software. We also offer support, training and professional services to our customers to assist in the deployment of our
software.

For Splunk Enterprise, we base our license fees on the estimated daily data indexing capacity our customers require.
Prospective customers can download a trial version of our software that provides a full set of features but limited data
indexing capacity. Following the 60-day trial period, prospective customers can purchase a license for our product or
continue using our product with reduced features and limited data indexing capacity. A majority of our license
revenues consist of revenues from perpetual licenses, whereby we generally recognize the license fee portion of these
arrangements upfront. As a result, the timing of when we enter into large perpetual licenses may lead to fluctuations in
our revenues and operating results because our expenses are largely fixed in the short-term. Additionally, we license
our software under term licenses which are generally recognized ratably over the contract term. From time to time, we
also enter into transactions that are designed to enable broad adoption of our software within an enterprise, referred to
as enterprise adoption agreements. These agreements often include provisions that require revenue deferral and
recognition over time.

Our Splunk Cloud service delivers the core functionalities of Splunk Enterprise as a scalable, reliable cloud service.
Our Splunk Cloud customers pay an annual subscription fee based on the combination of the volume of data indexed
per day and the length of the data retention period. Our product, Hunk: Splunk Analytics for Hadoop and NoSQL Data
Stores, is a software product that enables exploration, analysis and visualization of data in Hadoop and NoSQL data
stores. Our Splunk MINT product enables customers to gain greater operational intelligence from mobile apps and
enables Splunk Enterprise customers to analyze their mobile data, establish alerts and searches based on mobile data,
and correlate mobile data with other machine data.

We intend to continue investing for long-term growth. We have invested and expect to continue to invest heavily in
our product development efforts to deliver additional compelling features, address customer needs and enable
solutions that can address new end markets. For example, in March 2015, we introduced Splunk Light, a product
designed for smaller IT environments. In addition, we expect to continue to aggressively expand our sales and
marketing organizations to market and sell our software both in the United States and internationally.

Our goal is to make our software the platform for delivering operational intelligence and real-time business insights
from machine data. The key elements of our growth strategy are to:

•Extend our technological capabilities.

•Continue to expand our direct and indirect sales organization, including our channel relationships, to increase our
sales capacity and enable greater market presence.

•Further penetrate our existing customer base and drive enterprise-wide adoption.

•Enhance our value proposition through a focus on solutions which address core and expanded use cases.

•Grow our user communities and partner ecosystem to increase awareness of our brand, target new use cases, drive
operational leverage and deliver more targeted, higher value solutions.

• Continue to deliver a rich developer environment to enable rapid development of enterprise applications that
leverage machine data and the Splunk platform.
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We believe the factors that will influence our ability to achieve our goals include, among other things, our ability to
deliver new products as well as additional product functionality; acquire new customers across geographies and
industries; cultivate incremental sales from our existing customers by driving increased use of our software within
organizations; provide additional solutions that leverage our core machine data engine to help organizations
understand and realize the value of their machine data in specific end markets and use cases; add additional OEM and
strategic relationships to enable new sales channels for our software as well as extend our integration with third party
products; and help software developers leverage the functionality of our machine data engine through SDKs and APIs.

For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, our total revenues were $450.9 million, $302.6 million
and $198.9 million, respectively. For the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015, approximately 24% of our total revenues
were derived from customers located outside the United States. Our customers and end-users represent the public
sector and a wide variety of industries, including financial services, manufacturing, retail and technology, among
others. As of January 31, 2015, we had over 9,000 customers, including 79 of the Fortune 100 companies.
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For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, our GAAP operating loss was $215.8 million, $78.3
million and $22.0 million, respectively. Our non-GAAP operating income was $12.3 million for fiscal year ended
January 31, 2015 and our non-GAAP operating loss was $1.2 million and $1.4 million for fiscal years ended January
31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

For the fiscal years ended January 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, our GAAP net loss was $217.1 million, $79.0 million and
$36.7 million, respectively. Our non-GAAP net income was $11.0 million for fiscal year ended January 31, 2015, and
our non-GAAP net loss was $3.1 million and $2.0 million for fiscal years ended January 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Our quarterly results reflect seasonality in the sale of our products and services. Historically, a pattern of increased
license sales in the fourth fiscal quarter as a result of industry buying patterns has positively impacted sales activity in
that period, which can result in lower sequential revenues in the following first fiscal quarter. Our gross margins and
operating losses have been affected by these historical trends because the majority of our expenses are relatively fixed
in the short-term. The majority of our expenses are personnel-related and include salaries, stock-based compensation,
benefits and incentive-based compensation plan expenses. As a result, we have not experienced significant seasonal
fluctuations in the timing of expenses from period to period.

Non-GAAP Financial Results

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP, we
provide investors with certain non-GAAP financial measures, including non-GAAP gross margin, non-GAAP
operating income (loss), non-GAAP operating margin, non-GAAP net income (loss) and non-GAAP net income (loss)
per share (collectively the “non-GAAP financial measures”). These non-GAAP financial measures exclude all or a
combination of the following (as reflected in the following reconciliation tables): stock-based compensation expense,
employer payroll tax expense related to employee stock plans, amortization of acquired intangible assets, ground lease
expense related to a build-to-suit lease obligation, impairment of a long-lived asset, acquisition-related costs and the
partial release of the valuation allowance due to acquisition. In addition, non-GAAP financial measures include free
cash flow, which represents cash from operations less purchases of property and equipment. The presentation of the
non-GAAP financial measures is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for, or superior to, the
financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP. We use these non-GAAP financial measures
for financial and operational decision-making purposes and as a means to evaluate period-to-period comparisons. We
believe that these non-GAAP financial measures provide useful information about our operating results, enhance the
overall understanding of past financial performance and future prospects and allow for greater transparency with
respect to key metrics used by our management in its financial and operational decision making. In addition, these
non-GAAP financial measures facilitate comparisons to competitors’ operating results.

We exclude stock-based compensation expense because it is non-cash in nature and excluding this expense provides
meaningful supplemental information regarding our operational performance. In particular, because of varying
available valuation methodologies, subjective assumptions and the variety of award types that companies can use
under Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 718, we
believe that providing non-GAAP financial measures that exclude this expense allows investors the ability to make
more meaningful comparisons between our operating results and those of other companies. We exclude employer
payroll tax expense related to employee stock plans in order for investors to see the full effect that excluding that
stock-based compensation expense had on our operating results. These expenses are tied to the exercise or vesting of
underlying equity awards and the price of our common stock at the time of vesting or exercise, which may vary from
period to period independent of the operating performance of our business. We also exclude the non-cash charge for
previously capitalized research and development expense for our Splunk Storm product (reflected as an impairment of

Edgar Filing: SPLUNK INC - Form 10-K

76



a long-lived asset) as a result of our strategic decision to start making Splunk Storm available at no cost to customers,
a decision that we expect to be infrequent in nature. We also exclude acquisition-related costs, amortization of
acquired intangible assets and ground lease expense related to a build-to-suit lease obligation from our non-GAAP
financial measures because these are considered by management to be outside of our core operating results. We
further exclude the partial release of the valuation allowance due to acquisition from non-GAAP net income (loss) and
non-GAAP net income (loss) per share because it is also considered by management to be outside our core operating
results. Accordingly, we believe that excluding these expenses provides investors and management with greater
visibility to the underlying performance of our business operations, facilitates comparison of our results with other
periods and may also facilitate comparison with the results of other companies in our industry. We consider free cash
flow to be a liquidity measure that provides useful information to management and investors about the amount of cash
generated by the business that can be used for strategic opportunities, including investing in our business, making
strategic acquisitions and strengthening our balance sheet.
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There are limitations in using non-GAAP financial measures because the non-GAAP financial measures are not
prepared in accordance with GAAP, may be different from non-GAAP financial measures used by our competitors
and exclude expenses that may have a material impact upon our reported financial results. Further, stock-based
compensation expense has been and will continue to be for the foreseeable future a significant recurring expense in
our business and an important part of the compensation provided to our employees. The non-GAAP financial
measures are meant to supplement and be viewed in conjunction with GAAP financial measures.

The following table reconciles our net cash provided by operating activities to free cash flow for the fiscal years ended
January 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

Net cash provided by operating activities $103,980 $73,848 $46,648
Less purchases of property and equipment (13,950 ) (9,308 ) (9,077 )
Free cash flow (non-GAAP) $90,030 $64,540 $37,571
Net cash used in investing activities $(645,160 ) $(39,046 ) $(8,563 )
Net cash provided by financing activities $31,610 $556,699 $236,235

The following table reconciles GAAP gross margin to non-GAAP gross margin for the fiscal years ended January 31,
2015, 2014 and 2013:

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

GAAP gross margin 84.8 % 88.2 % 89.2 %
Stock-based compensation expense 3.9 1.7 0.6
Employer payroll tax on employee stock plans 0.1 0.1 —
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 0.7 0.2 —
Impairment of long-lived asset — 0.7 —
Non-GAAP gross margin 89.5 % 90.9 % 89.8 %

The following table reconciles GAAP operating loss to non-GAAP operating income (loss) for the fiscal years ended
January 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

GAAP operating loss $(215,810 ) $(78,307 ) $(22,033 )
Stock-based compensation expense 214,179 69,368 19,480
Employer payroll tax on employee stock plans 8,868 3,971 1,155
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 4,377 906 —
Impairment of long-lived asset — 2,128 —
Acquisition-related costs — 722 —
Ground lease expense related to build-to-suit lease obligation 666 — —
Non-GAAP operating income (loss) $12,280 $(1,212 ) $(1,398 )

The following table reconciles GAAP operating margin to non-GAAP operating margin for the fiscal years ended
January 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013:
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Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

GAAP operating margin (47.9 )% (25.9 )% (11.1 )%
Stock-based compensation expense 47.5 22.9 9.8
Employer payroll tax on employee stock plans 2.0 1.3 0.6
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 1.0 0.3 —
Impairment of long-lived asset — 0.7 —
Acquisition-related costs — 0.3 —
Ground lease expense related to build-to-suit lease obligation 0.1 — —
Non-GAAP operating margin 2.7  % (0.4 )% (0.7 )%

The following table reconciles GAAP net loss to non-GAAP net income (loss) for the fiscal years ended January 31,
2015, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

GAAP net loss $(217,116 ) $(79,008 ) $(36,681 )
Stock-based compensation expense 214,179 69,368 19,480
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrants — — 14,087
Employer payroll tax on employee stock plans 8,868 3,971 1,155
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 4,377 906 —
Impairment of long-lived assets — 2,128 —
Acquisition-related costs — 722 —
Ground lease expense related to build-to-suit lease obligation 666 — —
Partial release of the valuation allowance due to acquisitions — (1,174 ) —
Non-GAAP net income (loss) $10,974 $(3,087 ) $(1,959 )

The following table reconciles the shares used in computing basic and diluted GAAP and non-GAAP net income
(loss) per share for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

Weighted-average shares used in computing GAAP basic net loss per
share 119,775 105,067 80,246

Effect of dilutive securities: Employee stock awards 7,364 — —
Weighted-average shares used in computing Non-GAAP basic and
diluted net income (loss) per share 127,139 105,067 80,246

GAAP basic and diluted loss per share $(1.81 ) $(0.75 ) $(0.46 )
Non-GAAP basic and diluted net income (loss) per share $0.09 $(0.03 ) $(0.02 )

Components of Operating Results
Revenues

License revenues.  License revenues reflect the revenues recognized from sales of licenses to new customers and
additional licenses to existing customers. We are focused on acquiring new customers and increasing revenues from
our existing customers as they realize the value of our software by indexing higher volumes of machine data and
expanding the use of our software through additional use cases and broader deployment within their organizations. A
majority of our license revenues consists of revenues from perpetual licenses, under which we generally recognize the
license fee portion of the arrangement upfront, assuming all revenue recognition criteria are satisfied. Customers can
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the term of the license. Due to the differing revenue recognition policies applicable to perpetual and term licenses,
shifts in the mix between perpetual and term licenses from quarter to quarter could produce substantial variation in
revenues recognized even if our sales remain consistent.
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In addition, seasonal trends that contribute to increased sales activity in the fourth fiscal quarter often result in lower
sequential revenues in the first fiscal quarter, and we expect this trend to continue. Comparing our revenues on a
period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and you should not rely on our past results as an indication of our
future performance.

Maintenance and services revenues.  Maintenance and services revenues consist of revenues from maintenance
agreements and, to a lesser extent, professional services and training. Typically, when purchasing a perpetual license,
a customer also purchases one year of maintenance service for which we charge a percentage of the license fee. When
a term license is purchased, maintenance service is typically bundled with the license for the term of the license
period. Customers with maintenance agreements are entitled to receive support and unspecified upgrades and
enhancements when and if they become available during the maintenance period. We recognize the revenues
associated with maintenance agreements ratably, on a straight-line basis, over the associated maintenance period. In
arrangements involving a term license, we recognize both the license and maintenance revenues over the contract
period. We have a professional services organization focused on helping some of our largest customers deploy our
software in highly complex operational environments and train their personnel. We recognize the revenues associated
with these professional services on a time and materials basis as we deliver the services or provide the training. We
expect maintenance and services revenues to become a larger percentage of our total revenues as our installed
customer base grows.

Professional services and training revenues as a percentage of total revenues were 7% for fiscal 2015. We have
experienced continued growth in our professional services revenues primarily due to the deployment of our software
with some customers that have large, highly complex IT environments.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of license revenues.  Cost of license revenues includes all direct costs to deliver our product, including salaries,
benefits, stock-based compensation and related expenses such as employer taxes, allocated overhead for facilities and
IT and amortization of acquired intangible assets. We recognize these expenses as they are incurred.

Cost of maintenance and services revenues.  Cost of maintenance and services revenues includes salaries, benefits,
stock-based compensation and related expenses such as employer taxes for our maintenance and services organization,
allocated overhead for depreciation of equipment, facilities and IT and amortization. We recognize expenses related to
our maintenance and services organization as they are incurred.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses are classified into three categories: research and development, sales and marketing and
general and administrative. For each category, the largest component is personnel costs, which include salaries,
employee benefit costs, bonuses, commissions as applicable, stock-based compensation and related expenses such as
employer taxes. Operating expenses also include allocated overhead costs for depreciation of equipment, facilities and
IT. Allocated costs for facilities consist of leasehold improvements and rent. Our allocated costs for IT include costs
for compensation of our IT personnel and costs associated with our IT infrastructure. Operating expenses are generally
recognized as incurred.

Research and development.  Research and development expenses primarily consist of personnel and facility-related
costs attributable to our research and development personnel. We have devoted our product development efforts
primarily to enhancing the functionality and expanding the capabilities of our software and services. We expect that
our research and development expenses will continue to increase, in absolute dollars, as we increase our research and
development headcount to further strengthen and enhance our software and services and invest in the development of
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Sales and marketing.  Sales and marketing expenses primarily consist of personnel and facility-related costs for our
sales, marketing and business development personnel, commissions earned by our sales personnel, and the cost of
marketing and business development programs. We expect that sales and marketing expenses will continue to
increase, in absolute dollars, as we continue to hire additional personnel and invest in marketing programs.

General and administrative.  General and administrative expenses primarily consist of personnel and facility-related
costs for our executive, finance, legal, human resources and administrative personnel; our legal, accounting and other
professional services fees; and other corporate expenses. We anticipate continuing to incur additional expenses due to
growing our operations and being a publicly traded company, including higher legal, corporate insurance and
accounting expenses and costs related to maintaining compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and
related regulations.

Interest and other income (expense), net
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Interest and other income (expense), net consists primarily of foreign exchange gains and losses and interest income
on our investments and cash and cash equivalents balances.

Provision for income taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of federal, state and foreign income taxes. We recognize deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and
liabilities and their reported amounts using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which we expect the differences
to reverse.  We record a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amount that we are
more-likely-than-not to realize.  Because of our history of U.S. net operating losses, we have established, in prior
years, a full valuation allowance against potential future benefits for U.S. deferred tax assets including loss
carry-forwards and research and development and other tax credits.  We regularly assess the likelihood that our
deferred income tax assets will be realized based on the realization guidance available. To the extent that we believe
any amounts are not more-likely-than-not to be realized, we record a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred
income tax assets. We regularly assess the need for the valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets, and to the
extent that we determine that an adjustment is needed, such adjustment will be recorded in the period that the
determination is made.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States. The preparation of consolidated financial statements also requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses and related disclosures.
We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results could differ significantly from the estimates made by our management. To the
extent that there are differences between our estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected.

We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with revenue recognition, share-based compensation and
income taxes have the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we consider these
to be our critical accounting policies and estimates. Accordingly, we believe these are the most critical to fully
understand and evaluate our financial condition and results of operations. For further information on all of our
significant accounting policies, see Note 1 of our accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included
in Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented and as a percentage of our total
revenues for those periods. The period-to-period comparison of financial results is not necessarily indicative of
financial results to be achieved in future periods.
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Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013
(in thousands and as % of revenues )

Consolidated Statement of
Operations Data:
Revenues
License $283,191 62.8  % $199,024 65.8  % $135,922 68.3  %
Maintenance and services 167,684 37.2 103,599 34.2 63,022 31.7
Total revenues 450,875 100.0 302,623 100.0 198,944 100.0
Cost of revenues
License (1) 1,859 0.7 330 0.2 727 0.5
Maintenance and services (1) 66,519 39.7 35,495 34.3 20,697 32.8
Total cost of revenues 68,378 15.2 35,825 11.8 21,424 10.8
Gross profit 382,497 84.8 266,798 88.2 177,520 89.2
Operating expenses
Research and development 150,790 33.4 75,895 25.1 41,853 21.0
Sales and marketing 344,471 76.4 215,335 71.2 125,098 62.9
General and administrative 103,046 22.9 53,875 17.8 32,602 16.4
Total operating expenses 598,307 132.7 345,105 114.1 199,553 100.3
Operating loss (215,810 ) (47.9 ) (78,307 ) (25.9 ) (22,033 ) (11.1 )
Other income (expense), net
Interest income, net 754 0.3 225 0.1 152 0.1
Other income (expense), net 216 — (920 ) (0.3 ) — —
Change in fair value of
preferred stock warrants — — — — (14,087 ) (7.1 )

Total other income (expense),
net 970 0.3 (695 ) (0.2 ) (13,935 ) (7.0 )

Loss before income taxes (214,840 ) (47.6 ) (79,002 ) (26.1 ) (35,968 ) (18.1 )
Provision for income taxes 2,276 0.6 6 — 713 0.4
Net loss $(217,116 ) (48.2 )% $(79,008 ) (26.1 )% $(36,681 ) (18.5 )%
______________________________

(1)Calculated as a percentage of the associated revenues.
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Fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013
Revenues

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2015 to 2014
% Change

2014 to 2013
% Change2015 2014 2013

(in thousands)
Revenues
License $283,191 $199,024 $135,922 42.3 % 46.4 %
Maintenance and services 167,684 103,599 63,022 61.9 % 64.4 %
Total revenues $450,875 $302,623 $198,944 49.0 % 52.1 %
Percentage of revenues
License 62.8 % 65.8 % 68.3 %
Maintenance and services 37.2 34.2 31.7
Total 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014.   The increase in license revenues of $84.2 million was primarily driven by
increases in our total number of customers, sales to existing customers and an increase in the number of larger orders.
For example, we had 1,112 and 791 orders greater than $100,000 for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. Our total number of Splunk customers increased from approximately 7,000 at January 31, 2014 to
approximately 9,000 at January 31, 2015. The increase in maintenance and services revenues of $64.1 million was due
to increases in sales of maintenance agreements resulting from the growth of our installed customer base as well as
sales of our professional services.
Fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013.    Total revenues increased $103.7 million primarily due to growth in license
revenues. The increase in license revenues was primarily driven by increases in our total number of customers, sales to
existing customers and an increase in the number of larger orders. For example, we had 791 and 467 orders greater
than $100,000 for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Our total number of Splunk
customers increased from approximately 5,200 at January 31, 2013 to approximately 7,000 at January 31, 2014. The
increase in maintenance and services revenues was due to increases in sales of maintenance agreements resulting from
the growth of our installed customer base as well as sales of our professional services.
Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2015 to 2014
% Change

2014 to 2013
% Change2015 2014 2013

(in thousands)
Cost of revenues
License $1,859 $330 $727 463.3 % (54.6 )%
Maintenance and services 66,519 35,495 20,697 87.4 % 71.5  %
Total cost of revenues $68,378 $35,825 $21,424 90.9 % 67.2  %
Gross margin
License 99.3 % 99.8 % 99.5 %
Maintenance and services 60.3 % 65.7 % 67.2 %
Total gross margin 84.8 % 88.2 % 89.2 %

Fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014.    Total cost of revenues increased $32.6 million due to a $31.0 million increase
in cost of maintenance and services revenues and a $1.5 million increase in cost of license revenue. The increase in
cost of maintenance and services revenues was primarily related to an increase of $22.0 million in salaries and
benefits expense due to increased headcount, which also includes an $11.9 million increase in stock-based
compensation expense. We also had an increase of $5.5 million related to third-party consulting services and an
increase of $3.5 million related to overhead costs. Gross margin on maintenance and services decreased primarily due
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Fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013.    Total cost of revenues increased $14.4 million due to a $14.8 million increase
in cost of maintenance and services revenues, slightly offset by the decrease in cost of license revenue. The increase in
cost of maintenance and services revenues was primarily related to an increase of $9.1 million in salaries and benefits
expense due to increased headcount, which also includes a $4.1 million increase in stock-based compensation
expense. We also had a $2.1 million impairment charge of a long-lived asset for previously capitalized Splunk Storm
software development costs, as a result of our decision to make Splunk Storm available to customers at no cost during
the third fiscal quarter of 2014. We also had an increase of $1.1 million related to overhead costs and an increase of
$1.0 million related to consulting fees. Total gross margin decreased slightly due to the $2.1 million impairment
charge related to Splunk Storm, as discussed above.
Operating Expenses

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2015 to 2014
% Change

2014 to 2013
% Change2015 2014 2013

(in thousands)
Operating expenses (1)
Research and development $150,790 $75,895 $41,853 98.7 % 81.3 %
Sales and marketing 344,471 215,335 125,098 60.0 % 72.1 %
General and administrative 103,046 53,875 32,602 91.3 % 65.3 %
Total operating expenses $598,307 $345,105 $199,553 73.4 % 72.9 %
Percentage of revenues
Research and development 33.4 % 25.1 % 21.0 %
Sales and marketing 76.4 71.2 62.9
General and administrative 22.9 17.8 16.4
Total 132.7 % 114.1 % 100.3 %

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense:
Research and development $60,777 $20,829 $6,170
Sales and marketing 90,064 30,012 8,093
General and administrative 46,149 13,244 4,000
Total stock-based
compensation expense $196,990 $64,085 $18,263

Research and development expense
Fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014.    Research and development expense increased $74.9 million due to a
$62.9 million increase in salaries and benefits as we increased headcount as part of our focus on further developing
and enhancing our products. The increase in salaries and benefits also includes a $39.9 million increase in stock-based
compensation expense. We had an increase of $9.0 million related to overhead costs primarily due to IT related costs
to support our growing headcount, and a $2.3 million increase related to payroll taxes, also as a result of increased
headcount.
Fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013.    Research and development expense increased $34.0 million due to a
$28.2 million increase in salaries and benefits as we increased headcount as part of our focus on further developing
and enhancing our products. The increase in salaries and benefits also includes a $14.7 million increase in stock-based
compensation expense. We also had a $3.6 million increase in research and development expense related to overhead
costs, also as a result of increased headcount, and an increase of $1.2 million related to consulting fees.
Sales and marketing expense
Fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014.    Sales and marketing expense increased $129.1 million primarily due to a $98.6
million increase in salaries and benefits as we increased headcount to expand our field sales organization and
experienced higher commission expense as a result of increased customer orders. The increase in salaries and benefits
also includes a $60.1 million increase in stock-based compensation expense. We also incurred a $15.9 million increase
related to overhead costs primarily due to IT related costs to support our growing headcount, and a $7.4 million
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Fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013.    Sales and marketing expense increased $90.2 million primarily due to a $74.1
million increase in salaries and benefits as we increased headcount to expand our field sales organization and
experienced higher commission expense as a result of increased customer orders. The increase in salaries and benefits
also includes a $21.9 million increase in stock-based compensation expense. We also incurred a $6.7 million increase
due to increased facilities and overhead expense and a $3.5 million increase in travel expenses as a result of
international expansion and increased headcount. Finally, we also incurred a $2.7 million increase due to marketing
events and increased advertising, a $2.0 million increase related to our sales kickoff and an increase of $0.8 million
related to consulting fees.
General and administrative expense
Fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014.    General and administrative expense increased $49.2 million primarily due to
an increase of $44.9 million related to salaries and benefits from increased headcount, which includes a $32.9 million
increase in stock-based compensation expense, in part due to an acceleration of stock-based compensation expense of
$13.1 million related to the return of two restricted stock unit grants from our Chief Executive Officer, covering a total
of 242,500 unvested shares of our common stock. We also incurred an increase of $3.4 million related to accounting
and legal activities to support the overall growth of the business.
Fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013.    General and administrative expense increased $21.3 million primarily due to
an increase of $20.4 million related to salaries and benefits driven by an increase in headcount for accounting and
legal activities to support the overall growth of the business and our international expansion efforts. The increase in
salaries and benefits includes a $9.2 million increase in stock compensation expense.
Interest and Other Income (Expense), net

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2015 to 2014
% Change

2014 to 2013
% Change2015 2014 2013

(in thousands)
Interest and other income
(expense), net
Interest income, net $754 $225 $152
Other income (expense), net 216 (920 ) —
Change in fair value of
preferred stock warrants — — (14,087 )

Total interest and other
income (expense), net $970 $(695 ) $(13,935 ) * *

______________________
*Not meaningful
Fiscal 2015 compared to fiscal 2014.   Interest and other income (expense), net reflects a net increase in income due to
an increase in interest income from our investments and higher foreign currency exchange gains compared to the same
period last year.
Fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013.   Interest and other income (expense), net reflects a net decrease in expense due
to the absence of any warrant re-measurement expense, as we recorded the final revaluation of our preferred stock
warrants in conjunction with the completion of our IPO during the first fiscal quarter of 2013.
Provision for Income Taxes

Fiscal Year Ended January 31, 2015 to 2014
% Change

2014 to 2013
% Change2015 2014 2013

(in thousands)
Provision for income taxes $2,276 $6 $713 * *
______________________
*Not meaningful
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of the
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valuation allowance as a result of a prior year acquisition. We recorded income taxes that were principally attributable
to foreign and state taxes.
Fiscal 2014 compared to fiscal 2013.   The decrease in the provision for income taxes was primarily due to an increase
in tax expense from increased activity in our foreign operations, partially offset by a partial release of our deferred tax
asset valuation allowance related to our acquisitions. We recorded income taxes that were principally attributable to
foreign and state taxes.
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Quarterly Results of Operations
The following table sets forth our unaudited quarterly statements of operations data for the last eight fiscal quarters.
The information for each of these quarters has been prepared on the same basis as the audited annual financial
statements included elsewhere in this annual report and, in the opinion of management, includes all adjustments,
which includes only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of the results of operations for
these periods. This data should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and related
notes included elsewhere in this annual report. These quarterly operating results are not necessarily indicative of our
operating results for any future period.

Three Months Ended
Jan 31,
2015

Oct 31,
2014

July 31,
2014

Apr 30,
2014

Jan 31,
2014

Oct 31,
2013

July 31,
2013

Apr 30,
2013

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Consolidated
Statement of
Operations Data:
Revenues
License $98,082 $71,754 $62,081 $51,274 $68,794 $50,873 $43,185 $36,172
Maintenance and
services 49,310 44,275 39,466 34,633 31,116 27,760 23,688 21,035

Total revenues 147,392 116,029 101,547 85,907 99,910 78,633 66,873 57,207
Cost of revenues
License 1,174 535 72 78 101 84 76 69
Maintenance and
services 20,366 17,045 14,999 14,109 11,097 10,441 7,345 6,612

Total cost of revenues
(1) 21,540 17,580 15,071 14,187 11,198 10,525 7,421 6,681

Gross profit 125,852 98,449 86,476 71,720 88,712 68,108 59,452 50,526
Operating expenses
Research and
development (1) 47,335 39,534 34,179 29,742 26,260 18,961 16,210 14,464

Sales and marketing
(1) 107,695 85,720 79,978 71,078 76,336 53,052 44,634 41,313

General and
administrative (1) 27,921 21,446 32,676 21,003 18,600 12,917 11,912 10,446

Total operating
expenses 182,951 146,700 146,833 121,823 121,196 84,930 72,756 66,223

Operating loss (57,099 ) (48,251 ) (60,357 ) (50,103 ) (32,484 ) (16,822 ) (13,304 ) (15,697 )
Interest and other
income (expense), net
Interest income, net 262 199 163 130 51 55 58 61
Other income
(expense), net 542 (52 ) (54 ) (220 ) (461 ) (283 ) (82 ) (94 )

Total interest and other
income (expense), net 804 147 109 (90 ) (410 ) (228 ) (24 ) (33 )

Loss before income
taxes (56,295 ) (48,104 ) (60,248 ) (50,193 ) (32,894 ) (17,050 ) (13,328 ) (15,730 )

Income tax provision
(benefit) 733 447 534 562 (263 ) (500 ) 365 404
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Net loss $(57,028 ) $(48,551 ) $(60,782 ) $(50,755 ) $(32,631 ) $(16,550 ) $(13,693 ) $(16,134 )

Net loss per share,
basic and diluted: $(0.47 ) $(0.40 ) $(0.51 ) $(0.43 ) $(0.30 ) $(0.16 ) $(0.13 ) $(0.16 )

(1)Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:
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Three Months Ended
Jan 31,
2015

Oct 31,
2014

July 31,
2014

Apr 30,
2014

Jan 31,
2014

Oct 31,
2013

July 31,
2013

Apr 30,
2013

(in thousands)
Cost of revenues $5,536 $4,039 $3,808 $3,806 $2,548 $1,165 $865 $705
Research and
development 19,260 15,352 13,578 12,587 9,834 4,405 3,547 3,043

Sales and marketing 28,606 21,075 21,263 19,120 14,587 5,947 5,156 4,322
General and
administrative 9,792 7,770 20,861 7,726 6,275 2,815 2,389 1,765

Three Months Ended
Jan 31,
2015

Oct 31,
2014

July 31,
2014

Apr 30,
2014

Jan 31,
2014

Oct 31,
2013

July 31,
2013

Apr 30,
2013

(as % of revenues)
Consolidated
Statement of
Operations Data:
Revenues
License 66.5  % 61.8  % 61.1  % 59.7  % 68.9  % 64.7  % 64.6  % 63.2  %
Maintenance and
services 33.5 38.2 38.9 40.3 31.1 35.3 35.4 36.8

Total revenues 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
Cost of revenues
License (1) 1.2 0.7 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.2
Maintenance and
services (1) 41.3 38.5 38.0 40.7 35.7 37.6 31.0 31.4

Total cost of
revenues 14.6 15.2 14.8 16.5 11.2 13.4 11.1 11.7

Gross profit 85.4 84.8 85.2 83.5 88.8 86.6 88.9 88.3
Operating expenses
Research and
development 32.1 34.1 33.7 34.6 26.3 24.1 24.2 25.3

Sales and marketing 73.1 73.8 78.7 82.8 76.4 67.5 66.8 72.1
General and
administrative 18.9 18.5 32.2 24.4 18.6 16.4 17.8 18.3

Total operating
expenses 124.1 126.4 144.6 141.8 121.3 108.0 108.8 115.7

Operating loss (38.7 ) (41.6 ) (59.4 ) (58.3 ) (32.5 ) (21.4 ) (19.9 ) (27.4 )
Interest and other
income (expense),
net
Interest income, net 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Other income
(expense), net 0.3 — (0.1 ) (0.3 ) (0.5 ) (0.4 ) (0.1 ) (0.2 )

Total interest and
other income
(expense), net

0.5 0.2 0.1 (0.1 ) (0.4 ) (0.3 ) — (0.1 )

(38.2 ) (41.4 ) (59.3 ) (58.4 ) (32.9 ) (21.7 ) (19.9 ) (27.5 )

Edgar Filing: SPLUNK INC - Form 10-K

94



Loss before income
taxes
Income tax provision
(benefit) 0.5 0.4 0.5 0.7 (0.3 ) (0.6 ) 0.5 0.7

Net loss (38.7 )% (41.8 )% (59.8 )% (59.1 )% (32.6 )% (21.1 )% (20.4 )% (28.2 )%

(1) This percentage is calculated as a percentage of the associated revenues.
Seasonality, Cyclicality and Quarterly Trends
Our quarterly results reflect seasonality in the sale of our products and services. Historically, a pattern of increased
license sales in the fourth fiscal quarter as a result of industry buying patterns has positively impacted sales activity in
that period, which can result in lower sequential revenue in the first fiscal quarter. We expect this seasonality to
continue in fiscal 2016 and beyond. Our gross margins and operating losses have been affected by these historical
trends because the majority of our expenses are relatively fixed in the short term. The timing of revenues in relation to
our expenses, much of which does not vary directly with revenues, has an impact on the cost of revenues, research and
development expense, sales and marketing
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expense, and general and administrative expense as a percentage of revenues in each fiscal quarter during the year.
The majority of our expenses are personnel-related and include salaries, stock-based compensation, benefits and
incentive-based compensation plan expenses. As a result, we have not experienced significant seasonal fluctuations in
the timing of expenses from period to period. Although these seasonal factors are common in the technology industry,
historical patterns should not be considered a reliable indicator of our future sales activity or performance.
As is typical in the software industry, we expect a significant portion of our product license orders to be received in
the last month of each fiscal quarter. We typically ship products shortly after the receipt of an order. We may have
backlog consisting of product license orders that have not shipped and maintenance, professional and training services
that have not been billed and for which the services have not yet been performed. Historically, our backlog has varied
from quarter to quarter and has been immaterial to our total revenues.
Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of January 31,
2015 2014 2013
(in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $387,315 $897,453 $305,939
Investments, current portion 462,849 — —
Investments, non-current 165,082 — —

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013
(in thousands)

Cash provided by operating activities $103,980 $73,848 $46,648
Cash used in investing activities (645,160 ) (39,046 ) (8,563 )
Cash provided by financing activities 31,610 556,699 236,235
Since fiscal 2010 we have funded our operations primarily through cash generated from operations. In addition, we
received funding in our initial public offering in April 2012 and our follow-on offering in January 2014. At
January 31, 2015, our cash and cash equivalents of $387.3 million were held for working capital purposes, a majority
of which were invested in money market funds. We intend to increase our capital expenditures in fiscal 2016,
consistent with the growth in our business and operations. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will
be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will
depend on many factors including our growth rate, the timing and extent of spending to support development efforts,
the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the introduction of new and enhanced software and services offerings,
the continuing market acceptance of our products and our planned investments, particularly in our product
development efforts or acquisitions of complementary businesses, applications or technologies.
Operating Activities
For fiscal 2015, cash inflows from our operating activities were $104.0 million, which reflects our net loss of $217.1
million, adjusted by non-cash charges of $226.3 million consisting primarily of $214.2 million for stock-based
compensation and $12.5 million for depreciation and amortization. Additional sources of cash inflows were from
changes in our working capital, including a $111.8 million increase in deferred revenue due to increased sales of our
license and subscription products and the related product support agreements and a $21.3 million increase in accrued
payroll and compensation driven by higher commissions expense related to increased sales. We also had cash inflows
due to a $16.3 million increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities due to the overall growth of our business and
a $1.8 million increase in accounts payable. These cash inflows were offset by cash outflows including a $45.1 million
increase in accounts receivable due to increased sales and a $11.3 million increase in prepaid expenses and other
current assets primarily due to purchases of software subscriptions to support our growing headcount.
For fiscal 2014, cash inflows from our operating activities were $73.8 million, which reflects our net loss of $79.0
million, adjusted by non-cash charges of $77.8 million consisting primarily of $69.4 million for stock-based
compensation, and $6.7 million for depreciation and amortization. Additional sources of cash inflows were from
changes in our working capital, including a $77.4 million increase in deferred revenue due to increased sales of our
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related to increased sales. We also had a $2.5 million increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities due to the
overall growth of our business and a $0.2 million increase in
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accounts payable. These cash inflows were offset by cash outflows including a $19.4 million increase in accounts
receivable due to increased sales and $1.4 million related to an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets.
For fiscal 2013, cash inflows from our operating activities were $46.6 million, which reflects our net loss of $36.7
million, adjusted by non-cash charges of $37.8 million consisting primarily of $19.5 million for stock-based
compensation, $14.1 million for the change in valuation of preferred stock warrants and $4.7 million for depreciation
and amortization. Additional sources of cash inflows were from changes in our working capital, including a $62.0
million increase in deferred revenue, a $12.0 million increase in accrued payroll and compensation, a $3.4 million
increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities and a $0.2 million increase in accounts payable. These cash inflows
were offset by cash outflows including a $29.5 million increase in accounts receivable due to increased sales and $2.7
million related to an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets.
Investing Activities
Our investing activities consist primarily of capital expenditures to purchase property and equipment, strategic
investments and changes in our restricted cash. In the future, we expect to continue to invest in capital expenditures to
support our expanding operations.
During fiscal 2015, cash used in investing activities of $645.2 million was primarily attributable to $820.7 million of
investments in U.S. treasury securities, $14.0 million of capital expenditures for the purchase of technology and
hardware as well as purchases related to our facilities and infrastructure and $2.5 million which was used for a
technology asset acquisition. These cash outflows were partially offset by $192.0 million cash inflow due to the
maturities of our investments.

During fiscal 2014, cash used in investing activities of $39.0 million was primarily attributable to $29.7 million of
cash purchase price paid, net of cash acquired, for our acquisitions and $9.3 million of capital expenditures for
technology and hardware, as well as leasehold improvements on our corporate headquarters in San Francisco,
California to support the growth of our business.
During fiscal 2013, cash used in investing activities was primarily attributable to capital expenditures for technology
hardware to support the growth of our business, as well as leasehold improvements on our corporate and international
offices.
Financing Activities
For fiscal 2015, cash provided by financing activities of $31.6 million consisted primarily of $16.8 million of
proceeds from the exercise of stock options, $14.5 million of proceeds received from the issuance of stock related to
our equity incentive plans, and $0.8 million from excess tax benefits from employee stock plans, partially offset by a
$0.5 million payment related to our build-to-suit lease obligation.
For fiscal 2014, cash provided by financing activities of $556.7 million consisted primarily of $539.3 million of
proceeds from our follow-on offering, net of paid underwriter discount, and issuance costs and $35.1 million of
proceeds received from the issuance of stock related to our equity incentive plans. These increases were partially
offset by $18.2 million of taxes paid related to the net settlement of RSUs.

For fiscal 2013, cash provided by financing activities of $236.2 million consisted primarily of initial public offering
proceeds of $225.2 million, net of paid underwriter discount and issuance costs, $6.9 million from exercises of stock
options and $5.3 million from proceeds received from our employee stock purchase plan. These increases were
partially offset by $2.3 million related to the repayment of a term loan.
Loan and Security Agreement
On May 9, 2013 we entered into a Loan Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank. The agreement provides for a revolving
line of credit facility, which expires May 9, 2015. Under the agreement, we are able to borrow up to $25 million.
Interest on any drawdown under the revolving line of credit accrues either at the prime rate (3.25% in January 2015)
or the LIBOR rate plus 2.75%. As of January 31, 2015, we had no balance outstanding under this agreement. The
agreement includes restrictive covenants, in each case subject to certain exceptions, that limit our ability to: sell or
otherwise dispose of our business or property; change our business, liquidate or dissolve or undergo a change in
control; enter into mergers, consolidations and acquisitions; incur indebtedness; create liens; pay dividends or make
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certain terms thereof; or become an investment company. We were in compliance with all covenants as of January 31,
2015.

Contractual Payment Obligations
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We lease our office spaces under non-cancelable leases with rent expense recognized on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Rent expense was $10.5 million, $6.4 million and $3.9 million during fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013,
respectively,

On April 29, 2014, we entered into an office lease (the "Lease") for approximately 182,000 square feet located at 270
Brannan Street, San Francisco, California (the "Premises"). The Premises will be allocated to approximately 95,000
square feet of rentable space (the "Initial Premises") which we expect to occupy in January 2016 and approximately
87,000 square feet of rentable space (the "Must-Take Premises"), which we expect to occupy one year thereafter. The
Initial Premises and the Must-Take Premises each have a term of 84 months, subject to the completion of certain
pre-occupancy improvements by our landlord. Our total obligation for the base rent is approximately $92.0 million.
On May 13, 2014, we entered into an irrevocable, standby letter of credit with Silicon Valley Bank for $6.0 million to
serve as a security deposit for the Lease.

As a result of our involvement during the construction period, whereby we have certain indemnification obligations
related to the construction, we are considered for accounting purposes only, the owner of the construction project
under build-to-suit lease accounting. We have recorded estimated project construction costs incurred by the landlord
as an asset and a corresponding long term liability in “Property and equipment, net” and “Other liabilities, non-current”
respectively, on our consolidated balance sheets. We will increase the asset and corresponding long term liability as
additional building costs are incurred by the landlord during the construction period. Once the landlord completes the
construction of the Initial Premises, which is estimated to be in January 2016, we will evaluate the Lease in order to
determine whether or not the Lease meets the criteria for “sale-leaseback” treatment.

The following summarizes our contractual commitments and obligations as of January 31, 2015:
Payments Due by Period*

Total Less Than 1
year 1-3 years 3-5 years More Than 5

years
(in thousands)

Office lease obligations $146,444 $10,594 $40,010 $39,961 $55,879
 _________________________
*We entered into a sublease agreement on November 16, 2012 for a portion of our office space in the United
Kingdom, and the future sublease rental income of $0.8 million has been included as an offset to our future minimum
rental payments.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
During fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or financial
partnerships, such as structured finance or special purpose entities, that have been established for the purpose of
facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
Indemnification Arrangements
During the ordinary course of business, we may indemnify, hold harmless and agree to reimburse for losses suffered
or incurred, our customers, vendors and their affiliates for certain intellectual property infringement and other claims
by third parties with respect to our products and services, in connection with our commercial end-user license
arrangements or related to general business dealings with those parties.

As permitted under Delaware law, we have entered into indemnification agreements with our officers and directors,
indemnifying them for certain events or occurrences while they serve as officers or directors of the company.

To date, there have not been any costs incurred in connection with such indemnification obligations; therefore, there is
no accrual of such amounts at January 31, 2015. We are unable to estimate the maximum potential impact of these
indemnifications on our future results of operations.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

We had cash and cash equivalents of $387.3 million as of January 31, 2015. We hold our cash and cash equivalents
for working capital purposes. Our cash and cash equivalents are held in cash deposits and money market funds. Due to
the short-term nature of these instruments, we believe that we do not have any material exposure to changes in the fair
value of our
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investment portfolio as a result of changes in interest rates. Declines in interest rates, however, would reduce future
interest income.

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while maximizing yields without
significantly increasing risk. This objective is accomplished by making diversified investments, consisting only of
investment grade securities. During the fiscal years ended January 31, 2015 and 2014, the effect of a hypothetical 10%
increase or decrease in overall interest rates would not have had a material impact on our interest income.

Any draws under our revolving credit facility bear interest at a variable rate tied to the prime rate or the LIBOR rate.
As of January 31, 2015, we had no balance outstanding under this agreement.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
All of our revenues are generated in U.S. dollars. Our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies in which
our operations are located, which is primarily in the United States and to a lesser extent in Europe and Asia. Our
results of operations and cash flows are, therefore, subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange
rates and may be adversely affected in the future due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The effect of a hypothetical
10% change in foreign currency exchange rates applicable to our business would not have a material impact on our
historical consolidated financial statements. To date, we have not engaged in any hedging strategies. As our
international operations grow, we will continue to reassess our approach to manage our risk relating to fluctuations in
currency rates.

Inflation

We do not believe that inflation had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations in
the last three fiscal years. If our costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able
to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 1 of our accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Splunk Inc.
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The supplementary financial information required by this Item 8, is included in Part II, Item 7 under the caption
"Quarterly Results of Operations," which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Splunk Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations,
of comprehensive loss, of convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit) and of cash flows present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Splunk Inc. and its subsidiaries at January 31, 2015 and 2014,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 31, 2015
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 31,
2015, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is responsible for
these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management's Annual Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these
financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits (which were
integrated audits in 2015 and 2014). We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements
included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
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Splunk Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

January 31,
2015

January 31,
2014

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $387,315 $897,453
Investments, current portion 462,849 —
Accounts receivable, net 128,413 83,348
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 21,256 12,019
Total current assets 999,833 992,820
Investments, non-current 165,082 —
Property and equipment, net 50,374 15,505
Intangible assets, net 10,416 12,294
Goodwill 19,070 19,070
Other assets 3,016 642
Total assets $1,247,791 $1,040,331
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $3,726 $2,079
Accrued payroll and compensation 65,220 43,876
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 27,819 12,743
Deferred revenue, current portion 249,883 149,156
Total current liabilities 346,648 207,854
Deferred revenue, non-current 54,202 43,165
Other liabilities, non-current 33,620 4,404
Total non-current liabilities 87,822 47,569
Total liabilities 434,470 255,423
Commitments and contingencies (Note 3)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock: $0.001 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued
or outstanding at January 31, 2015 and January 31, 2014 — —

Common stock: $0.001 par value; 1,000,000,000 shares authorized; 123,538,492
shares issued and outstanding at January 31, 2015, and 116,099,516 shares issued
and outstanding at January 31, 2014

123 116

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (837 ) 58
Additional paid-in capital 1,200,858 954,441
Accumulated deficit (386,823 ) (169,707 )
Total stockholders’ equity 813,321 784,908
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,247,791 $1,040,331

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

60

Edgar Filing: SPLUNK INC - Form 10-K

106



Table of Contents
Splunk Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

Revenues
License $283,191 $199,024 $135,922
Maintenance and services 167,684 103,599 63,022
Total revenues 450,875 302,623 198,944
Cost of revenues (1)
License 1,859 330 727
Maintenance and services 66,519 35,495 20,697
Total cost of revenues 68,378 35,825 21,424
Gross profit 382,497 266,798 177,520
Operating expenses (1)
Research and development 150,790 75,895 41,853
Sales and marketing 344,471 215,335 125,098
General and administrative 103,046 53,875 32,602
Total operating expenses 598,307 345,105 199,553
Operating loss (215,810 ) (78,307 ) (22,033 )
Interest and other income (expense), net
Interest income, net 754 225 152
Other income (expense), net 216 (920 ) —
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrants — — (14,087 )
Total interest and other income (expense), net 970 (695 ) (13,935 )
Loss before income taxes (214,840 ) (79,002 ) (35,968 )
Provision for income taxes 2,276 6 713
Net loss $(217,116 ) $(79,008 ) $(36,681 )

Basic and diluted net loss per share $(1.81 ) $(0.75 ) $(0.46 )

Weighted-average shares used in computing basic and diluted net
loss per share 119,775 105,067 80,246

(1)      Amounts include stock-based compensation expense, as follows: 
Cost of revenues $17,189 $5,283 $1,217
Research and development 60,777 20,829 6,170
Sales and marketing 90,064 30,012 8,093
General and administrative 46,149 13,244 4,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Splunk Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

Net loss $(217,116 ) $(79,008 ) $(36,681 )
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Net unrealized gain on investments 2 — —
Foreign currency translation adjustments (897 ) 193 (111 )
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (895 ) 193 (111 )
Comprehensive loss $(218,011 ) $(78,815 ) $(36,792 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Splunk Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Convertible
Preferred Stock -
Series A, B, C

Common Stock

(in thousands,
except share
amounts)

Shares Amount Shares Amount
Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders'
Equity
(Deficit)

Balances at
January 31, 2012 56,930,194 $40,913 23,092,407 $23 $12,373 $ (24 ) $ (54,018 ) $ (41,646 )

Stock-based
compensation — — — — 19,480 — — 19,480

Issuance of
common stock upon
exercise of options

— — 5,529,112 6 6,890 — — 6,896

Conversion of
preferred stock to
common stock upon
initial public
offering

(56,930,194) (40,913 ) 56,930,194 57 40,856 — — 40,913

Issuance of
common stock upon
initial public
offering

— — 14,532,278 15 225,210 — — 225,225

Issuance of
common stock upon
early exercise of
warrants

— — 466,714 — 631 — — 631

Reclassification of
preferred stock
warrant liability to
additional paid-in
capital upon initial
public offering

— — — — 16,220 — — 16,220

Vesting of early
exercised options — — — — 845 — — 845

Vesting of restricted
stock units — — 2,125 — — — — —

Common stock
issued upon ESPP
purchase

— — 367,520 — 5,310 — — 5,310

Excess tax benefits
from employee

— — — — 462 — — 462
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Net change in
cumulative
translation
adjustment

— — — — — (111 ) — (111 )

Net loss — — — — — — (36,681 ) (36,681 )
Balances at
January 31, 2013 — — 100,920,350 101 328,277 (135 ) (90,699 ) 237,544

Stock-based
compensation — — — — 69,368 — — 69,368

Issuance of
common stock upon
exercise of options

— — 7,254,049 7 23,724 — — 23,731

Vesting of early
exercised options — — — — 112 — — 112

Vesting of restricted
stock units — — 475,111 — — — — —

Taxes withholding
related to net share
settlement of equity
awards

— — — — (18,156 ) — — (18,156 )

Issuance of
common stock upon
ESPP purchase

— — 550,006 1 11,433 — — 11,434
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Splunk Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Excess tax benefits
from employee stock
plans

— — — — 351 — — 351

Net change in
cumulative translation
adjustments

— — — — — 193 — 193

Issuance of common
stock in connection
with follow-on
offering, net of
offering costs

— — 6,900,000 7 539,332 — — 539,339

Net loss — — — — — — (79,008 ) (79,008 )
Balances at
January 31, 2014 — — 116,099,516 116 954,441 58 (169,707 ) 784,908

Stock-based
compensation — — — — 214,179 — — 214,179

Issuance of common
stock upon exercise of
options

— — 4,213,746 4 16,788 — — 16,792

Vesting of early
exercised options — — — — 112 — — 112

Vesting of restricted
stock units — — 2,862,027 3 (3 ) — — —

Issuance of common
stock upon ESPP
purchase

— — 363,203 — 14,494 — — 14,494

Excess tax benefits
from employee stock
plans

— — — — 847 — — 847

Unrealized gain from
investments — — — — — 2 — 2

Net change in
cumulative translation
adjustments

— — — — — (897 ) — (897 )

Net loss — — — — — — (217,116 ) (217,116 )
Balances at
January 31, 2015 — $— 123,538,492 $123 $1,200,858 $(837 ) $(386,823) $813,321

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Splunk Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $(217,116 ) $(79,008 ) $(36,681 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 12,494 6,692 4,674
Amortization of investment premiums 775 — —
Shared-based compensation expense 214,179 69,368 19,480
Deferred income taxes (327 ) (1,374 ) (281 )
Excess tax benefits from employee stock plans (847 ) (351 ) (462 )
Impairment of long-lived asset — 2,128 —
Change in fair value of preferred stock warrants — — 14,087
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisition:
Accounts receivable, net (45,065 ) (19,400 ) (29,453 )
Prepaid expenses, other current and non-current assets (11,284 ) (6 ) (2,377 )
Accounts payable 1,766 171 187
Accrued compensation 21,344 15,753 11,981
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 16,297 2,454 3,446
Deferred revenue 111,764 77,421 62,047
Net cash provided by operating activities 103,980 73,848 46,648
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of investments (820,710 ) — —
Maturities of investments 192,000 — —
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (2,500 ) (29,738 ) —
Change in restricted cash — — 514
Purchases of property and equipment (13,950 ) (9,308 ) (9,077 )
Net cash used in investing activities (645,160 ) (39,046 ) (8,563 )
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of term debt — — (2,289 )
Proceeds from initial public offering, net of offering costs — — 225,225
Proceeds from exercise of warrant — — 631
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 16,792 23,731 6,896
Excess tax benefits from employee stock plans 847 351 462
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 14,494 11,434 5,310
Proceeds from follow-on offering, net of offering costs — 539,339 —
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards — (18,156 ) —
Payment related to build-to-suit lease obligation (523 ) — —
Net cash provided by financing activities 31,610 556,699 236,235
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (568 ) 13 20
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (510,138 ) 591,514 274,340
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of period 897,453 305,939 31,599
End of period $387,315 $897,453 $305,939
Supplemental disclosures
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Cash paid for interest $— $— $40
Cash paid for income taxes 1,080 490 118
Non-cash investing and financing activities
Accrued purchases of property and equipment 1,057 1,265 467
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock — — 40,913
Vesting of early exercised options 112 112 845
Deferred offering costs not yet paid — 344 —
Capitalized construction costs related to build-to-suit lease 29,360 — —
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1)  Description of the Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Business

Splunk Inc. (“we,” "us," "our") provides innovative software products that enable organizations to gain real-time
operational intelligence by harnessing the value of their data. Our products enable users to collect, index, search,
explore, monitor and analyze data regardless of format or source. Our products address large and diverse data sets,
commonly referred to as big data, and are specifically tailored for machine-generated data. Machine data is produced
by nearly every software application and electronic device and contains a definitive, time-stamped record of various
activities, such as transactions, customer and user activities and security threats. Our products help users derive new
insights from machine data that can be used to, among other things, improve service levels, reduce operational costs,
mitigate security risks, demonstrate and maintain compliance, and drive better business decisions. We were
incorporated in California in October 2003 and reincorporated in Delaware in May 2006.

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal year ends on January 31. References to fiscal 2015, for example, refer to the fiscal year ended January 31,
2015.

Follow-on Offering

In January 2014, we closed a follow-on offering of 6,900,000 shares of common stock, including 900,000 shares of
common stock from the full exercise of the overallotment option of shares granted to the underwriters. The public
offering price of the shares sold in the offering was $81.00 per share. The total gross proceeds from the offering to us
were $558.9 million. After deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $19.6 million, we received
approximately $539.3 million.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods covered by the financial statements and accompanying
notes. In particular, we make estimates with respect to the fair value of multiple elements in revenue recognition,
uncollectible accounts receivable, the assessment of the useful life and recoverability of long-lived assets (property
and equipment, goodwill and identified intangibles), stock-based compensation expense, the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed for business combinations, income taxes and contingencies. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Segments
We operate our business as one operating segment: the development and marketing of software products that enable
our customers to gain real-time operational intelligence by harnessing the value of their data. Our chief operating
decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer, who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis
for purposes of making operating decisions, assessing financial performance and allocating resources.
Principles of Consolidation
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Splunk Inc. and its direct and indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is the respective local currency. Translation adjustments arising
from the use of differing exchange rates from period to period are included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Loss within Stockholders' Equity. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in Other Income
(Expense), Net and were not material for the three years ended January 31, 2015. All assets and liabilities
denominated in a foreign currency are translated
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into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Expenses are translated at the average exchange rate
during the period. Equity transactions are translated using historical exchange rates.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenues primarily in the form of software license fees and related maintenance and services fees.
License fees include perpetual license fees, term license fees and royalties. Maintenance and services primarily consist
of fees for maintenance services (including support and unspecified upgrades and enhancements when and if they are
available), training, professional services that are not essential to functionality and subscription software services.

We recognize revenues when all of the following conditions are met:

•there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement; 

•the software or services have been delivered to the customer; 

• the amount of fees to be paid by the customer is fixed or determinable;
and 

•the collection of the related fees is probable.

Signed agreements are used as evidence of an arrangement. If a contract signed by the customer does not exist, we use
a purchase order as evidence of an arrangement. In cases where both a signed contract and a purchase order exist, we
consider the signed contract to be the final persuasive evidence of an arrangement. Electronic delivery occurs when
we provide the customer with access to the software via a license key. We assess whether a fee is fixed or
determinable at the outset of the arrangement, primarily based on the payment terms associated with the transaction.
We do not generally offer extended payment terms with typical terms of payment due between 30 and 60 days from
delivery of software. We assess collectability of the fee based on a number of factors such as collection history and
creditworthiness of the customer. If we determine that collectability is not probable, revenue is deferred until
collectability becomes probable, generally upon receipt of cash.

When contracts contain software-related multiple elements wherein vendor specific objective evidence ("VSOE")
exists for all undelivered elements and the services, if any, are not essential to the functionality of the delivered
elements, we account for the delivered elements in accordance with the "Residual Method." Perpetual license
arrangements are typically accompanied by maintenance agreements. Maintenance revenues consist of fees for
providing software updates on a when and if available basis and technical support for software products
("post-contract support" or "PCS") for an initial term. Maintenance revenues are recognized ratably over the term of
the agreement. We have established fair value for maintenance on perpetual licenses due to consistently priced
standalone sales of maintenance. Revenues related to term license fees are recognized ratably over the contract term
beginning on the date the customer has access to the software license key and continuing through the end of the
contract term. In these cases we do not have VSOE of fair value for maintenance as fees for support and maintenance
are bundled with the license over the entire term of the contract.

License arrangements may also include professional services and training services, which are typically delivered early
in the contract term. In determining whether professional services revenues should be accounted for separately from
license revenues, we evaluate whether the professional services are considered essential to the functionality of the
software using factors such as the nature of our software products; whether they are ready for use by the customer
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upon receipt; the nature of our implementation services, which typically do not involve significant customization to or
development of the underlying software code; the availability of services from other vendors; whether the timing of
payments for license revenues is coincident with performance of services; and whether milestones or acceptance
criteria exist that affect the realizability of the software license fee. Substantially all of our professional services
arrangements are billed on a time and materials basis and, accordingly, are recognized as the services are performed.
Training revenues are recognized as training services are delivered. VSOE of fair value of professional and training
services is based upon stand-alone sales of those services. Payments received in advance of services performed are
deferred and recognized when the related services are performed.

We are unable to establish VSOE of fair value for all undelivered elements in certain multiple element arrangements
due to the lack of VSOE for maintenance services that are generally bundled with term licenses. In these instances, all
revenue is recognized ratably over the period that the services are expected to be performed, commencing when all
service periods have started. In arrangements where the expected service periods of maintenance services and
professional or training services differ, we recognize all revenue over the longer of the expected service periods,
which is generally the maintenance period.

67

Edgar Filing: SPLUNK INC - Form 10-K

118



Table of Contents
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We do not offer credits or refunds and therefore have not recorded any sales return allowance for any of the periods
presented. Upon a periodic review of outstanding accounts receivable, amounts that are deemed to be uncollectible are
written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. Our policy is to record revenues net of any applicable sales,
use or excise taxes.

We recognize revenues from the indirect sales channel upon sell-through by the partner or distributor. Sell-through is
determined when we receive an order form from a reseller for a specific end-user sale. We do not offer right of return,
product rotation or price protection to any of our channel partners. We also have licensing arrangements with OEM
customers for which royalty fees are generally recognized as revenue upon receipt of reports of units shipped,
respectively. Provided all other revenue criteria are met, the upfront, minimum, non-refundable license fees from
OEM customers are recognized upon delivery, and on-going royalty fees are recognized upon reports of units shipped.

In our consolidated statements of operations, revenues are categorized as license or maintenance and services
revenues. We allocate revenues from arrangements containing multiple elements to each of these categories based on
the VSOE of fair value for elements in each revenue arrangement and the application of the residual method for
arrangements in which we have established VSOE of fair value for all undelivered elements. In arrangements where
we are not able to establish VSOE of fair value for all undelivered elements, we first allocate revenues to any
undelivered elements for which VSOE of fair value has been established, then allocate revenues to any undelivered
elements for which VSOE of fair value has not been established based upon management's best estimate of fair value
of those undelivered elements and apply a residual method to determine the license fee. Management's best estimate
of fair value of undelivered elements for which VSOE of fair value has not been established is based upon the VSOE
of similar offerings and other objective criteria.

For multiple-element arrangements containing our non-software services, we: (1) determine whether each element
constitutes a separate unit of accounting; (2) determine the fair value of each element using the selling price hierarchy
of VSOE of selling price, third-party evidence (“TPE”) of selling price or best-estimated selling price (“BESP”), as
applicable; and (3) allocate the total price to each separate unit of accounting based on the relative selling price
method. An element constitutes a separate unit of accounting when the delivered item has standalone value and
delivery of the undelivered element is probable and within our control. We determine BESP by considering our
overall pricing objectives and market conditions. Significant pricing practices taken into consideration include our
discounting practices, the size and volume of our transactions, our price lists, our go-to-market strategy, historical
standalone sales and contract prices. As our go-to-market strategies evolve, we may modify our pricing practices in
the future, which could result in changes in relative selling prices, including both VSOE and BESP.

For multiple-element arrangements that contain both software and non-software elements, we allocate revenue to
software or software-related elements as a group and any non-software elements separately based on the selling price
hierarchy. We determine the selling price for each deliverable using VSOE of selling price, if it exists, or TPE of
selling price. If neither VSOE nor TPE of selling price exist for a deliverable, we use BESP. Once revenue is allocated
to software or software-related elements as a group, we recognize revenue in conformance with software revenue
accounting guidance. Revenue is recognized when revenue recognition criteria are met for each element.

In our subscription software services agreements, we include service level commitments to customers relating to
levels of uptime availability and permitting those customers to receive credits in the event that we fail to meet those
levels. To date, we have not incurred any material costs as a result of such commitments and have not accrued any
liabilities related to such obligations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Deferred revenue consists substantially of amounts invoiced in advance of revenue recognition for our products and
services described above. We recognize deferred revenue as revenue only when the revenue recognition criteria are
met.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

We consider all highly liquid instruments with original or remaining maturities of 90 days or less at the date of
purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value. We do
not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes. As of January 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, $374.7 million,
$864.0 million and $250.8 million, respectively, of cash and cash equivalents were invested in money market funds.

Concentration of Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash
and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. We maintain the majority of our cash balance at one financial
institution that
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management believes is a high-credit, quality financial institution and invest our cash equivalents in highly rated
money market funds.

At January 31, 2015 and 2014 no customer represented greater than 10% of total accounts receivable.

Our accounts receivable is subject to collection risks. Our gross accounts receivable is reduced for this risk by an
allowance for doubtful accounts. This allowance is for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to
make required payments. It is an estimate and is regularly evaluated for adequacy by taking into consideration a
combination of factors. We look at factors such as past collection experience, credit quality of the customer, age of the
receivable balance, and current economic conditions. These factors are reviewed to determine whether an allowance
for bad debts should be recorded to reduce the receivable balance to the amount believed to be collectible.

The following table presents the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts (in thousands):
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,

(in thousands) 2015 2014 2013

Balance at beginning of period $758 $821 $557
Add: bad debt expense — 140 286
Less: write-offs, net of recoveries (285 ) (203 ) (22 )
Balance at end of period $473 $758 $821

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We measure our cash equivalents and investments at fair value. The additional disclosures regarding our fair value
measurements are included in Note 2 “Investments and Fair Value Measurements”.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets, Long-Lived Assets and Impairment Assessments

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are carried at cost and are evaluated annually for impairment, or more
frequently if circumstances exist that indicate that impairment may exist. When conducting our annual goodwill
impairment assessment, we perform a quantitative evaluation of whether goodwill is impaired using the two-step
impairment test. The first step is comparing the fair value of our reporting unit to its carrying value. We consider the
enterprise to be the reporting unit for this analysis. If step one indicates that impairment potentially exists, the second
step is performed to measure the amount of impairment, if any. We record the amount by which the carrying value of
the goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, if any, as impairment.

Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives. Each period we evaluate the estimated remaining
useful life of our finite-lived intangible assets and whether events or changes in circumstances warrant a revision to
the remaining period of amortization. The carrying amounts of these assets are periodically reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of these assets is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of each asset to the future
undiscounted cash flows the asset is expected to generate. If the undiscounted cash flows used in the test for
recoverability are less than the carrying amount of these assets then the carrying amount of such assets is reduced to
fair value.

In-process research and development is initially capitalized at fair value as an intangible asset with an indefinite life
and assessed for impairment thereafter. When in-process research and development projects are completed, the
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corresponding amount is reclassified as an amortizable intangible asset and is amortized over the asset's estimated
useful life.

We evaluate the recoverability of our long-lived assets including intangible and tangible assets. Acquired finite-lived
intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives. We evaluate long-lived assets for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. We recognize
such impairment in the event the net book value of such assets exceeds their fair value. If the fair value of the
long-lived assets exceeds the carrying value of the net assets assigned, then the assets are not impaired and no further
testing is performed. If the carrying value of the net assets assigned exceeds the fair value of the assets, then we must
perform the second step of the impairment test in order to determine the implied fair value. During fiscal 2014, we
recognized a $2.1 million impairment charge of a long-lived asset for previously capitalized Storm software
development costs as a result of our decision to make Splunk Storm available to customers at no cost.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from generally three to five years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life or the remaining lease term. When assets are
retired or disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gains
or losses are included in the consolidated statements of operations. Maintenance and repairs that do not improve or
extend the lives of the respective assets are charged to expense in the period incurred.

The following table presents the estimated useful lives of our property and equipment:
Useful Life

Computer equipment and software 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term

Capitalized Software Development Costs

Capitalization of software development costs for software to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketed begins upon the
establishment of technological feasibility, which is generally the completion of a working prototype that has been
certified as having no critical bugs and is a release candidate. Amortization begins once the software is ready for its
intended use, generally based on the pattern in which the economic benefits will be consumed. We did not capitalize
any internal software development costs for fiscal 2015 and 2014 because the cost incurred and the time between
technological feasibility and product release was insignificant. For fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, total amortization
expense was $0, $0 and $0.1 million respectively, from capitalized purchased technology of $0.5 million in December
2010.

Costs related to software acquired, developed or modified solely to meet our internal requirements, with no
substantive plans to market such software at the time of development, are capitalized. Costs incurred during the
preliminary planning and evaluation stage of the project and during post implementation operational stage are
expensed as incurred. Costs incurred during the application development stage of the project are capitalized. We
define the design, configuration, and coding process as the application development stage. We did not capitalize any
costs related to computer software developed for internal use in fiscal 2015 or 2014. During the third quarter of fiscal
2014, we recognized a $2.1 million impairment charge for the remaining balance of the previously capitalized Storm
software development costs as a result of our decision to make Splunk Storm available to customers at no cost.

Commissions
Commissions are recorded as a component of sales and marketing expenses and consist of the variable compensation
paid to our sales force. Sales commissions are earned and recorded at the time that a customer has entered into a
binding purchase agreement. Commissions paid to sales personnel are recoverable only in the case that we cannot
collect the invoiced amounts associated with a sales order. Commission expense was $61.0 million, $54.0 million and
$26.9 million for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013 respectively.
Leases
We primarily lease our facilities under operating leases. For leases that contain rent escalation or rent concession
provisions, we record the total rent expense during the lease term on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
We record the difference between the rent paid and the straight-line rent expense as a current and non-current deferred
rent liability in Accrued expenses and other liabilities and Other liabilities, non-current, respectively, on the

Edgar Filing: SPLUNK INC - Form 10-K

123



consolidated balance sheets. Rent expense was $10.5 million, $6.4 million and $3.9 million during fiscal 2015, 2014
and 2013, respectively.
Advertising Expense
We expense advertising costs as incurred. We incurred $8.4 million, $6.3 million and $6.0 million in advertising
expenses for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Advertising costs are recorded in Sales and marketing expenses
in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Stock-Based Compensation
We recognize compensation expense for all share-based payment awards, including stock options and restricted stock,
based on the estimated fair value of the award on the grant date in the consolidated statements of operations over the
related vesting periods. The expense recorded is based on awards ultimately expected to vest and therefore is reduced
by estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods
if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. We calculate the fair value of options using the Black-Scholes method
and expense using the straight-line attribution approach.

We account for equity awards issued to non-employees, such as consultants, in accordance with the guidance relating
to equity instruments that are issued to other than employees for acquiring, or in conjunction with selling, goods or
services, using the Black-Scholes method to determine the fair value of such instruments. Awards granted to
non-employees are remeasured over the vesting period, and the resulting value is recorded as an expense over the
period the services are received.
The fair value of each option grant and stock purchase right granted under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)
was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. We recognize stock-based
compensation expense related to our ESPP on a straight-line basis over the offering period, which is twelve months.
Stock-based compensation expense is recognized net of estimated forfeiture activity.

The determination of the grant date fair value of options using an option-pricing model is affected by assumptions
regarding a number of other complex and subjective variables, which include our expected stock price volatility over
the expected term of the options, stock option exercise and cancellation behaviors, risk-free interest rates and expected
dividends.

Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method in accordance with authoritative guidance for
income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
basis and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in
the period that includes the enactment date.

The adoption of the guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes as set forth under ASC 740 Income Taxes
requires us to identify, evaluate and measure all uncertain tax positions taken or to be taken on tax returns and to
record liabilities for the amount of these positions that may not be sustained, or may only partially be sustained, upon
examination by the relevant taxing authorities. Although we believe that our estimates and judgments were
reasonable, actual results may differ from these estimates. Some or all of these judgments are subject to review by the
taxing authorities.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606), which supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in Accounting Standards Codification
605, Revenue Recognition. This ASU is based on the principle that revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. The ASU also requires additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and
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changes in judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to obtain or fulfill a contract. The effective date will
be the first quarter of fiscal year 2018 using one of two retrospective application methods. We have not yet selected a
transition method and we are currently evaluating the effect that the updated standard will have on our consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures.

(2) Investments and Fair Value Measurements

The carrying amounts of certain of our financial instruments including cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities.

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the financial statements are categorized based upon the level of
judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. Hierarchical levels that are directly related to the
amount of subjectivity associated with the inputs to the valuation of these assets or liabilities are as follows:
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Level 1—Observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices
in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value
of the assets or liabilities.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value
measurement in its entirety requires management to make judgments and consider factors specific to the asset or
liability.

The following table sets forth the fair value of our financial assets and liabilities that were measured on a recurring
basis as of January 31, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands):

January 31, 2015 January 31, 2014
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Money market
funds $374,682 $— $— $374,682 $864,012 $— $— $864,012

U.S. treasury
securities — 627,931 — 627,931 — — — —

Reported as:
Assets:
Cash and cash
equivalents $374,682 $864,012

Investments,
current portion 462,849 —

Investments,
non-current 165,082 —

Total $1,002,613 $864,012

Our investments in money market funds are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Our money market funds are
targeted to be priced and have a net asset value of $1 per share. These money market funds are actively traded and
reported daily through a variety of sources. The fair value of the money market fund investments are classified as
Level 1.

We invested in U.S. treasury securities during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015, which we have classified as
available-for-sale securities. The following table presents our available-for-sale investments as of January 31, 2015 (in
thousands): 

January 31, 2015
Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized
Losses Fair Value

Investments, current portion:
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U.S. treasury securities $462,831 $52 $(34 ) $462,849
Investments, non-current:
U.S. treasury securities 165,098 45 (61 ) 165,082
Total available-for-sale investments $627,929 $97 $(95 ) $627,931

As of January 31, 2015, the following marketable securities were in an unrealized loss position (in thousands):

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total

Fair Value Unrealized
Losses Fair Value Unrealized

Losses Fair Value Unrealized
Losses

U.S. treasury securities $354,592 $(95 ) $— $— $354,592 $(95 )
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As of January 31, 2015, we did not consider any of our investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired.

The contractual maturities of our investments are as follows (in thousands):
January 31,
2015

Due within one year $462,849
Due within one to two years 165,082
Total $627,931

Investments with maturities of less than 12 months from the balance sheet date are classified as current assets, which
are available for use to fund current operations. Investments with maturities greater than 12 months from the balance
sheet date are classified as long-term assets.

(3)  Commitments and Contingencies

Office Lease Commitments

We lease our office spaces under non-cancelable leases with rent expense recognized on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Rent expense was $10.5 million, $6.4 million and $3.9 million for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2015
and 2014 and 2013, respectively.

On April 29, 2014, we entered into an office lease (the "Lease") for approximately 182,000 square feet located at 270
Brannan Street, San Francisco, California (the "Premises"). The Premises will be allocated to approximately 95,000
square feet of rentable space (the "Initial Premises") which we expect to occupy in January 2016 and approximately
87,000 square feet of rentable space (the "Must-Take Premises"), which we expect to occupy one year thereafter. The
Initial Premises and the Must-Take Premises each have a term of 84 months, subject to the completion of certain
pre-occupancy improvements by our landlord. Our total obligation for the base rent is approximately $92.0 million.
On May 13, 2014, we entered into an irrevocable, standby letter of credit with Silicon Valley Bank for $6.0 million to
serve as a security deposit for the Lease.

As a result of our involvement during the construction period, whereby we have certain indemnification obligations
related to the construction, we are considered for accounting purposes only, the owner of the construction project
under build-to-suit lease accounting. We have recorded estimated project construction costs incurred by the landlord
as an asset and a corresponding long term liability in “Property and equipment, net” and “Other liabilities, non-current”
respectively, on our consolidated balance sheets. We will increase the asset and corresponding long term liability as
additional building costs are incurred by the landlord during the construction period. Once the landlord completes the
construction of the Initial Premises, which is estimated to be in January 2016, we will evaluate the Lease in order to
determine whether or not the Lease meets the criteria for “sale-leaseback” treatment.

Future minimum rental payments required under our office lease agreements as of January 31, 2015 are as follows:

Payments Due by Period*

Total Less Than 1
year 1-3 years 3-5 years More Than 5

years
(in thousands)

Office lease obligations $146,444 $10,594 $40,010 $39,961 $55,879
 _________________________
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*We entered into a sublease agreement on November 16, 2012 for a portion of our office space in the United
Kingdom, and the future sublease rental income of $0.8 million has been included as an offset to our future minimum
rental payments.

Legal Proceedings

We are subject to certain routine legal and regulatory proceedings, as well as demands and claims that arise in the
normal course of our business. We make a provision for a liability relating to legal matters when it is both probable
that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These provisions are
reviewed at least
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quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impact of negotiations, estimated settlements, legal rulings, advice of legal
counsel and other information and events pertaining to a particular matter. In our opinion, resolution of any pending
claims (either individually or in the aggregate) is not expected to have a material adverse impact on our consolidated
results of operations, cash flows or financial position, nor is it possible to provide an estimated amount of any such
loss. However, depending on the nature and timing of any such dispute, an unfavorable resolution of a matter could
materially affect our future results of operations or cash flows, or both, in a particular quarter.

Indemnification Arrangements

During the ordinary course of business, we may indemnify, hold harmless and agree to reimburse for losses suffered
or incurred, our customers, vendors, and each of their affiliates for certain intellectual property infringement and other
claims by third parties with respect to our products and services, in connection with our commercial license
arrangements or related to general business dealings with those parties.

As permitted under Delaware law, we have entered into indemnification agreements with our officers, directors and
certain employees, indemnifying them for certain events or occurrences while they serve as our officers or directors or
those of our direct and indirect subsidiaries.

To date, there have not been any costs incurred in connection with such indemnification obligations; therefore, there is
no accrual of such amounts at January 31, 2015.  We are unable to estimate the maximum potential impact of these
indemnifications on our future results of operations.

(4)  Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. These assets are
depreciated and amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Property and equipment
consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of January 31,
2015 2014

Computer equipment and software $28,342 $20,451
Furniture and fixtures 7,707 5,364
Leasehold improvements 10,146 7,128
Construction in progress (1) 29,360 —

75,555 32,943
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (25,181 ) (17,438 )
Property and equipment, net $50,374 $15,505

(1) This relates to the capitalization of construction costs in connection with our build-to-suit lease obligation, where
we are considered the owner of the asset, for accounting purposes only, during the construction period. There is a
corresponding long-term liability for this obligation on our consolidated balance sheets under “Other liabilities,
non-current.” Refer to Note 3 “Commitments and Contingencies” for details.

Depreciation and amortization expense on Property and Equipment, net was $8.0 million, $7.7 million and $4.7
million for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 respectively. Included in depreciation and
amortization expense during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2014 was a $2.1 million impairment charge of a
long-lived asset for previously capitalized Storm software development costs as a result of our decision to make Storm
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available to customers at no cost.

(5)  Acquisitions, Goodwill and Intangible Assets

BugSense 

On September 25, 2013, we acquired BugSense, a privately-held Delaware corporation, which developed and offered
as a service an analytics solution for machine data generated by mobile devices. This acquisition has been accounted
for as a business combination. The purchase price of $9.0 million paid in cash was allocated as follows: $4.7 million
to identifiable
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intangible assets, $0.7 million to net deferred tax liability recorded and $0.7 million to net liabilities assumed, and the
excess $5.7 million of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired was recorded as goodwill allocated
to our one operating segment. Goodwill is primarily attributable to our ability to further improve the overall
performance of our mobile data gathering capabilities, expand our visibility into machine data generated by mobile
devices and the value of acquired personnel. This goodwill is not deductible for U.S. income tax purposes. Pro forma
results of operations of the acquired business have not been presented, as we do not consider the results to have a
material effect on any of the periods presented in our consolidated statements of operations.

The following table sets forth the components of identifiable intangible assets acquired and their estimated useful lives
as of the date of acquisition (in thousands, except Useful Life):

Fair value Useful Life
(months)

Developed technology $2,940 36
Customer relationships 1,460 36
Other acquired intangible assets 330 24
Total intangible assets subject to amortization $4,730

Cloudmeter

On December 6, 2013, we acquired Cloudmeter, a privately-held Delaware corporation, which developed technology
that enables users to capture machine data directly from network traffic. This acquisition has been accounted for as a
business combination. The purchase price of $21.0 million paid in cash was allocated as follows: $8.5 million to
identifiable intangible assets, $0.6 million to net deferred tax liability recorded and $0.2 million to net liabilities
assumed, and the excess $13.3 million of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired was recorded as
goodwill allocated to our one operating segment. Goodwill is primarily attributable to enhancing the ability of our
customers to analyze machine data directly from their networks and correlate it with other machine-generated data to
gain insights across our core use cases in application and infrastructure management, IT operations, security and
business analytics. This goodwill is not deductible for U.S. income tax purposes. Pro forma results of operations of the
acquired business have not been presented as we do not consider the results to have a material effect on any of the
periods presented in our consolidated statements of operations.

The following table sets forth the components of identifiable intangible assets acquired and their estimated useful lives
as of the date of acquisition (in thousands, except Useful Life):

Fair value Useful Life
(months)

Developed technology $7,330 48
In-process research and development 500 Indefinite
Customer relationships 160 36
Other acquired intangible assets 480 24-36
Total intangible assets subject to amortization $8,470

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets subject to amortization realized from acquisitions as of January 31, 2015 are as follows
(in thousands, except Useful Life):
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Gross Fair
Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Useful Life
(months)

Developed technology $12,770 $(3,653 ) $9,117 31
Customer relationships 1,620 (711 ) 909 20
Other acquired intangible assets 810 (420 ) 390 17
Total intangible assets subject to amortization $15,200 $(4,784 ) $10,416

Additionally, we recognized $0.5 million in expense related to the change in net realizable value of in-process
research and development obtained upon the acquisition of Cloudmeter during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015.

The expected future amortization expense for acquired intangible assets as of January 31, 2015 is as follows (in
thousands):
Fiscal Period:
Fiscal 2016 $4,462
Fiscal 2017 3,802
Fiscal 2018 2,152
Total amortization expense $10,416

(6)  Debt Financing Facilities

On May 9, 2013 we entered into a Loan Agreement with Silicon Valley Bank. The agreement provides for a revolving
line of credit facility, which expires May 9, 2015. Under the agreement, we are able to borrow up to $25 million.
Interest on any drawdown under the revolving line of credit accrues either at the prime rate (3.25% in January 2015)
or the LIBOR rate plus 2.75%. As of January 31, 2015, we had no balance outstanding under this agreement. The
agreement includes restrictive covenants, in each case subject to certain exceptions, that limit our ability to: sell or
otherwise dispose of our business or property; change our business, liquidate or dissolve or undergo a change in
control; enter into mergers, consolidations and acquisitions; incur indebtedness; create liens; pay dividends or make
distributions; make investments; enter into material transactions with affiliates; pay any subordinated debt or amend
certain terms thereof; or become an investment company. We were in compliance with all covenants as of January 31,
2015.

(7)  Stockholder's Equity

Common Stock

Our certificate of incorporation, as amended and restated, authorizes us to issue 1,000,000,000 shares of common
stock, $0.001 par value per share. At January 31, 2015 and January 31, 2014, 123,538,492 shares and 116,099,516
shares of common stock were issued and outstanding, respectively.

Early Exercise of Employee Options

Stock options granted under our stock option plan provide certain employee option holders the right to exercise
unvested options for shares of restricted common stock. Shares of restricted common stock, in the amounts of 18,750
and 56,250 at January 31, 2015 and January 31, 2014, respectively, were subject to a repurchase right held by us at the
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original issuance price in the event the optionees’ employment is terminated either voluntarily or involuntarily. For
early exercises of employee options, this repurchase right generally lapses as to 1/4th of the shares subject to the
option on the first anniversary of the vesting start date and as to 1/48th of the shares monthly thereafter.

These repurchase terms are considered to be a forfeiture provision and do not result in variable accounting. The
restricted shares issued upon early exercise of stock options are legally issued and outstanding. However, these
restricted shares are only deemed outstanding for basic earnings per share computation purposes upon the respective
repurchase rights lapsing. We treat cash received from employees for the exercise of unvested options as a refundable
deposit shown as a liability on our consolidated balance sheets.

Convertible Preferred Stock
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Upon the closing of our IPO, all outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock were converted into shares of
common stock. Warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock were converted into warrants to purchase common
stock.

Warrants to Purchase Convertible Preferred Stock

Prior to the closing of our IPO, we remeasured the fair value of the preferred stock warrants at each balance sheet
date. The fair value of the outstanding warrants was classified within non-current liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets, and any changes in fair value were recognized as a component of Other income (expense), net in our
consolidated statements of operations. We performed the final remeasurement of the warrants at the closing date of
our IPO and recorded an expense of $14.1 million arising from the revaluation during the three months ended
April 30, 2012.

(8)  Stock Compensation Plans

Equity Incentive Plans

In November 2003, our board adopted the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2003 Plan”). The 2003 Plan authorizes the
granting of common stock options and restricted stock awards to employees, directors and consultants.

In January 2012, our board approved the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”), which became effective upon
the effectiveness of our IPO registration statement on Form S-1, on April 18, 2012. The 2012 Plan provides for the
grant of incentive stock options, within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code, to our employees
and any parent and subsidiary corporations’ employees, and for the grant of nonstatutory stock options, restricted
stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), stock appreciation rights, performance units and performance shares to our
employees, directors and consultants and any parent or subsidiary corporations’ employees and consultants. Upon the
effectiveness of our IPO registration statement on Form S-1, all shares that were reserved but not issued under the
2003 Plan became available for issuance under the 2012 Plan and no further shares will be granted pursuant to the
2003 Plan. Canceled or forfeited equity awards under the 2003 Plan will also become available for issuance under the
2012 Plan. The term of an incentive stock option may not exceed 10 years, except that with respect to any participant
who owns more than 10% of the voting power of all classes or our outstanding stock, the term must not exceed 5
years. Options and RSUs generally vest over 4 years.

The 2012 plan provides for annual automatic increases on February 1 to the shares reserved for issuance. The
automatic increase of the number of shares available for issuance under the 2012 Plan is equal to the least of 10
million shares, 5% of the outstanding shares of common stock as of the last day of our immediately preceding fiscal
year or such other amount as our board may determine.

The following table summarizes the stock option and RSU award activity during the fiscal years ended January 31,
2014 and 2015: 
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Options Outstanding RSUs
Outstanding

Available
for Grant Shares

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price
Per Share

Weighted-
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (1)

Shares

(in thousands)
Balances as of January 31,
2013 7,867,788 18,917,547 $4.26

Additional shares authorized 5,046,017
Options granted (5,000 ) 5,000 70.48
Options exercised — (7,254,049 ) 3.27
Options forfeited and expired 574,060 (574,060 ) 6.08
RSUs granted (8,090,820 ) 8,090,820
RSUs vested — (748,880 )
RSUs forfeited 252,959 (252,959 )
Shares withheld related to net
share settlement of RSUs 273,769

Balances as of January 31,
2014 5,918,773 11,094,438 $4.84 6.42 $ 800,933 9,993,688

Additional shares authorized 5,804,975
Options granted (40,000 ) 40,000 88.64
Options exercised — (4,213,746 ) 3.99
Options forfeited and expired 383,837 (383,837 ) 7.17
RSUs granted (6,470,969 ) 6,470,969
RSUs vested — (2,862,027 )
RSUs forfeited and canceled 1,122,262 (1,122,262 )
Balances as of January 31,
2015 6,718,878 6,536,855 $5.76 5.59 $ 301,532 12,480,368

Vested and expected to vest 6,530,710 $5.74 5.59 $ 301,350 12,147,406
Exercisable as of January 31,
2015 4,611,570 $3.60 5.00 $ 221,639

(1) The intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying stock option award
and the closing market price of our common stock as of January 31, 2015.

During fiscal 2014, upon each settlement date of our outstanding RSUs to current employees, RSUs were withheld to
cover the required withholding tax, which was based on the value of the RSU on the settlement date as determined by
the closing price of our common stock on the trading day of the applicable settlement date. The remaining shares were
delivered to the recipient as shares of our common stock. The amount remitted to the tax authorities for the employees'
tax obligation was reflected as a financing activity within our consolidated statements of cash flows. These shares
withheld by us as a result of the net settlement of RSUs were not considered issued and outstanding, thereby reducing
our shares outstanding used to calculate earnings per share. These shares were returned to the reserves and were
available for future issuance under our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.
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During fiscal 2015, we began requiring that employees sell a portion of the shares that they receive upon the vesting
of RSUs in order to cover any required withholding taxes, rather than our previous approach of net share settlement.

During fiscal 2015, $0.8 million in tax benefits have been realized from exercised stock options. At January 31, 2015,
there was a total unrecognized compensation cost of $9.0 million related to these stock options, adjusted for estimated
forfeitures, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.9 years. At January 31, 2015,
there was a total unrecognized compensation cost of $620.3 million related to RSUs, adjusted for estimated
forfeitures, which is expected to be recognized over the next 3.1 years.

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015 was $270.1 million.
The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted was $43.31 per share for the fiscal year ended
January 31, 2015. The weighted-average grant date fair value of RSUs granted was $61.38 per share for the fiscal year
ended January 31, 2015. The aggregate intrinsic value of RSUs vested during the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015
was $172.6 million.
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At January 31, 2014, there was a total unrecognized compensation cost of $19.0 million related to these stock options,
adjusted for estimated forfeitures, which was expected to be recognized over the next 1.7 years. The total intrinsic
value of options exercised during fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013 was $359.3 million and $134.7 million, respectively. The
weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted was $35.86 per share and $7.65 per share for fiscal 2014 and
fiscal 2013, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Our 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) allows eligible employees to purchase shares of our common
stock at a discount through payroll deductions of up to 15% of their eligible compensation, at not less than 85% of the
fair market value, as defined in the ESPP, subject to any plan limitations. The ESPP provides for consecutive
12-month offering periods, starting on the first trading day on or after June 15 and December 15 of each year. The
ESPP provides for an automatic increase of the number of shares available for issuance under the ESPP equal to the
least of 4 million shares, 2% of the outstanding shares of our common stock on the last day of the immediately
preceding fiscal year, or such other amount as may be determined by our board of directors.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense related to our stock-based awards, employee stock purchases and restricted stock
units was allocated as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
(in thousands) 2015 2014 2013
Cost of revenues $17,189 $5,283 $1,217
Research and development 60,777 20,829 6,170
Sales and marketing 90,064 30,012 8,093
General and administrative 46,149 13,244 4,000
Total stock-based compensation expense $214,179 $69,368 $19,480

Valuation Assumptions

We estimated the fair values of each option awarded on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model utilizing the assumptions noted below. The expected term of the options is based on the average period the
stock options are expected to remain outstanding calculated as the midpoint of the options’ vesting terms and
contractual expiration periods, as we do not have sufficient historical information to develop reasonable expectations
about future exercise patterns and post-vesting employment termination behavior. The expected stock price volatility
for our stock was determined by examining the historical volatilities of a group of our industry peers as we do not
have sufficient trading history of our common stock. The risk-free interest rate was calculated using the average of the
published interest rates United States Treasury zero-coupon issues with maturities that approximate the expected term.
The dividend yield assumption is zero as we do not have any history of, nor plans to make, dividend payments.

The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of options granted to employees:

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

Expected volatility 49.4 % 53.3 % 50.0 - 53.2%
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Risk-free rate 1.96 % 1.75 % 0.82 - 1.14%
Dividend yield — — —
Expected term (in years) 6.04 5.97 5.90 - 6.13

Forfeitures were estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures
differed from those estimates. Forfeitures were estimated based on historical experience.

The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of nonemployee options:
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Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

Expected volatility 50.5 - 51.4% 49.8 - 58.0% 49.7 - 51.7%
Risk-free rate 1.85 - 2.43% 1.37 - 2.52% 1.38 - 1.87%
Dividend yield — — —
Expected term (in years) 6.70 - 7.96 7.45 - 9.12 8.05 - 9.35

The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the ESPP:

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

Expected volatility 38.4 - 59.0% 33.9 - 44.4% 42.0 - 49.1%
Risk-free rate 0.07 - 0.22% 0.08 - 0.13% 0.10- 0.19%
Dividend yield — — —
Expected term (in years) 0.50 - 1.00 0.50 - 1.00 0.50 - 1.16

(9)  Geographic Information

Revenue

Revenues by geography are based on the shipping address of the customer. The following tables present our revenues
by geographic region for the periods presented (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

United States $342,728 $234,458 $155,926
International 108,147 68,165 43,018
Total revenues $450,875 $302,623 $198,944

Other than the United States, no other individual country exceeded 10% of total revenues during any of the periods
presented. One channel partner represented 12% of total revenues during fiscal 2015. The revenues from this channel
partner is comprised of a number of customer transactions, none of which were individually greater than 10% of total
revenues during fiscal 2015. No individual customers represented greater than 10% of total revenues during fiscal
2014 or 2013. At January 31, 2015 and 2014, no customer exceeded 10% of total accounts receivable.

Property and Equipment

The following tables present our property and equipment by geographic region for the periods presented (in
thousands):

As of January 31,
2015 2014

United States $47,236 $14,005
International 3,138 1,500
Total property and equipment, net $50,374 $15,505
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Other than the United States, no other individual country exceeded 10% of total property and equipment as of January
31, 2015 or 2014.

(10)  Income Taxes

Loss before income tax expense consists of the following for the periods shown below (in thousands):
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Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

United States $(221,041 ) $(80,900 ) $(37,613 )
International 6,201 1,898 1,645
Total $(214,840 ) $(79,002 ) $(35,968 )

Income tax expense consists of the following for the periods shown below (in thousands):
Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

Current tax provision:
Federal $— $— $—
State 138 178 50
Foreign 2,465 1,202 944
Total current tax provision 2,603 1,380 994
Deferred tax provision:
Federal (170 ) (1,043 ) —
State (14 ) (131 ) —
Foreign (143 ) (200 ) (281 )
Total deferred tax provision (327 ) (1,374 ) (281 )
Total tax provision $2,276 $6 $713

For the fiscal year ended January 31, 2015, our tax provision consisted principally of state taxes in the United States
and foreign taxes from legal entities established in foreign jurisdictions and withholding taxes paid. For the fiscal year
ended January 31, 2014, our tax provision consisted principally of state and foreign income tax expense, offset by a
partial release of valuation allowance on our United States deferred tax asset, as a result of the acquisitions made
during the 2014 fiscal year. For the fiscal year ended January 31, 2013, our tax provision consisted principally of state
and foreign income tax expense.

The reconciliation of federal statutory income tax rate to our effective income tax rate is as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

Expected provision at United States federal statutory rate $(73,635 ) $(26,861 ) $(12,229 )
State income taxes - net of federal benefit (3,914 ) (2,124 ) (375 )
Stock options 9,570 3,300 4,452
Research and development tax credits (6,647 ) (6,309 ) (2,725 )
Tax reserve for uncertain tax positions (10 ) 8 25
Change in valuation allowance 75,910 32,069 11,205
Non-deductible expenses 1,006 866 333
Release of valuation allowance due to acquisitions — (1,173 ) —
Other (4 ) 230 27
Total tax provision $2,276 $6 $713

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
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Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $68,527 $18,979
Accrued liabilities 7,362 4,326
Tax credit carryforwards 22,396 13,314
Stock-based compensation 24,772 12,667
Deferred revenue 14,996 13,003
Valuation allowance (135,655 ) (57,464 )
Total deferred tax assets 2,398 4,825
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization (1,776 ) (4,529 )
Total deferred tax liabilities (1,776 ) (4,529 )
Net deferred taxes 622 296
Recorded as:
Current deferred tax assets 15,017 8,614
Current valuation allowance (14,682 ) (7,920 )
Non-current deferred tax assets 121,260 49,147
Non-current valuation allowance (120,973 ) (49,545 )
Net deferred tax assets $622 $296

On the consolidated balance sheets, these deferred tax assets are included in Prepaid expenses and other current assets
and other assets.

Net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards as of January 31, 2015 are as follows (in thousands):

Amount Expiration years
Net operating loss, federal $821,859 2025-2035
Net operating loss, state 277,082 2016-2035
Tax credit, federal 18,829 2026-2035
Tax credit, state 17,900 N/A

ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes, requires that the tax benefit of net operating losses, temporary differences and credit
carryforwards be recorded as an asset to the extent that we assess that realization is more likely than not. Realization
of the future tax benefits is dependent on our ability to generate sufficient taxable income within the carryforward
period. Due to our history of U.S. operating losses, we believe the recognition of the deferred tax assets arising from
the above mentioned future tax benefits is currently not more likely than not to be realized and, accordingly, have
provided a full valuation allowance against net U.S. deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance totaled $135.7
million, $57.5 million and $24.5 million for fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively.

The gross increase in the valuation allowance was $78.2 million between fiscal 2015 and 2014. At January 31, 2015,
we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $821.9 million and $277.1 million, respectively. The net
operating losses for federal and state purposes begin to expire starting in 2025 and 2016, respectively. Additionally,
we had federal and state research and development tax credit carryforwards of $34.9 million and $20.0 million as of
January 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Our federal tax credits will start to expire in 2026 if not utilized. At January
31, 2015, we also had $1.8 million of California Enterprise Zone credits. The California Enterprise Zone credits will
expire in 2024 if not utilized.
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If certain factors change, we may determine that there is sufficient positive evidence to support a reversal of, or
decrease in, the valuation allowance. If we were to reverse all or some part of our valuation allowance, our
consolidated financial statements in the period of reversal would likely reflect an increase in assets on our balance
sheet and a corresponding tax benefit to our consolidated statements of operations in the amount of the reversal.

Because of certain prior period ownership changes, the utilization of a portion of our United States federal and state
NOL and tax credit carryforwards may be limited.
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The excess tax benefits associated with stock option exercises are recorded to stockholders’ equity only when they
reduce income taxes payable.  As a result, the excess tax benefits are included in the net operating carryforwards,
however, are not reflected in deferred tax assets for fiscal 2015 and 2014. The excess tax benefits for fiscal year 2015
and 2014 are $216.0 million and $144.3 million, respectively. Our policy with regard to providing for income tax
expense when excess tax benefits are utilized is to follow the "with-and-without" approach as described in ASC
740-20 and ASC 718.

As of January 31, 2015, our liability for uncertain tax positions was $8.5 million, of which $0.3 million would, if
recognized, impact our effective tax rate. The remainder will not, if recognized, affect the effective income tax rate
due to the valuation allowance that currently offsets deferred tax assets.

Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
(in thousands) 2015 2014 2013
Balance at beginning of year $4,862 $2,105 $1,056
Increase related to prior year tax positions 889 — —
Decrease related to prior year tax positions (24 ) — (13 )
Increase related to current year tax positions 2,735 2,757 1,062
Settlements with tax authorities — — —
Decrease related to lapse of statute of limitations — — —
Balance at end of year $8,462 $4,862 $2,105

We are required to identify, evaluate and measure all uncertain tax positions taken or to be taken on tax returns and to
record liabilities for the amount of these positions that may not be sustained, or may only partially be sustained, upon
examination by the relevant taxing authorities. Although we believe that our estimates and judgments were
reasonable, actual results may differ from these estimates. Some or all of these judgments are subject to review by the
taxing authorities.

We are subject to income taxes in United States federal and various state and local jurisdictions. Generally, we are no
longer subject to United States federal, state and local tax examinations for tax years ended before January 31, 2011.
However, to the extent allowed by law, the tax authorities may have the right to examine prior periods where net
operating losses or tax credits were generated and carried forward, and make adjustments up to the amount of the net
operating loss or credit carryforward.

We accrue interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. As of
January 31, 2015 and 2014, there was accrued interest and penalties of $94,000 and $99,000, respectively.

We intend either to invest our non-U.S. earnings permanently in foreign operations or to remit these earnings to our
United States entities in a tax-free manner. For this reason, we do not record federal income taxes on the undistributed
earnings of $9.2 million of our foreign subsidiaries. The determination of the amount of deferred taxes on these
earnings is not practicable since the computation would depend on a number of factors that cannot be known unless a
decision is made to repatriate the earnings.

(11)  Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common
stock outstanding during the period, less the weighted-average unvested common stock subject to repurchase or
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forfeiture. Diluted net loss per share is computed by giving effect to all potential shares of common stock, including
preferred stock, stock options, RSUs and warrants, to the extent dilutive.

The following table sets forth the computation of historical basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except
per share data):
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Fiscal Year Ended January 31,
2015 2014 2013

Numerator:
Net loss $(217,116 ) $(79,008 ) $(36,681 )
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding 119,813 105,143 80,465
Less: Weighted-average unvested common shares subject to
repurchase or forfeiture (38 ) (76 ) (219 )

Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share,
basic and diluted 119,775 105,067 80,246

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $(1.81 ) $(0.75 ) $(0.46 )

Since we were in a net loss position for all periods presented, basic net loss per share is the same as diluted net loss
per share for all periods as the inclusion of all potentially dilutive securities outstanding would have been anti-dilutive.
Potentially dilutive securities that were not included in the diluted per share calculations because they would be
anti-dilutive were as follows:

As of January 31,
2015 2014 2013

Shares subject to outstanding common stock options 6,536,855 11,094,438 18,917,547
Shares subject to outstanding RSUs 12,480,368 9,993,688 2,904,707
Employee stock purchase plan 281,716 56,369 368,848
Total 19,298,939 21,144,495 22,191,102

(12)  Related Party Transactions

Certain members of our board of directors ("Board") serve on the board of directors of and/or are executive officers
of, and, in some cases, are investors in, companies that are customers or vendors of ours. Certain of our executive
officers also serve on the board of directors of companies that are customers or vendors of ours.  We believe the
transactions between these companies and us were carried out on terms that are consistent with similar transactions
with our other similarly situated customers or vendors. We recognized revenue from sales to these companies of $3.1
million, $3.1 million, and $2.0 million for the fiscal years ended January 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. There
were $1.8 million in accounts receivable due from these companies as of January 31, 2015. There were no accounts
receivable due from these companies as of January 31, 2014. We also recorded $2.0 million, $1.4 million, and $0.9
million in expenses related to purchases from these companies during the fiscal years ended January 31, 2015, 2014
and 2013, respectively. There were no accounts payable to these companies as of January 31, 2015 or January 31,
2014.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of January 31, 2015. The term “disclosure controls and
procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other
procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation,
controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that
it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including
its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of January 31, 2015, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on this
evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of January 31,
2015.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of January 31, 2015 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is
included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation
required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended January 31,
2015 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of
achieving their objectives and are effective at the reasonable assurance level. However, our management does not
expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all
errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must
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reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their
costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include
the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error
or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or
more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls also is based in part
upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of
the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be
detected.
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Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Executive Officers and Directors
Information responsive to this item is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement with respect
to our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year
covered by this annual report on Form 10-K (the "Proxy Statement").

As part of our system of corporate governance, our board of directors has adopted a code of business conduct and
ethics. The code applies to all of our employees, officers (including our principal executive officer, principal financial
officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions), agents and representatives,
including our independent directors and consultants, who are not employees of the Company, with regard to their
Splunk-related activities. Our code of business conduct and ethics is available on our website at
http://investors.splunk.com/governance.cfm. We will post on this section of our website any amendment to our code
of business conduct and ethics, as well as any waivers of our code of business conduct and ethics, that are required to
be disclosed by the rules of the SEC or the NASDAQ Stock Market.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Executive
Compensation” and "Board of Directors and Corporate Governance - Non-Employee Director Compensation" in our
Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management,” and “Executive Compensation - Equity Compensation Plan Information”
in our Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Related Party
Transactions” and “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance - Director Independence” in our Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections entitled “Proposal 2 -
Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Documents filed as part of this report are as follows:

1.Consolidated Financial Statements: Our Consolidated Financial Statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated
Financial Statements” Under Part II, Item 8 of this report.

2.Financial Statement Schedules: Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or
the required information is shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.

3.Exhibits: The documents listed in the Exhibit Index of this report are incorporated by reference or are filed with this
report, in each case as indicated therein (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).
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EXHIBIT

INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 filed with the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on June 13, 2012).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 filed with
the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 15, 2014).

4.1 Specimen common stock certificate of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 filed
with the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 6, 2012).

10.1#
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and its directors and officers
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form
S-1 filed on January 12, 2012).

10.2#
2003 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and Forms of Stock Option Agreement under 2003 Equity
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Registrant's Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on January 12, 2012).

10.3# 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 6, 2012).

10.4# 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed with the
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 6, 2012).

10.5
Office Lease, dated as of March 6, 2008, as amended, between Brannan Propco, LLC and the
Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 filed with the Registrant's Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on January 12, 2012).

10.6
First Amendment to Office Lease, dated as of June 10, 2011, between Kilroy Realty, L.P. and the
Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 filed with the Registrant's Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on January 12, 2012).

10.7
Second Amendment to Office Lease, dated as of November 20, 2012, between Kilroy Realty, L.P.
and Splunk Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Company's Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on November 26, 2012).

10.8
Office Lease, dated as of April 29, 2014, between 270 Brannan Street, LLC and the Registrant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on June 9, 2014).

10.9#
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Employment Offer Letter between the Registrant and Godfrey R. Sullivan, dated as of January 11,
2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 filed with the Registrant's Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed on January 12, 2012).

10.10#
Employment Offer Letter between the Registrant and David F. Conte, dated as of January 11, 2012
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 filed with the Registrant's Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed on February 17, 2012).

10.11# Employment Offer Letter between the Registrant and Steven R. Sommer, dated as of January 19,
2012.
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10.12#
Employment Offer Letter between the Registrant and Leonard R. Stein, dated as of January 11, 2012
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 filed with the Registrant's Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed on February 17, 2012).

10.13#
Employment Offer Letter between the Registrant and Thomas E. Schodorf, dated as of January 9,
2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 filed with the Registrant's Registration Statement on
Form S-1 filed on January 12, 2012).

10.14#
Employment Offer Letter between the Registrant and Guido Schroeder, dated as of March 23, 2012
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed with the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on June 13, 2012).

10.15#
Employment Offer Letter between the Registrant and Doug Merritt, dated as of April 7, 2014
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on June 9, 2014).

10.16# Executive Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 filed with the Registrant's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on April 6, 2012).

10.17# Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 24, 2012).

10.18#
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 24,
2012).

10.19#
Form of Subscription Agreement under the 2012 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 24,
2012).

21.1 List of subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Required Under Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Required Under Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Required Under
Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and 18 U.S.C. §1350.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document
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101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document

101.RE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document

# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on March 31, 2015.

SPLUNK INC.

By: /s/ Godfrey R. Sullivan

Godfrey R. Sullivan
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL THESE PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints Godfrey R. Sullivan and David F. Conte, and each of them, his attorneys-in-fact, each with
full power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each said attorneys-in-fact or his
substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been
signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature Title Date

/s/ Godfrey R. Sullivan Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer (Principal Executive Officer) March 31, 2015

Godfrey R. Sullivan

/s/ David F. Conte Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
and Accounting Officer) March 31, 2015

David F. Conte

/s/ John G. Connors Director March 31, 2015
John G. Connors

/s/ David M. Hornik Director March 31, 2015
David M. Hornik

/s/ Patricia B. Morrison Director March 31, 2015
Patricia B. Morrison

/s/ Thomas M. Neustaetter Director March 31, 2015
Thomas M. Neustaetter

/s/ Graham V. Smith Director March 31, 2015
Graham V. Smith

/s/ Nicholas G. Sturiale Director March 31, 2015
Nicholas G. Sturiale

/s/ Stephen G. Newberry Director March 31, 2015
Stephen G. Newberry

/s/ Mark Carges Director March 31, 2015
Mark Carges

/s/ Amy L. Chang Director March 31, 2015
Amy L. Chang
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